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Financial Highlights

RS2

The following tables are summaries of the Group's results,
assets, liabilities and equity for the past five financial years:

Year ended 31 December

TERBTEBBESBEVREEZERE B
E-BEREOBE:

HENA3MBLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
2022 20214 2020 20195 20184
Results ES RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEEFTR AREFTx ARETRT ARETR AR®ETR
Revenue comprising: WA BLEE 361,377 548,507 441,570 446,236 1,045,414
MLCC business MLCCEH 356,609 444,589 352,236 367,285 1,143,656
Investment and REREHRT
financial services 4,768 103,918 89,334 78,951 (159,011)
Other general trading Ht—HRES - = = = 60,769
Cost of sales SHE A (345,625) (330,316) (290,784) (381,920) (584,723)
Gross profit el 15,752 218,191 150,786 64,316 460,691
(Loss)/Profit for the year KATHEE AES
attributable to owners of FE (518) /78
the Company (63,851) 68,819 (5,767) (125,976) 159,620
Basic (loss)/earnings per share SREX (518) /BF  (86)centsfll  92centsfll  (0.8) centsfll (16.9) cents i 21.4 cents 1ll
As at 31 December
128318
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20225 20214 20204 2019 2018
Assets and liabilities BERER RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFTR ARETT AR®Tx ARETR
Total assets mEE 1,816,697 1,589,542 1,364,869 1,318,648 1,795,968
Total liabilities mas 926,454 641,100 478,337 438,855 802,542
Total equity attributable to KABEBAEM
owners of the Company farER 886,598 939,226 870,683 867,888 987,020

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMERAE
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Corporate Information

KE)EH
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHRS

ANNUAL RESULTS OF 2022

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's overall
revenue amounted to RMB361.4 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 34.1% compared to last year, of
which the gross profit margin of the Multi-layer Ceramic
Capacitors (“MLCC") business decreased to 3.1% in 2022
from 25.7% of last year. The loss attributable to owners
of the Company for the year was approximately RMB68.8
million, as compared to a profit of RMB68.8 million from
last year.

MARKET TREND

In 2022, the global economic recovery was hampered by
geopolitical conflicts, which boosted global inflation. The
fluctuating COVID-19 pandemic also hindered logistics and
transportation, raising material, energy, and transportation
costs and significantly impacting global supply chains.
Against such economic backdrop, the market demand for
consumer electronics had been sluggish for many quarters,
which suppressed the demand for MLCC accordingly.
Meanwhile, many MLCC manufacturers have released their
production capacity. Increased market supply, coupled with
accelerated inventory clearance by distributors, has led to
intense market competition especially in the mid-to-low
end product segments.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMERAE
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 &%
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Despite of low prosperity of the MLCC industry in 2022,
the Group still firmly believes in the future development
of the MLCC industry in the long run. Firstly, the MLCC
industry has entered a downward cycle since the second
half of 2021, and the industry adjustment has now
gradually approached the bottom of the cycle. With
the economic recovery and the gradual clearance of
downstream distributor inventories, the industry prosperity
is expected to rebound again in the future. Secondly, MLCC
is one of the most common basic components and the
cornerstone of the electronics industry. With the vigorous
development of new energy vehicles, rapid penetration
of 5G communication, and continuous popularization
of the Internet of Things technology, the demand for
MLCC will inevitably rise. Thirdly, in the global MLCC
competitive situation, the market share of manufacturers
in Mainland China is still relatively low and the technical
level is relatively weak in general, with a high degree of
external dependence. Facing a complex and changing
international environment, the Chinese government
has increased investment in scientific and technological
innovation, accelerated the construction of a technological
powerhouse, and strived to achieve technological self-
reliance to ensure the stability and safety of the industrial
supply chain. Therefore, there is still broad space for
domestic substitution of MLCC.

The funds managed and invested by the Group mainly
invest in alternative products in Mainland China and
mature overseas markets. The funds valuation is sensitive
to the overall global macroeconomic trend of the market.
In 2022, our overall performance continued to be affected
by the outbreak of COVID-19 and interest rate hikes in
UK and the United States which had a significant impact
on global social economy and livelihood, resulting in a
drastic fluctuation of the financial markets, which posed
certain challenges to this segment operation of the Group.
The global financial markets are expected to bounce
back as the epidemic and inflation are under controlled,
government stimulus measures are implemented and
economic activities could restart.

Chairman’s Statement

EEHRS

R2022FEMICCTTESREGRK B2
RE  AEBDNABREEEFMLCCITEREN
BR-BE MLCCITEB2M21ETHFEA
TTEB BRATERABZEEZESBAOABHERE
o REBELENRLE S FHEKLHEBEFTN
BEEE TESEREEFEEEBXLOFA-HERX
MLCCRRERMNER THZ— HEREFIT
ENEL BEFERSBENER SGEN
ARZEUNMYBBEMFTEE X > MLCCH
BERTBBBEBZ EFA-F=> EE2IKMLCCH
FREP > PEAERENHIBHENARKE
BREMKFERBEHES HIMKBENMRAR
S oHHEMZTENEKRIRIZET  hEBMAN
ARFAFMEA S MEERBEaE BHE
RWRFEERBY UREEXHEEEEEES
2> AIEMICCREBERNEBMRERH -

AEBMEERKRENESTBEREAKNE
RIBIRATHETEERRE B2 EE
HThEERERHCEEZRSEA 12022
FOAEEERREGERFERCOVID-19/Y IR 2
REEMEXE 2 HRHEERE -LEEFELE
AEE BREMTENRINRE BHAER
IERERNAEEF R -—EN R - TRSHEZRIE
REZERBRZIZEZIKER DI ASRE
M [El 5 o
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHRS

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

The Group has been focusing on the MLCC industry for
over 20 years. With long-term technical accumulation,
good market reputation and a stable talent team, the
Group is at the domestic leading level in the fields of
small and ultra-micro size, ultra-thin dielectric with high
specific capacity and high-power RF applications. Facing
the changing market environment, the Group continues
to increase investment in research and development
and accelerates strategic deployment in the industrial
and automotive grade, achieving bulk delivery of certain
industrial and automotive grade products, the technical
level of which are comparable to international leading
MLCC standards. In 2022, Shenzhen Eyang Technology
Development Co., Ltd.* GRS FIERIEERERARAT),
an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, was
rated as national-level SRDI “little giant” enterprise.

In order to seize the opportunity of domestic substitution
and meet the increasing demand of customers, the
Group has established new production bases in Chuzhou
and Dongguan respectively to achieve the relocation
of existing production capacity, moderate expansion of
production capacity and product upgrading. The new plant
in Dongguan is under construction while the new plant
in Chuzhou has been in operation since January 2023.
Although the simultaneous operation of the old and new
plants has exerted pressure on the Group in the short term,
upon the completion and smooth operation of new bases,
the Group will greatly improve its production capacity and
further optimize product mixes, and thus enhance the
industry competitiveness accordingly.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMERAE
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 &%
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Pertaining to the asset management segment, the Group
will strengthen internal management and compliance and
risk management. Meanwhile, we will improve the asset
valuation through active management. In the future, The
Group will maintain a stable team and actively look for new
investment opportunities.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Last year, under the impact of weak downstream demand
and the COVID-19 pandemic, the development of the
Company was affected negatively. However, with the joint
efforts of the directors and colleagues of the Company,
the operating condition of the Company was stable
with an upward momentum. | would like to take this
opportunity to express my gratitude to all of our directors
and colleagues for their efforts and dedication during the
past year. Also, | would like to express my gratitude to all
shareholders, investors and customers for their constant
trust and support. The Group will strive for the sustainable
development of the businesses so as to maximise value for
the shareholders and other stakeholders.

Zhou Chunhua
Chairman
Hong Kong, 31 March 2023

* For identification purpose only

Chairman’s Statement
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BRI wmA D

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the global
economic recovery has been hindered due to geopolitical
conflicts, the resurgence of the COVID-19 pandemic,
and high inflation. These factors have led to a significant
increase in risk and had varying degrees of negative impact
on the Group’s MLCC segment and the investment and
financial services segment.

MLCC

In 2022, due to the impact of the economic environment,
the electronics industry, especially in the consumer
electronics markets such as mobile phones and computers,
experienced a significant decline in end-use demand,
leading to a decrease in demand for MLCC from related
industries. In addition, serveral MLCC manufacturers
expanded their production capacity, increasing market
supply and intensifying competition in the industry.
Following the industry entering a downward cycle in the
second half of 2021, MLCC prices continued to decline in
2022. Given the prevailing conditions, the Group achieved
sales revenue from MLCC of RMB356.6 million for the
year, a decrease of 19.8% as compared to 2021. The gross
profit margin of the MLCC segment was 3.1% in 2022
as compared to the gross profit margin of 25.7% for the
same period in 2021.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMERAE
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 &%

EF5OEE
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MLCC
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2022, the MLCC industry was in a downward phase of
the business cycle with market conditions falling below
expectations. However, the Group continued to increase
its investment in research and development to enhance
its core competitiveness. On the one hand, the Group
continued to focus on the traditional consumer grade
market and made continuous improvements, and on the
other hand, it accelerated research and development of
technology and strategic deployment in the industrial
and automotive grade. In 2022, the Group had achieved
significant breakthroughs in high-capacity and mid-high
voltage specifications, and realized bulk delivery. In the
industrial grade microwave high-Q products field, the
Group further expanded the range of specifications on
the basis of existing specifications and had completed
the development of mini-sized specifications and client
authentication. In the automotive-grade field, the Group
completed the validation for various specifications and
achieved bulk delivery.

Currently, the Group has production bases in Chuzhou and
Dongguan. Although the market faces certain challenges in
the short run, the Group remains optimistic about the long-
term development of the MLCC industry, and is therefore
accelerating the construction of new base upgrading and
transforming the production environment and facilities,
and moderately expanding production capacity. During the
reporting period, the new base in Chuzhou had its first-
phase plant construction and equipment procurement
completed. As the existing equipment was being relocated
to the new base successively, the existing Chuzhou plant
gradually reduced its output in the second half of the year.
With the transition of production from the old base to
the new base, the costs and expenses of the Group also
increased in the short term. Meanwhile, the construction
of the new base in Dongguan has commenced in the
second half of 2022 and the project has been progressing
smoothly.

BIEE W E‘zﬁ#ﬁ

20225 MLCCATE BN BE T TMEER » BER T 15
SREAKRTERR BRAERFEMAHERA
RABEHZOBRFEN AEBR—FEETERN
HEREFEEFHEE S—HFEMPTER
B IR AR BB M b S B BR B0 8 - 20225 > K
EETEE " TEEREE LNEZEBSE RN
WERTERE ; FTERMESQERAEL » K
EEECAERKSERLLE—TIHERKER T
HMEERITHRENELRE , TERRE®R
B AEETR T ZERAYREEHNERE L EIR
2T o

AEBBHEAEMURHRMNARENEER M &
ERARNTEEE—LEHE BAERNAEET
M&Cﬁ%%%%ﬁﬁ’lmﬁﬁﬁEMW%ﬁm

o HEERIBMREETUEA R wBERE
ﬁé o REREHARS » BRINFE MR T —HARR
BRURKRERE ARRAEREEEEERE
EaEH BT HFERMN THREL BE - EM
EEMTIZRENEE AEBNRAERE—
ENEMe B AEBHNEEHMEMBEHLE
02F FHEMRTER  BEERIER -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BRI wmA D

Asset Management

As at 31 December 2022, the Group is managing 11
funds, each with a distinct focus. The Group derives asset
management fee income by providing asset management
services to the funds. The capital commitments from their
limited partners are listed in the table below. The Group,
being one of the limited partners, also directly invests into

six of the funds.

Unit: US$ million

EEEE

R2022F12B31H AEBEEI1EES 818
HEEHEAANREEY AEFBERAZSEE
TRHEECSEREMELAEETEBRA &
EHSCABREBAZAZERINTRAN K
EREAHEP—LEREBATEERENRASR
SNERE

B BE%T

Capital Commitment

EHRER
Initial Term Total of  Total from
Fund Name Closing Date  (Year) Investment Focus the Fund”  the Group”
E&R1 MEREA R (EH REER BB KERER
1 Tianli China Opportunities January 2017 6.5 Project fund established for an 116.4 17.5
Fund I L.P investment in Beijing
RAPEI#IEE 2017518 RARIERN—EREEE MR
249 MIEEES
2 Tianli SPC January 2017 Not Applicable Invest in a wide range of assets 98.4 -
including private equity
investments, listed and unlisted
securities, debt securities and
other financial instruments
Tianli SPC 01718 TER REREBEE GELERIE
B EHRIE LS &
BHERHMEMTE
3 Tianli Private Debt Fund L.P. January 2017 7 Invest in a wide range of private 300.0 35.0
debt instruments with regional
focus primarily in developed
countries and China
FHALERERES 2017518 RENSBNREELIR RE
MEFEERFREEEAR LT
4 Tianli Private Debt Capital L.P March 2017 9 Invest predominantly across a 175.0 9.8
wide range of private debt
instruments globally
FHREEREER 2017438 Ig&é%%ﬁ%@%%ﬁﬁl
5  Tianli Global Opportunities March 2017 7+2(1) Invest globally across various 175.0 12.2
Capital LP? sectors and distressed assets
AR BE A 2017438 REREUARTERAREE
6 Tianli Special Situations March 2017 7+2(1)+1(1) Invest predominantly in global 35.0 9.8
Capital L.P. mergers and acquisitions, private
equity or other corporate finance
transactions
RHBER 201743A8 FERBR IO AFRE
FHMEXRMERS

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMERAE

1 2 ANNUAL REPORT 2022 &%



Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEE W E‘zﬁ#ﬁ

Capital Commitment

E#HER
Initial Term Total of  Total from
Fund Name Closing Date  (Year) Investment Focus the Fund”  the Group”
E&R81 MEREA R (EH REER BEER5E rEERER
7 Tianli Public Markets Capital L.P. March 2017 8 Invest predominantly in the 20.0 5.6
secondary market of publicly
traded securities globally
FHARTHER 20174348 I@% ERERTAMEN LS
8  Tianli M&A Investment L.P. March 2017 7 Invest predominantly in global 120.0 -
mergers and acquisitions or
other corporate finance related
investments \ _
FHHBRERES 2017438 TEREENHBAEMEER
BRRE
9  Tianli China Opportunities April 2017 7 Project fund established for an 80.4 -
Fund Il L.P. investment in Shanghai
RAPEERES "% 2017%4R8 MR EEN—EREBEMR
NWEEESE
10 Tianli UK Opportunities March 2017 7 Invest predominantly in projects 150.4 =
Fund L.P. located in the United Kingdom
RFREHBEES 2017438 FERENUREENIEE
11 Tianli US Opportunities Fund L.P. May 2017 7 Invest predominantly in projects 12.6 -
located in the United States
KRAEERBEES 2017%5H8 FERBERUNERNER
Notes. Bt -

Extension upon recommendation of the general partner with
approval of the investment committee

Formerly known as Tianli Real Estate Capital L.P.

Extension upon recommendation of the general partner with
approval of the advisory committee

Including cross holdings among the funds

Including direct capital

! KEBTBAEZZRREZESGHERILER

2 ABRAEHEE A

2 KEBETRARZRBMEZE GHIERIER

& BEEEZ BN ER

o BEERES

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZREMARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 %%
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BRI wmA D

As at 31 December 2022, the total capital commitment of
the above funds (after eliminating the cross-holding effect)
was approximately US$647.8 million, among which the
Group had committed approximately US$89.9 million with
US$75.8 million capital invested. During the year 2022,
the six funds that the Group has invested resulted in a net
loss of RMB33.8 million to the Group’s financial results, in
addition to the asset management fee income of RMB38.5
million.

Unit: US$ million

7R20224F12831H » Lt ESREAEEARAERE (K
EIHRRIFREER) 5647 8EEETT HHP
AEBMNAEERNAIIEBET EFTER
BEEAAISSEBEET - N0202EE BREEE
BERAARKISSEETIN REERMKREN
NEESENAEBR Y MEEEFHERBARK
33.8E8Te

EVi=]--F S

Product
Em
Common Preferred Invested
Fund name Country/region Debt equity equity amount
BEERiE BxR/ & L il B RETHR
Tianli China Opportunities PRC - 107.7 - 107.7
Fund I L.P
RA BB EE—5% aalE
Tianli Private Debt Fund L.P. Australia - - 17.6 17.6
XMW EEEES M
Korea 5.8 = T 5.5
2
UK 17.3 - - 17.3
S
Tianli M&A Investment L.P Hong Kong 56.4 = = 56.4
XHHERERES )
Tianli Private Debt Capital L.P Cayman Islands 32.1 - - 32.1
RAIFEEEER HEHE
Tianli China Opportunities Fund Il L.P. PRC - 66.9 - 66.9
RA BB EE 5 ]
Tianli UK Opportunities Fund L.P. UK = 134.0 24.1 158.1
KM REHBRES ESE]
Tianli US Opportunities Fund L.P. us - 15.5 - 15.5
A EEHBREES ESE|
Total 45 111.3 3241 41.7 4771
14 XI,:IAI\II\IJIA {lSELgdg?gong%lég LIMITED RFIZREMERAR



Management Discussion and Analysis

Consistent with prior periods, the investments made by
these funds were in six countries or regions, including
Australia, Hong Kong, Korea, PRC, UK and the US, and
these investments were in the form of debt, common
equity or preferred equity.

Investment

Following the investment strategy from previous periods,
the Group continues to hold two passive financial
investments, including one equity investment (classified as
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income on the face of consolidated statement of financial
position), and one investment in an associate (classified
as interest in an associate on the face of consolidated
statement of financial position). On 13 May 2022, the
equity investment bought the share back with the cash
consideration of approximately US$2.0 million (equivalent
to approximately RMB13.2 million). The equity investment
was fully redeemed through the share repurchase by a
non wholly owned subsidiary on 28 June 2022 which
resulted in a net cash flow of approximately US$1.9 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB12.6 million) in aggregate
from investment activities since the investment.

The investment in an associate refers to a private equity
fund established in Korea, which is 29.98% held by a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, a licensed
comprehensive asset management company in Korea. The
interests in an associate is accounted for by the Group in
the consolidated financial statements using equity method.
Logan Pass Private Equity Fund ceased to be an associate of
the Group upon its dissolution on 19 May 2022.
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BRI wmA D

BUSINESS PROSPECTS

MLCC is one of the most widely used and rapidly
developing chip electronic components, which is widely
applied in consumer electronics, communications,
automotive electronics and other fields. High-end capacitor
and resistance are also one of the “bottleneck” technology
projects in China. Against the backdrop of China’s
accelerated efforts to construct a technology powerhouse
and achieve technological self-reliance, the progress of
domestic substitution for MLCCs has become increasingly
clear.

Despite of a difficult time in 2022 due to the
macroeconomic environment, the MLCC market expects
a sound development momentum in the long run and
market demands for 5G, automotive electronics, and the
Internet of Things are expected to continue to grow. With
the recovery of downstream demands and the destocking
of distributors, the MLCC industry is expected to resume
normal inventory level, and industrial and automotive-
grade products will drive future revenue growth. With
an aim of satisfying customers’ demands, the Group
will continue to invest in research and development,
equipment, environmental protection, automation and
informatization and enhance its core competency. In
the past, the Group was known for its small-and-micro
sized MLCC, while in recent years, through continuous
investment in research and development, the Group has
not only achieved technological breakthroughs in miniature
and high-capacitance products, but also successively
broadened the medium-and large-sized product portfolio
with high-capacitance, high-Q, high-temperature and
high-voltage characteristics, especially those that meet
reliability requirements of industrial and automotive grades.
The Group will continue to explore new markets, actively
promote internationalization strategy and expand its
market share, and provide customers with better products
and services through relentless innovation and excellent
quality.

In respect of investment and financial services, the
Group will reinforce the post-investment monitoring and
management of existing projects in its fund operation, take
various measures to prevent and mitigate potential risks,
through enhancing risk-control measures and reducing risk
exposure based on the terms of the existing agreements
in order to safeguard the interests of fund investors.
With most of its efforts directed towards the subsequent
management of existing projects, the Group will also start
developing new business when appropriate, exploring
value-added opportunities for investors in stable and
reliable investment projects.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s
revenue was derived from (i) MLCC segment; and (ii)
investment and financial services segment. Total revenue
of the Group was RMB361.4 million, which represented
a decrease of RMB187.1 million, or 34.1%, as compared
to that for the year ended 31 December 2021. Revenue
from the MLCC segment for the year ended 31 December
2022 was RMB356.6 million, representing a decrease
of RMB88.0 million, or 19.8% from the year ended 31
December 2021, which was due to weakening market
circumstances in the industry. Revenue from the investment
and financial services segment for the year ended 31
December 2022 was RMB4.8 million. Among this, the asset
management fee income was RMB38.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 which represented a decrease
of RMB10.3 million, or 21.1%, as compared to that for
the year ended 31 December 2021. And the Group's net
loss from financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL"), which recorded RMB33.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 as compared to a profit of
RMB55.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Gross Profit Margin

Aggregate gross profit margin for the year ended 31
December 2022 was 4.4%, representing a decrease of
35.4 percentage points as compared to the year ended 31
December 2021.

Specially, the gross profit margin of the MLCC segment
decreased from 25.7% for the year ended 31 December
2021 to 3.1% for the year ended 31 December 2022. This
was due to the decline in market demand and the release
of production capacity by competitors, resulting in intense
competition and price reduction for conventional products.
Meanwhile, in response to the changes in the market
environment and the relocation of plants, the Group had
exercised a certain level of production control in the second
half of 2022, leading to an increase in average cost.
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BRI wmA D

Other Income

The Group’s other income amounted to RMB13.9 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022, representing a
decrease of 27.0% from the year ended 31 December
2021. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease of
government grant amounted to RMB2.7 million and release
of government grants as income amounted to RMB3.0
million.

Selling and Distribution Costs

The Group’s selling and distribution costs totalled RMB17.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2022, and this was
a decrease of 19.6% from the year ended 31 December
2021. This was mainly due to a decrease in sales level of
MLCC segment leading to a corresponding reduction in
relevant sales expenses.

Administrative Expenses

The Group's administrative expenses for the year ended
31 December 2022 were RMB87.0 million, representing
a decrease of RMB10.3 million from the year ended 31
December 2021. The decrease was mainly attributable to
the decrease in staff cost in the MLCC segment for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Research and Development Costs

The Group incurred research and development costs of
RMB56.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2022,
representing an increase of RMB11.2 million from the
year ended 31 December 2021. The increase was mainly
due to the Group’s continuous efforts in research and
development of new products and technologies during the
year.

Finance Costs

The Group's finance costs amounted to RMB24.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022 representing
an increase of RMB2.1 million from the year ended 31
December 2021. The increase was mainly due to the
additional drawdown of bank and other loans in 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Property, Plant and Equipment

The net book values of the Group's property, plant and
equipment were RMB752.0 million as at 31 December
2022, increased by RMB271.0 million from the balance as
at 31 December 2021. The increase was mainly due to the
additions to plant and machinery used in production of
MLCC.

Investment Properties

The Group's investment property was carried at RMB24.9
million as at 31 December 2022, comparable to the
carrying value of RMB20.9 million as at 31 December
2021. The increase is mainly due to the reclassification of
properties amounted to RMB4.0 million in 2022.

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's financial assets at
FVPL had a carrying value of RMB412.1 million, which was
an increase of 0.7% from the balance as at 31 December
2021 which was classified as financial assets designated at
FVPL. This was mainly due to a fair value loss of RMB33.7
million and net off the effect of depreciation in exchange
rate in Renminbi for the US dollar based financial assets.

Accounts and Bills Receivables

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's accounts and bills
receivables amounted to RMB261.6 million, an increase
of RMB70.6 million from the balance as at 31 December
2021. The increase was mainly due to an increase in
discounted bills receivables which was not matured at the
reporting date.

Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables
As at 31 December 2022, prepayments, deposits and other
receivables in current assets amounted to RMB53.7 million,
representing an increase of RMB6.2 million as compared
to the balance as at 31 December 2021. The increase was
mainly due to the increase in other tax receivables.
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Cash and Bank Balances and Pledged Bank Deposits
As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s cash and bank
balances totalled RMB62.5 million, decreased by RMBO0.4
million from 31 December 2021. There was no material
change since 31 December 2021.

Trade and Bills Payables

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s trade and bills
payables amounted to RMB60.8 million, a decrease of
RMB8.2 million from 31 December 2021. The decrease was
mainly due to the decrease in MLCC production during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

Deferred Income, Accruals and Other Payables

As at 31 December 2022, total deferred income, accruals
and other payables amounted to RMB115.0 million, which
was an increase of RMB3.7 million from 31 December
2021. The increase was mainly due to the increase in other
payables from acquisition of production equipment in
2022.

Bank and Other Loans

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's bank and other
loans was carrying RMB696.7 million, which represented
an increase of RMB305.7 million from RMB391.0 million as
at 31 December 2021. The increase was mainly due to the
additional drawdown of the bank and other loans.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities (31 December 2021: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had capital
commitments of RMB366.6 million (31 December 2021:
RMB256.8 million), including undrawn commitment to
Tianli Private Debt Fund L.P. of approximately US$13.2
million, or RMB91.3 million (31 December 2021: US$13.2
million or RMB83.5 million), Tianli China Opportunities
Fund | L.P of approximately US$1.2 million, or RMB8.7
million (31 December 2021: US$1.2 million or RMB7.9
million) from the investment and financial services segment.
Also, the capital commitment for construction of plant
of approximately RMB220.8 million (31 December 2021:
RMB87.0 million), Nil for acquisition of land use right
(31 December 2021: RMB43.8 million) and additions to
production equipment of approximately RMB45.8 million
(31 December 2021: RMB34.6 million) from the MLCC
segment. The increase was mainly due to the construction
of new factories from the MLCC segment, and the increase
of the capital commitment of the investment and financial
services segment was attributable to the decrease of the
exchange rate of Renminbi. There was no material change
in terms of US dollars for the capital commitment of the
investment and financial services segment.
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Significant Investments

As at 31 December 2022, details of significant investments
(with individual investment value of 5 per cent or more of
the Group's total assets) held by the Group were set out as
follows:

(i)

Investment in Tianli China Opportunities Fund |
L.P. (“REI")

The Group recorded investment in REl as “financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss”. REl is a
project fund established for a property investment in
Beijing. During the year ended 31 December 2022,
unrealised loss of RMB12.5 million on revaluation
of the investment in REI has been recorded by the
Group. No realised gain or loss and dividend have
been received from this investment.
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(i) Investment in Tianli Special Situations Capital (i) RBREXFHEEK
L.P (“S5C”")
The Group recorded investment in SSC as “financial FEBRBEREXNNIEBERUTBRAF
assets at fair value through profit or loss”. SSC Bt ABTZHNEMEE AR XA #
invests predominantly in global mergers and BEATERENREIKHE LERRE
acquisitions, private equity or other corporate REMEPEMERZ B E2022F128
finance transactions. During the year ended 31 BSTHEFE AEEEREBREXRME
December 2022, unrealised loss of RMB18.7 million BEAEGEXRERGEEARBISTES
on revaluation of the investment in SSC has been o RKRBEURELEERNGDHEER
recorded by the Group. No realised gain or loss and KRR
dividend have been received from this investment.
Carrying
value
to total
Interests Total assets assets of
Nature of investments held Investment cost Carrying value of the Group  the Groug
EREE
CKE
_ » _ _ BEEME
RENLE EaiA REME REE *& ﬁé?&% tEA
AR#ET
(i) Tianli China Opportunities Fund | L.P. 15.04% USD 16,264,000 USD 22,488,000 1,816,697,000 8.6%
(approximately (approximately
. RMB103,081,000) RMB155,882,000)
KAFERBERES % 16,264,000% 7T 22,488 000% 7T
WARE WARE
103,081,0007T) 155,882,0007T)
(ii) Tianli Special Situations Capital L.P. 5.60% USD 9,800,000 USD 26,688,000 1,816,697,000 10.2%
(approximately (approximately
- RMB62,117,000) RMB184,992,000)
RRBBEX 9,800,000% 7T 26,688,000% 7T
(AR (o AR
62,117,0007T) 184,992,0007T)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The above significant investments are in line with the assets
management segment’s strategy. The Group will continue
to consolidate resources, strengthen compliance and risk
management control, and proactively focus on key markets
and projects, thereby improving the value of investment
assets through sophisticated, proactive management.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had net current
assets of approximately RMB113.9 million (31 December
2021: net current liabilities RMB29.1 million), comprising
of current assets of RMB728.7 million (31 December 2021:
RMB549.5 million), net off current liabilities of RMB614.8
million (31 December 2021: RMB578.6 million).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s current ratio was
1.2 (31 December 2021: 1.0). The increase in current ratio
was mainly due to the other loan of RMB313.5 million is
classified as non-current liabilities as at 31 December 2022,
which is extended to be repayable on 12 August 2025.

Capital Expenditure

Capital expenditure incurred by the Group (representing
acquisition and deposit of property, plant and equipment)
for the year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately
RMB360.1 million (2021: RMB167.8 million). The Group
anticipates that the funding required for future capital
expenditure will be principally financed by cash generated
from operations and bank borrowings, although the
Group may consider raising additional funds as and when
appropriate.

Banking Facilities

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had been granted
four new banking facilities of RMB568.0 million in
aggregate, which utilised banking facilities amounted to
RMB132.4 million. A leasehold land and land use right of
the Group with carrying values of approximately RMB56.2
million in aggregate was pledged to a bank to secure
the banking facilities and a guarantee was provided by a
wholly owned subsidiary to the bank in respect of the bank
facilities.
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group had been granted
banking facilities of RMB550.0 million in aggregate,
which utilised banking facilities amounted to RMB364.0
million. A leasehold land, land use right, machinery and
bills receivables of the Group with carrying values of
approximately RMB122.4 million in aggregate was pledged
to a bank to secure the banking facilities and a guarantee
was provided by a wholly owned subsidiary to the bank in
respect of the bank facilities.

Gearing Ratio

The Group monitors its capital structure through gearing
ratio, which is net debt divided by capital plus net debt.
Net debt is calculated at the sum of bank and other loans,
lease liabilities, trade and bills payables and accruals and
other payables (excluding deferred income and receipt in
advance) less cash and cash equivalents. Capital represents
equity attributable to the owners of the Company
(excluding share capital). As at 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2021, the gearing ratios of the Group were
approximately 47.8% and 36.0% respectively. The increase
in gearing ratio was a result of the increase in bank and
other loans during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Financial Resources

With the amount of liquid assets on hand as well as credit
facilities granted by banks, the management is of the view
that the Group has sufficient financial reserves to meet its
ongoing operational requirements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s
revenue was mainly denominated in Renminbi, US dollars
and HK$, whilst its purchases were mainly denominated
in Renminbi, US dollars, HK$ and Japanese Yen. The trade
receivables denominated in US dollars were greater than
the trade payables denominated in US dollars, and the
trade receivables denominated in HK$ were smaller than
the trade payables denominated in HK$. Meanwhile, the
Group is exposed to risks in respect of trade payables
denominated in Japanese Yen, but is basically not exposed
to risks in respect of trade receivables denominated in
Japanese Yen. In the event of vigorous fluctuation of
exchange rates, foreign exchange risk will exist to a certain
extent. The Group will adopt corresponding hedging
measures in relation to its foreign currency exposure,
with a view to providing protection against future foreign
exchange risk.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, leasehold land, land use
right, machinery, and bills receivables of the Group with
carrying amounts of approximately RMB35.6 million (31
December 2021: RMB34.8 million), RMB20.9 million (31
December 2021: RMB21.5 million), RMB15.9 million (31
December 2021: RMB18.4 million), and RMB49.9 million
(31 December 2021: Nil) respectively have been pledged as
securities for bank and other loans facilities.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhou Chunhua, aged 45, joined the Company as
an executive Director in January 2016 and was appointed
as the chairman of the Board of the Company in January
2018. Mr. Zhou was appointed as a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Company in July 2018. He is also a director of
various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Zhou holds a
Master of Business Administration degree in Finance
from Kellogg School of Management at Northwestern
University, a Master of Philosophy degree in System
Dynamics from University of Bergen and a Bachelor of
Science degree in Management Information Systems from
Fudan University. Mr. Zhou had held various executive
positions in a reputable investment bank and had worked
for various international financial institutions and business
organizations. Mr. Zhou has extensive experience in
financial management, investment and corporate finance.

Mr. Pan Tong, aged 51, was appointed as chief executive
officer of the Company and ceased to be chief risk officer
of the Company in April 2019. Mr. Pan is an executive
Director since August 2017. Mr. Pan is also a director
of various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Pan holds a
bachelor’s degree in international finance from Hunan
College of Finance and Economics (currently known as
Hunan University). Mr. Pan had held various executive
positions at several banks and financial institutions in China
with extensive experience in the fields of risk management,
corporate banking and investment.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NO-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus, aged 58, joined the Company
as an independent non-executive Director in April 2007.
Mr. Chu is also the chairman of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Chu holds
a Master of Business Administration degree from The
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Chu is a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Chu is also an associate of both The Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) and The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. He has extensive
experience in corporate finance, audit, accounting and
taxation. Mr. Chu was previously a deputy chairman and
executive director of Chinese People Holdings Company
Limited (stock code: 681) until September 2020, a non-
executive director of Perfect Group International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 3326) until March 2017 and an
executive director of Momentum Financial Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1152) until March 2022, the shares of which
are all listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange™).

Mr. Chu is currently or used to be an independent non-
executive director of the following companies, the
securities of which are listed on the Stock Exchange:

o Mingfa Group (International) Company Limited
(stock code: 846) since November 2016;

o Madison Holdings Group Limited (formerly known
as Madison Wine Holdings Limited) (stock code:
8057) since September 2015;

o Huayu Expressway Group Limited (stock code: 1823)
since May 2009;
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o China First Capital Group Limited (formerly known
as China Vehicle Components Technology Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 1269) since October 2011;

o Hyfusin Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8512)
since December 2021;

o Flyke International Holdings Limited (former stock
code: 1998) until December 2020;

o Xinming China Holdings Limited (stock code: 2699)
until August 2021,

o SuperRobotics Holdings Limited (formerly known
as SuperRobotics Limited) (stock code: 8176) until
November 2021; and

o Peking University Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited (stock code: 618) until October 2022.

Mr. David Tsoi, aged 75, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in August 2017. Mr.
Tsoi is also a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company. Mr. Tsoi obtained a master’s degree in business
administration from the University of East Asia, Macau
(currently known as the University of Macau) in 1986. He
is a certified public accountant registered with the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a chartered
certified accountant registered with the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a chartered
professional accountant and certified general accountant
certified by the Chartered Professional Accountants of
British Columbia, Canada, fellow member of The Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, The
Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors and the CPA
Australia. He is also a certified tax adviser registered with
The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Currently, he is the
managing director of Alliott, Tsoi CPA Limited.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Tsoi is currently an independent non-executive director
of the following companies, the securities of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange:

° Guru Online (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 8121)
since May 2014,

° Green International Holdings Limited (stock code:
2700) since June 2017;

o VPower Group International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1608) since October 2016;

o Universal Technologies Holdings Limited (stock code:
1026) since June 2013;

o Everbright Grand China Assets Limited (stock code:
3699) since December 2017; and

° InvesTech Holdings Limited (stock code: 1087) since
May 2021.

Mr. Xu Xuechuan, aged 60, has been an independent
non-executive Director since July 2015. Mr. Xu is also
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company and a member of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Xu holds a
bachelor’s degree in economics from Peking University in
China, a Master of Arts in Economics degree and a Master
of Science degree in Marketing Research from University
of Guelph, Canada. Mr. Xu has extensive experience in
direct investment and corporate finance. Mr. Xu has held
senior management and consulting positions in various
international enterprises in Canada, Hong Kong and China.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Liao Jie, aged 54, joined the Group in October 2001
and is currently the vice chairman of MLCC segment of the
Group. He is also a director of various subsidiaries of the
Company. He was previously an executive director of the
Company from April 2007 to September 2013. Mr. Liao
is in charge of the strategic planning and development of
MLCC business of the Group. He holds a master's degree
of Engineering specializing in electronic materials and
components from Huazhong University of Science and
Technology.

Mr. Jing Wenping, aged 41, joined the Group in July
2005 and is currently the president of MLCC segment
of the Group. He is also a director of various subsidiaries
of the Company. He was previously an executive director
of the Company from May 2013 to July 2019. Mr. Jing
is in charge of the Group’s MLCC product management,
including development, quality, production and plan. Mr.
Jing holds a master’s degree in business administration from
Peking University HSBC Business School.

Mr. Zhuang Yixin, aged 58, joined the Group in January
2009 and is currently the vice president of MLCC segment
of the Group. He is also a director of various subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Zhuang is in charge of the Group’s
MLCC product daily management in Eastern China as well
as the external relations. He is also responsible for the
construction of the new production base of a subsidiary.
Mr. Zhuang holds a bachelor's degree specializing in
electronic ceramic materials and components from South
China University of Technology.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Tang Yingchun, aged 41, joined the Group in July
2005 and is currently the vice president of the MLCC
segment of the Group. He is also an executive director
and legal representative of a subsidiary of the Company.
Mr. Tang is responsible for the daily production and
operation and the external relations of a subsidiary of
the Company. He is also responsible for the construction
of the new production base of such subsidiary. Mr. Tang
holds a Bachelor of Laws and a Bachelor of Engineering
specializing in inorganic non-metallic materials engineering
from Changchun University of Science and Technology. Mr.
Tang studied business management in Tsinghua Shenzhen
International Graduate School between 2009 and 2011.

Ms. Xue Yuan, aged 42, is currently the vice president
and general manager of the marketing centre of the MLCC
segment of the Group. Ms. Xue is in charge of sales of
MLCC products and market development of the MLCC
segment. She left the Group in March 2007 and rejoined
the Group in March 2020. Ms. Xue holds a Bachelor of
Engineering specializing in measurement and control
technology and instrumentation from Tianjin University
and a Master of Business Administration from University of
Science and Technology of Hong Kong.
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EEERRS

The board (the “Board”) of Directors (the "Directors”)
of the Company recognises that good corporate
governance is vital to the success of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
and the enhancement of shareholders’ value and sustains
development of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining
high standards of corporate governance practices. The
Company has complied with all the applicable code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
throughout the year ended 31 December 2022.

CULTURES AND VALUES

A healthy corporate culture across the Group is integral to
attain its vision and strategy. It is the Board’s role to foster
a corporate culture with the following core principles and
to ensure that the Company’s vision, values and business
strategies are aligned to it.

1. Integrity and code of conduct

The Group strives to maintain high standards of
business ethics and corporate governance across
all our activities and operations. The Directors,
management and staff are all required to act
lawfully, ethically and responsibly, and the required
standards and norms are explicitly set out in the
training materials for all new staff and embedded
in various policies such as the Group’s employee
handbook (including therein the Group’s code
of conduct), the anti-corruption policy and the
whistleblowing policy of the Group. Trainings
are conducted from time to time to reinforce the
required standards in respect of ethics and integrity.
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Corporate Governance Report

2. Commitment

The Group believes that the culture of commitment
to workforce development, workplace safety and
health, diversity, and sustainability is one where
people have a feeling of commitment and emotional
engagement with the Group’s mission. This sets
the tone for a strong, productive workforce that
attracts, develops, and retains the best talent and
produces the highest quality work. Moreover, the
Company’s strategy in the business development
and management are to achieve long-term,
steady and sustainable growth, while having
due considerations from environment, social and
governance aspects.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is primarily responsible for the leadership and
control of the Group, and oversees the overall strategies
and business performance of the Group.

The Board is collectively responsible for the management
and operation of the Company. All Directors are aware
of their collective and individual responsibilities to the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and
have exercised their duties of care, skill and diligence.

The Board is also responsible for monitoring the financial
performance and internal control, overseeing the risk
management system of the Company, performing the
corporate governance duties including developing and
reviewing the Company's policies and practices on
corporate governance.

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility
for implementing day-to-day operations, business strategies
and management of the Group to the executive Directors
and senior management. Besides, the Board has established
three Board committees, namely Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee, and Remuneration Committee,
and has delegated to these Board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference.
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Board Composition

The Board currently comprises five members, consisting
of two executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors. The Board currently has no female
director. The Board would continue to take initiatives to
identify suitable candidates so as to appoint at least one
female Director on the Board no later than 31 December
2024. For details of gender diversity at workforce level,
please refer to the 2022 Environmental, Social and
Governance Report.

The biographies of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Board of Directors and Senior Management” of
this annual report. An updated list of Directors identifying
their roles and functions is maintained on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board
comprised the following Directors and the attendance of
individual members of the Board at various meetings in
2022, as well as the number of such meetings held, are set
out below:
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Number of meetings attended/held during the year (Directors’ tenure)

FRULE/ STNEERY EF2EH

Audit Remuneration  Nomination Annual
Board Committee ~ Committee Committee General
Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
BRZEY HMZEg RA%EEY
) EXgEs g3 gd g2 RRBEAY
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Zhou Chunhua (Chairman) B &ELSE (Z/E) 13/13 = 44 11 i
Mr. Pan Tong BYLE (TH#EH) 1213 - - - 1N
(Chief Executive Officer)
Independent Non-executive fEIIFHITES
Directors
Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus ARELE 13/13 4/4 4/4 1N 17
Mr. David Tsoi BRMERE 13/13 4/4 - - 17
Mr. Xu Xuechuan H"E)1%E 13/13 4/4 4/4 17 71
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The chairman of the Board is Mr. Zhou Chunhua and the
chief executive officer is Mr. Pan Tong. The roles of the
chairman and the chief executive officer are separate and
are not performed by the same individual. Their respective
roles and responsibilities were set out in writing.

The chairman is responsible for overseeing the function of
the Board and formulating overall strategies and policies
of the Company and, with the support of executive
Directors and the company secretary, seeking to ensure
that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at
Board meetings and that they receive, in a timely manner,
adequate and reliable information. The chief executive
officer is responsible for managing the Group’s business
and overall operations. The day-to-day operations of the
Company is delegated to the management with divisional
heads responsible for different aspects of the businesses.

Relationship between Board Members and
Independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors

None of the members of the Board has any relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships) between each other. The
Company has received written annual confirmation
from each independent non-executive Director of his
independence pursuant to the requirements of the Listing
Rules. Independence of each of the independent non-
executive Directors has been assessed and reviewed by
the Nomination Committee and the Board continues to
consider each of them independent in accordance with
the independence guidelines as set out in rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors had been
expressly identified as such in all corporate communications
of the Company that disclose the names of Directors.
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EXERERS

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Subject to the articles of association of the Company, the
Board may from time to time and at any time to appoint
any person to be a Director to fill a casual vacancy or to
supplement the Board. Any Director so appointed shall
hold office only before the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and may be re-elected at that
meeting. At every annual general meeting of the Company,
one-third of the Directors shall retire (or, if their number is
not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less
than one-third), shall retire from office by rotation provided
that each Director (including those appointed for a specific
term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.

When an independent non-executive director proposing
for re-election has served the Company for more than
nine years, and if the proposed independent non-executive
director will be holding his or her seventh (or more) listed
company directorship, his or her re-election will be subject
to a separate resolution to be approved at the annual
general meeting of the Company. The directors who
shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company are set out on page 58 of this
annual report.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
composition of the Board and making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-election of Directors.
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Corporate Governance Function

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be
the collective responsibility of the Directors, which includes
but is not limited to:

(a

to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices in compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and the Directors; and

to review the Company's compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the compliance
with the CG code with support by the Audit Committee.
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Board Meetings

The Board meets at least four times each year or more as
required. Directors may participate in meetings either in
person or through electronic means of communication. At
least 14 days' notice of all reqular Board meetings together
with the meeting agenda is given to all Directors such that
all Directors are given the opportunity to include matters
for discussion in the agenda. All accompanying Board
papers were sent to the Directors in a timely manner and at
least three days before the meetings (or such other period
as agreed). For other meetings, Directors are given as much
notice as reasonable and practicable in the circumstances.
Except for those circumstances permitted by the Articles
of Association and the Listing Rules, a Director would
abstain from voting on resolutions approving any contract,
transaction or arrangement in which he or any of his close
associates is materially interested in, and such Director is
not counted for determining a quorum.

The company secretary assists the Chairman in preparing
the agenda for each meeting and ensures that all
applicable rules and regulations regarding the proceedings
of the Board meetings are followed. The Company
Secretary records all matters considered by the Board,
decisions reached and any concerns raised or dissenting
views expressed by the Directors. Draft minutes are
normally circulated for comment within a reasonable time
after each meeting and the final version is open for the
Directors’ inspection.

Directors at all times have full and timely access to
information of the Group. Directors also have independent
access to senior management for information on the Group
and unrestricted access to the services of the company
secretary. The company secretary advises the Board on
corporate governance matters and board procedures.
Directors can also seek independent professional advice
whenever deemed necessary by them at the expense of the
Company, as appropriate.
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Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed Director is provided with the
necessary induction and information to ensure that he/she
has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations
and businesses as well as his/her responsibilities under the
relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations. From time to
time, the company secretary also provides the Directors
with updates on the latest development and changes in
the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development activities to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. The company secretary updates
and provides training materials relating to the roles,
functions and responsibilities of Directors from time to
time.

The participation by individual Directors in the continuous
professional development program during the year ended
31 December 2022 is recorded in the table below:
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Type of continuous
professional development
FREEZEEE

Read

regulatory

Participated updates or
in seminars/ other relevant

conferences/ reference

webinars materials

BB ERE

SEMHE BEIER

o H 8 RE

Name of Directors P EE i e S2EHN

Executive Directors HITESE

Mr. Zhou Chunhua BEELGE v v

Mr. Pan Tong E A 4 4
Independent Non-executive Directors BILIEMITE

Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus KERFE 4 4

Mr. David Tsoi NS v v

Mr. Xu Xuechuan HE)| 4t v v
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the
code of conduct regulating Directors’ dealings in securities
of the Company. Having made specific enquiry of all the
Directors, all Directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the required standards as set out in Model
Code regarding their securities transactions throughout the
year ended 31 December 2022.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee for overseeing specific aspects
of the Company’s affairs. The Board committees are
accountable to the Board and will report their outcomes,
opinions, findings and recommendations arrived at the
committee meetings to the Board. All Board committees
have been established with defined written terms of
reference which are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company. The Board committee
memberships and the attendance records of each member
of the Board during 2022 is set out on page 34 of this
annual report.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three members, all
of whom are independent non-executive Directors
and at least one member who possesses appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. None of the members of the Audit
Committee is a former partner of the existing external
auditor of the Company. During the year and at the date of
this report, the Audit Committee comprises the following
members:

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus (Chairman)
Mr. David Tsoi

Mr. Xu Xuechuan

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for (a) reviewing
the Company’'s financial information; (b) overseeing the
Company’s financial reporting system, risk management
and internal control systems as well as those relating to
the Company’s environmental, social and governance
(the "ESG") performance and reporting; (c) reviewing
and monitoring the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards; and (d) assessing
the Group's corporate governance functions. The Audit
Committee meets at least two times a year and is provided
with sufficient resources enabling it to discharge its duties.

During the year, the Audit Committee had held four
meetings. The following is a summary of the major tasks
carried out by the Audit Committee during the year ended
31 December 2022:

(i) reviewed the audited financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2021
and the unaudited interim financial statements of
the Company for the six months ended 30 June
2022 with recommendations to the Board for
approval;

(ii) reviewed the internal audit findings prepared by
outsourced internal auditor in relation to the risk
management and internal control systems of the
Group;
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(i) reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems based on the internal
audit findings and recommended actions to the
Board when appropriate;

(iv)  reviewed the independence of the external
auditor and recommended to the Board on the re-
appointment of the external auditor; and

(v) reviewed the corporate governance practices and
policies in order to comply with CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Audit Committee met the external auditor twice during
the year in the absence of the management, to discuss
matters relating to any issues arising from the audit and any
other matters that the external auditor may wish to raise.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises three members:

Executive Director
Mr. Zhou Chunhua

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Xu Xuechuan (Chairman)
Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus

The majority of them are independent non-executive
Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is primarily responsible
for making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy for the Company for approval by the
Board.

The Remuneration Committee reviews and determines the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors
with reference to their responsibilities, workload, the time
devoted to the Group and the performance of the Group.
The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year
and is provided with sufficient resources enabling it to
discharge its duties.
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The Remuneration Committee met four times during the
year and has performed the following duties:

(a) reviewed the remuneration packages and
emoluments of the Directors and senior
management;

(b) reviewed and recommended to the Board for
approval of the revision of the remuneration
packages and emoluments of the Chairman of the
Board and senior management;

() reviewed and recommended to the Board for
approval of the year-end bonus payable to an
executive Director; and

(d) reviewed and recommended to the Board for
approval of the revised terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee.

No Director nor any of his associates is involved in deciding
his own remuneration. Details of the emoluments of the
Directors and the five highest paid individuals for the year
ended 31 December 2022 are set out in notes 11 and 12
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

The remuneration of the senior management (other than
the Directors) whose profiles are contained in the section
headed “Board of Directors and Senior Management” in
this annual report by band for the year ended 31 December
2022 is set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises three members:

Executive Director
Mr. Zhou Chunhua

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus (Chairman)
Mr. Xu Xuechuan

The majority of them are independent non-executive
Directors.

The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for (a)
reviewing the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and
making recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy; (b) reviewing the Board Diversity Policy and the
progress on achieving the objectives set for implementing
the said policy; (c) identifying individuals suitably qualified
to become Board members and selecting or making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships; (d) assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors
and any proposed independent non-executive Directors;
and (e) making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of the Directors. The
Nomination Committee meets at least once a year and is
provided with sufficient resources enabling it to discharge
its duties.

The Nomination Committee met once during the year
and reviewed the structure, size, composition of the
Board in accordance with the Listing Rules, the Board
Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy. It also assessed
the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and reviewed and recommended to the Board the
retirement and re-election of Directors at the 2022 annual
general meeting of the Company.
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Nomination Policy

The Board adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) in December 2018 which sets out the nomination
procedures and the process and criteria adopted to guide
the Nomination Committee to select and recommend
candidates for the Board. The nomination will be in
pursuit of a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives in the Board appropriate to the requirements
of the Company’s business as well as succession continuity.
The Nomination Committee will identify and nominate
qualified individuals for appointment as additional
Director(s) or to fill vacancies as and when they arise.

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the
Nomination Committee would consider factors including:

(a) reputation for integrity;

(b) experience in (i) investment and financial services
business; and (ii) MLCC business;

(©) accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under the Listing Rules;

(d) diversity in all its aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service;

(e) commitment in respect of available time and
relevant interest; and

(f) requirements in respect of independent non-
executive directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules and whether the candidate would be
considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines as set out in the Listing
Rules.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to
be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee
has the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers
appropriate.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board adopted the board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in accordance with the requirement
set out in the CG Code. Such policy aims to set out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The
appointment of new directors of the Company shall be
based on meritocracy, and candidates shall be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board. In selecting director
candidates, board diversity shall be considered, including
but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. Directors with technical,
legal, financial, management and audit background will
provide various extensive business experiences to the
Company. Such factors will be considered by the Company
based on its business model and specific needs and
the ultimate decision will be based on merit, value and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board. The Nomination Committee monitors, from time
to time, the implementation of the policy, and reviews, as
appropriate, the policy to ensure the effectiveness of the
policy. The Nomination Committee will continue to give
adequate consideration to these measurable objectives
when making recommendations of candidates for
appointment to the Board.

The diversity profile of the Board as at 31 December 2022
is summarised in the following chart:
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In order to ensure that independent views and input are
made available to the Board, the following mechanisms are
reviewed annually by the Board, through the Nomination
Committee, to ensure their effectiveness:

1. A sufficient number of three independent non-
executive Directors representing more than one-third
of the Board and all of them continue to devote
adequate time contribution to the Company;

2. All independent non-executive Directors share their
views and opinions through regular meetings and
particular heads of business units would be invited
to join such meetings on independent non-executive
Directors’ requests;

3. All independent non-executive Directors did not
involve in the daily management of the Company
nor in any relationship or circumstances which
would affect the exercise of their independent
judgement;

4. Annual meeting between the Chairman and all
independent non-executive Directors without
presence of other Directors providing effective
platform for the Chairman to listen independent
views on various issues concerning the Group; and

5. Independent professional advice would be provided
to independent non-executive Directors upon
reasonable request to assist them to perform their
duties to the Company.
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Company Secretary

The company secretary is a full time employee of the
Company and is appointed by the Board. He possesses
the day-to-day knowledge of the Company's affairs and
is responsible for facilitating the Board’s processes and
communications among Board members, with shareholders
and with management. During the year, the company
secretary has confirmed that he has undertaken sufficient
hours of relevant professional training in compliance with
rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2022 with the assistance
of the finance department of the Group. The Directors
are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Company with a view to ensuring that
such financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and that relevant statutory and
regulatory requirements and applicable financial reporting
standards are complied with. The Directors have not been
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the external auditor of the Company and
the Group regarding its reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements of the Company and the
Group is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” in
this Annual Report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the total fee
paid/payable in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided by the Group’s external auditor, Crowe (HK) CPA
Limited, is set out below:
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Fee paid/

Category of Services payable
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NEBT 7T

Audit services Z AR TS 1,434
Non-audit services JEZEBRTS 306
Total st 1,740

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving the Group's strategic objectives, and
maintaining sound systems of risk management and
internal controls and also reviewing their effectiveness to
safeguard interests of shareholders and the Group's assets.

The Board has established an on-going process for
identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks
(including environmental, social and governance (“ESG")
risks) faced by the Group and this process includes
enhancing the systems of risk management and internal
controls from time to time in response to the changes to
the business environment or regulatory guidelines.
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A review on the internal control systems of the Company,
including financial, operational and compliance controls as
well as the process for the identification, evaluation and
management of the significant risks (including ESG risks)
for the year ended 31 December 2022 has been carried out
by an independent internal audit consultant with staff in
possession of relevant expertise to conduct an independent
review. The Audit Committee reviewed the internal control
review report and no significant deficiency was identified
during course of review and the systems were operating
effectively and adequately. The Board assessed the
effectiveness of internal control systems by considering the
internal control review report and reviews were performed
by the Audit Committee and concurred the same.

The Board is of the view that no internal audit function
is considered necessary in consideration of the current
operation size and organisation structure of the Group.
The Audit Committee and the Board have considered the
internal control review report prepared by an independent
internal audit consultant and communications with the
Company’s external auditors in respect of any material
control deficiencies identified during the course of the
financial statement audit to form the basis to review
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. The Audit
Committee and the Board will continue to review the need
for an internal audit function on an annual basis.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group is aware of its obligations under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) and the Listing Rules
and is required, as soon as reasonably practicable after
any inside information has come to its knowledge, to
disclose the information to the public. The Group has been
maintaining procedures in handling and dissemination of
inside information in an accurate and secure manner, in
order to avoid possible mishandling of inside information
within the Group. Also, in order to comply with all
applicable laws and regulations in relation to the anti-
money laundering and terrorist financing, the Group has
adopted an anti-money laundering and know-your-client
policy to combat money-laundering and terrorist financing
activities and to generate a level of awareness of the
obligations and responsibilities of staff on the anti-money
laundering and terrorist financing.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) which outlines the principles of payment on
dividend. The Dividend Policy would be in the best interests
of the Group and the shareholders of the Company.
The Board endeavours to maintain a balance between
meeting the Shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital
management with a sustainable Dividend Policy.

The Board shall also take into account the following
factors of the Group when considering the declaration and
payment of dividends, inter alia:

(a) the Company's actual and expected financial
performance;

(b) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Group;

(©) the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return
on equity and the relevant financial covenants;

(d) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may
be imposed by the Group’s lenders;

(e) the Group's expected working capital requirements
and future expansion plans;

) general economic conditions, business cycle of
the Group’s MLCC business and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of
the Company; and

(9) any other factors that the Board deem appropriate.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

On 22 June 2022, the shareholders of the Company
have approved at the 2022 annual general meeting
of the Company the proposed amendments to the
original memorandum and articles of association of the
Company and to adopt the second amended and restated
memorandum of association and amended and restated
articles of association of the Company (i) to allow general
meetings to be held as an electronic meeting (also referred
to as a virtual general meeting) or a hybrid meeting; (ii)
to bring the memorandum and articles of association of
the Company in line with the relevant requirements of
the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and the Listing
Rules; and (iii) to make other consequential amendments
and some housekeeping improvements. Details of the
amendments are set in the Company's announcements
dated 12 April 2022 and 22 June 2022 and the circular
dated 29 April 2022.

The latest memorandum and articles of association of the
Company is available on both the websites of the Company
and of the Stock Exchange.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company is committed to maintaining an ongoing
communication with the shareholders and providing
timely disclosure of information concerning the Group's
material developments to the shareholders and investors.
The Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, other members
of the Board and the external auditor attend the annual
general meeting to meet the shareholders and answer their
enquiries on the performance of the Group. Likewise, the
Chairman and other Directors will do so at other general
meetings of the Company.

The Shareholders’” Communication Policy of the Company
sets out the Company's procedures in providing the
Shareholders with prompt and equal access to information
about the Company, in order to enable the shareholders to
assess the Company's overall performance, exercise their
rights in an informed manner and engage actively with
the Company. The Company has reviewed its prevailing
Shareholders” Communication Policy during the year under
review, and believes the Shareholders’ Communication
Policy is still appropriate and effective.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

(a)

(b)

Convening extraordinary general meeting and
putting forward proposals at general meetings

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association,
extraordinary general meetings shall also be
convened on the requisition of one or more
shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company.
Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company
for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself/herself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Proposing for election as a director

Pursuant to the article 88 of the Articles of
Association, no person other than a retiring Director
shall, unless recommended by the Board for
election, be eligible for election as a director at any
general meeting, unless a written notice signed by a
shareholder (other than the person to be proposed)
duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting
for which such notice is given of his intention to
propose that person for election as a director and
notice in writing by that person of his willingness to
be elected shall have been lodged to the Company
provided that the minimum length of the period,
during which such notices are given, shall be at least
seven days. The period for lodgment of such notices
will commence on the day after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such
election and end no later than seven days prior to
the date of such general meeting.

AN S /8 0 A
.|J:¥ B /0 *E =]
R EREEF
(a) BRRBRRIFHIAGLMRIREAD EIRHE

(b)

i
o3

RBAREEMAE8F BRRFHK
ZHUREAE—BRZLRE (RNRER
EXREARBEARATEGRE (WAER
ERBRRRGRRERN) A LR +2
Z2—E)NERBH - ZBEREAUZ
BEAXAAATNEEFETHLRIMER
EOUHESTENREZBEERRNEN
EEEHEMEXRAARRFIAE A
HEZRANEXZEBRFENWER
RET - HEEFTENFREERAH
Est—+—HBRKREARZARE A&
FHEREVNRBARSANBTARKRE
MARBABBREBNRAEFTEREE
BRARENSHEREELEZFFEGER
%o

RBBEASEES

RIFEGEREMAES8IF  FRIFEE
SEHEZSE SREMAL GREE

SR IEERRNEIRREARAG LS
BREF KRFLAGEREFEARAGILR
TERENRR (BRB ALK B
EEEBN RPAEZRLRALSE
EF BB AITRRBEZEEEN X
HRESE UREMBNEZXELRR
B EEHAERMBNNAERL AR
H-BERBANNEXHRENMETE
SEEMEERTHRREAGESFTH
BHES TR EBRREAEETH
Himt AR -

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZREMARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 %%

53



54

Corporate Governance Report
EEERRS

(c) Putting forwards enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries
in writing together with their detailed contact
information by post to the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong at Suites 2711-12,
27th Floor, The Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong for the attention of the Company
Secretary and the Company Secretary shall then
forward the same to the appropriate executives of
the Company or members of the Board for further
handling.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Tianli Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”, and
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) are pleased to
present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out
in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group and its likely
future development and outlook, a discussion and analysis
of the Group’s performance during the year including
analysis using financial key performance indicators,
particulars of important events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the financial year,
description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group, and a discussion on the Group’s environmental
policies and performance and the Group’s compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group, and an account of the Group's key
relationships with its stakeholders are provided throughout
this annual report, particularly in the sections headed
“Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and
Analysis”, and “Corporate Governance Report” of this
annual report and in the separate “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report”. These discussions form part of
this Directors’ Report.

Report of the Directors
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 and the financial positions of the Group as at 31
December 2022 are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 81 to 83 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted
from the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company, is set out on page 2 of this annual report. Such
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to the Shareholders represented
the retained profits of RMB645,697,000 (2021:
RMB638,500,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in investment properties of the
Group during the year are set out in note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales to the five largest customers of the
Group accounted for approximately 45% of the Group's
total revenue and sales to the largest customer accounted
for approximately 18% of the Group's total revenue during
the year.

The aggregate purchases from the five largest suppliers
of the Group accounted for approximately 36% of the
Group’s total purchases and purchases from the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 15% of the Group’s
total purchases during the year.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any
shareholders (which to the best knowledge of the Directors,
holding more than 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company) has any interests in the five largest customers or
suppliers of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association or the laws of Cayman Islands where
the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders of the Company.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings of the Group are set out in note
31 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this report are:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhou Chunhua (Chairman)
Mr. Pan Tong (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus

Mr. David Tsoi

Mr. Xu Xuechuan
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In accordance with article 87(1) of the Articles of
Association, Mr. Pan Tong and Mr. Xu Xuechuan will
retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

The Company has received written confirmation from
all independent non-executive directors of the Company
regarding their independence as required under rule
3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Notwithstanding that Mr.
Chu Kin Wang, Peleus has served as independent non-
executive director for more than nine years, he meets the
independence guidelines set out in such Rule 3.13 and
has never been involved in the daily management of the
Company nor is he in any relationships or circumstance
which would interfere with the exercise of his independent
judgment. The nomination committee of the Company
has assessed and is satisfied with the independence of all
independent non-executive directors. Hence, the Board
is of the opinion that all the independent non-executive
Directors remain independent within the definition of the
Listing Rules by reference to the factors stated therein.

The biographical details of the Directors and senior
management of the Company are set out in the section
of “Board of Directors and Senior Management” of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of any
business of the Company were entered into during the year
or subsisted at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for the remuneration of all Directors,
having regard to their relevant experience, duties and
responsibilities, performance and achievement, and market
rate. Details of the remuneration of the directors of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set
out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Related Party
Transactions and Balances” as set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a director of the Company or his connected entity had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their close associates has any
interest in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of
the Group during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions
of each Director and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers contained in the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company

Number of
ordinary
shares held
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Number of
award
shares*
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Approximate
percentage of

total issued
Name of Director Personal interests Personal interests Total interests shares”
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Mr. Zhou Chunhua 1,400,000 5,958,000 7,358,000 0.99%
BEERYE (Note 1)

(Byat1)
Notes: Hat
(1 These represented interests in unvested shares granted under (M ZERAM RN BEA QB RO RE B L 2K

the Share Award Scheme of the Company.

ki Details of the award shares are set out in the section headed
“Share Award Scheme”.

L The percentage is calculated based on 744,750,000 shares of
the Company in issue as at 31 December 2022.
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Save as disclosed above, so far as was known to the
Directors, as at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company had or was
deemed to have any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers contained in the Listing Rules.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) on 14 July 2017 (the “Adoption Date"”)
to provide any individual employees of the Company
proposed by the Board with an opportunity to acquire a
proprietary interest in the Company for the purpose of (i)
encouraging and retaining such individuals to work with
the Company; (i) providing additional incentive for them
to achieve performance goals which in turn increase the
value of the Company; and (iii) aligning the interests of
the beneficiaries of the Share Award Scheme directly with
that of the shareholders through ownership of interests
in the Company. Unless terminated earlier by the Board,
the Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a period of 10 years commencing on the Adoption Date.
The award shares are subject to conditions and vesting
schedules as determined by the Board in its sole discretion.
The aggregate number of shares to be awarded under the
Share Award Scheme throughout its duration shall not
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as
of the Adoption Date.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no share of
the Company has been purchased from the open market
(2021: nil). At 31 December 2022, no share of the
Company was held in trust by the trustee (2021: nil).
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Movements in the number of awarded shares outstanding

during the years were as follows:

Number of awarded shares

®BRHYE
Balance at
31 December
Fair value Balance at Lapsed 2021 and Lapsed Balance at
Date of grant per share 1 January during 1 January during 31 December
Categories of awardees (Note 1) (Note 2) 2021 the year 2022 the year 2022
#2021F
12H31H
BRATHE 20215 R0 #2022

ERBARR RHRE 1) W#2)  1B1RZEH RERKXY  1A1HZES RERKY  12ANBZER

Directors of the Company (note 4) 14 July 2017 RMB1 5,958,000 - 5,958,000 - 5,958,000

KRATEE (1) 017£78148 AEEIR

Notes: Bt -

1 The date of award refers to the date on which the selected 1 2B H AR E R B R R AGE IR R M AR B F
employees agree to undertake to hold the awarded shares on MEFERERM IR =Z R0 RE T EIFRRAR
the terms on which they are granted and agreed to be bound HEfo
by the rules of the Share Award Scheme.

2 The fair value of the awarded shares are based on the fair 2 BRRN 2 ATFENREBEENEHERZ AT EE
value at the date of grant. E ©

3 The awarded shares granted to the beneficiaries during the 3 REZE2017F12A31BIEFER TR Em A Z 2R
year ended 31 December 2017 would be vested in three D =#EE > SHE71,986,00002 817 > & B
tranches of 1,986,000 shares each on the vesting date on HEA D BI2A20185F ~ 20195 52202038310 o ¥
31 March 2018, 2019 and 2020 respectively. Subject to the KD RENE B E W E 15 E 8RB R ROEIMEM[
expiration of the Share Award Scheme, in the event that the IBEEFEZFTEREB 2 BEMN B (E B IR
specific vesting conditions cannot be fulfilled on a particular B BEEARMEMHEER - RDIEEFEEWE T
vesting date of any given year, the entire vesting schedule A1 i85 R AT (6018 14 oK B a8 DY AR B AR 1D 8 B SR A iR 2
shall be adjourned until such conditions are met. Upon expiry BIERD ©
of the Share Award Scheme, any outstanding but unvested
award shares shall lapse and become returned shares.

4 During the year, Mr. Zhou Chunhua, being the Director of the 4 KAREEFEELENFANDERDERSE -

Company, participated in the Share Award Scheme.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the vesting
conditions cannot be fulfilled and the vesting schedule has

been adjourned.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, substantial shareholders of
the Company and other persons (other than Directors or
chief executives of the Company) who had interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or
which were notified to the Company, were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company

Report of the Directors
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FTERRRHEMA TR REMRNZ
Em Bk E

122022128318 REEFRMERME
XVEE2REINBZEX A AR FHKE > 3
BIBEESFRBEHRGEIB6HEARTETEFE
ZBEMAER AEBENEERE > ARFE
EREREMAL (FRAFEFHARSTEHA
BN REARBRMDBEBRMDTER Z#

mERAEWT -

RERXBRBRBRARGBZFE

Number of ordinary shares held

FrsERREE
Approximate
percentage
Personal Family Corporate Total of total
Name of Shareholders interests interests” interests® interests issued shares”
HEBITRH
RRERBIE Bz N T AEEE" il KYMOa I
(a) Substantial shareholders
FERR
Cosmic Riches Investments 93,443,650 - - 93,443,650 12.55%
Limited
HBEERRAR
Ms. Du Weilin - - 93,443,650 93,443,650 12.55%
AR CE S (Note 1)
(Hizt1)
(b) Other persons
HMAL
China Tian Yuan Manganese 60,590,482 - - 60,590,482 8.13%
Limited
FEIXTHERRAFT
Ningxia Tianyuan Manganese - - 60,590,482 60,590,482 8.13%
Industry Group Co., Ltd. (Note 2)
EEATREERBRAT (Hiz2)
Mr. Jia Tianjiang - - 60,590,482 60,590,482 8.13%
BRERE (Note 2)
(Hizt2)
Ms. Dong Jufeng - 60,590,482 - 60,590,482 8.13%
REBLL (Note 3)
(H1zt3)

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZREMARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 %%

63



64

Report of the Directors

EFEHRS

Notes:

(1) 93,443,650 shares are directly held by Cosmic Riches
Investments Limited which is wholly owned by Ms. Du Weilin.
As such, Ms. Du Weilin was deemed to be interested in the
93,443,650 shares held by Cosmic Riches Investments Limited
by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

(2) 60,590,482 shares are directly held by China Tian Yuan
Manganese Limited, a company wholly-owned by Ningxia
Tianyuan Manganese Industry Group Co., Ltd. which is in turn
wholly owned by Mr. Jia Tianjiang. As such, Ningxia Tianyuan
Manganese Industry Group Co., Ltd. and Mr. Jia Tianjiang
were deemed to be interested in the 60,590,482 shares held
by China Tian Yuan Manganese Limited by virtue of Part XV of
the SFO.

(3) Ms. Dong Jufeng was deemed to be interested in the
60,590,482 shares held by China Tian Yuan Manganese
Limited by virtue of her being the spouse of Mr. Jia Tianjiang
for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

Interests of spouse or child under 18 as beneficial owner
& Interests of controlled corporation

L The percentage is calculated based on 744,750,000 shares of
the Company in issue as at 31 December 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022,
there were no other persons (other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company) who had interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or
which were notified to the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED ARRANGEMENTS

Saved as disclosed in the section headed “Share Award
Scheme”, no equity-linked agreements were entered into
by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end of
the year.
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®3) REBLEIRERGREZRRB WIREES A
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ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share
Award Scheme” above, at no time during the year was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors of the Company or
chief executives or any of their spouse or children under the
age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2022.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, subject to the
provisions of the relevant statutes, every Director shall
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses and liabilities which he may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of his office or
otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has arranged
for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’
liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors
and senior management arising out of corporate activities
during the year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
had no connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions which fell to be disclosed in accordance with
the provisions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
in relation to the disclosure of connected transactions
and continuing connected transactions. To the best of
the Director’s knowledge, information and belief having
made all reasonable enquiries, none of the related party
transactions as disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements constitutes a connected transaction
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of
1,084 (2021: 1,199) employees. The remuneration policy
regarding the employees of the Group is based on their
merit, qualifications and competence. Remuneration and
bonuses are awarded to employees based on individual
performances and are in line with market practices. Other
benefits including share award scheme, insurance policies,
retirement benefit plans are offered to eligible employees.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Details of the employee retirement benefits of the
Company are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable donations
amounting to approximately RMB43,000 (2021:
RMB10,000).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company are set out in the “Corporate Governance
Report” of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group's
environmental, social and governance (the “"ESG") strategy
and reporting, and is responsible for the Group's ESG risk
management and internal control systems to ensure that
the ESG strategies and reporting requirements are met. The
details of ESG performance of the Group are set out in the
“2022 Environmental, Social and Governance Report”.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF THE
DIRECTORS

The changes in information of the Directors, which is
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules, as notified to the Company, since the
publication of the Interim Report 2022 of the Company are
set out below:

Changes in Biographical Details

Name of Director Details of changes
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AEBNRE - HEREARABREERANEE
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BREER - AEERR - HEREARRTEZHF
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EFENEY

R#E FHIRAIE13.51B(1) > BEARAF 2022
FERRTBEURBETFHRBEZ2ESENEH (B
MEARRAE) HIWOTF :

REFEZEE

E5ny SEFE
Chu Kin Wang, Peleus (i) resigned as an executive director of Momentum Financial Holdings Limited,
ER VN a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1152), on 25 March

2022

FR2022E3825HBE L SrIZERERAT (—BRBXFFEHmZA
T B AeE 1 1152) $UITE S

(ii) resigned as an independent non-executive director of Peking University
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 618), on 1 October 2022
12022108 1 HEHEIEAER (2R BRAE (—ERBRR Emz R
g DMK 1 618) B IFRITES

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZREMARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 %%

67



68

Report of the Directors

EFEHRS

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float (i.e. at
least 25% of the issued Shares were held by the public)
throughout the year and up to the date of this report as
required under the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2022 have been reviewed
by the audit committee of the Company. The principal
responsibilities of the audit committee of the Company
include the review and supervision of the Group’s financial
reporting process and risk management (including but not
limited to business, operation as well as environmental,
social and governance related risks) and internal control
systems.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022 have been audited by Crowe (HK) CPA
Limited, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Zhou Chunhua

Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Crowe

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Tianli Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages
81 to 252 which comprise the consolidated statements
of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BWAZ MR S

BEEEE &D gtMEBABERAR
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited

& SRE ISRETTR SR 0%2
9/F Leighton Centre,

77 Leighton Road,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

RRANEREBARABDKRRZ
B AN RS

(RHEEHSZMELIERAE)

R

RPEEZINENEIEEF2528 XA E
REBERRAT (TEQF) RENBAR (4
BIEEER) NEEMBRE ZFHREVHE
HREREENR2022F12B31BNGEH B RN
REBFEZHLELFENGEREakEMER
KWamEZ - FEaRmEPHRNGEaHRERER
URkiraMBREMNE (BREETEGTHERMY

£) o

KR GV BERRCBREEESHIEE
ZEg ((HRGHEEEZTE T BEMNEK
MHEBREEL (HERMBREER)) EEM
NEMZIRE SEBER2022F12831HWE
EHBERT URHEBEEZHALEEENGES Y
BRENRGEERE/RE U BREB QK
BN EREE AR
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BWAZBEMER S

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA").
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

NON-CONSOLIDATION OF STRUCTURED
ENTITIES AND VALUATION OF FINANCIAL
ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS

Refer to notes 2(i) and 20 to the consolidated financial

statements.

The Key Audit Matter
B %EIR

BWAZ MR S

FFEHGEEMEEREBEATES A
NEMBEENGE

F2REE M BWRME2() &M 5E200

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAINEZMFAREZER

The management of the Group made significant judgments to
assess whether the Group has the power over and is exposed
to significant variable returns from structured entities, mainly
the private equity funds, to determine whether or not it has
control over the structured entities, which the Group has
accounted for as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss.

Rt EEEECHERUERE FEANEREER
L) BEERNEEZEEEZRHEATED®R BEEEEE
EBIEH TEXRHE UTHESHEBEERERZL
#o EEBERZZIEBUERBARIAEATESA
BaMEREE-

The valuation of these financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss is based on unobservable inputs which involves
significant management judgement.
HZERATEFABENERBEENGEDERAIR
R\MARB ET S REXNEEREHE -

Due to the significance of these structured entities to the
Group and the uncertainties inherent in these judgments, this
is considered as a key audit matter.
HRZEERMEERY SEENEZMLUKERN
HEFFEI BN AREN AL EREAMBEZSE
I o

Our procedures to assess the recognition of interests in structured

entities as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and

their valuation included the followings:

HR

BT EREaRISRATES A BEaNEREE

UREMGE AN EEFEENTRE:!

obtaining and evaluating the management’s assessment
regarding whether or not to consolidate the structured
entities that the Group holds an interest;
ERUTEEEEHAN SEERARmNEREUE
BES S ARPIER ST ;

reviewing the terms of the relevant contracts, considered
the returns of the underlying assets, and assessed the
Group’s power on and the exposure to the variability of
returns from the structured entities;

BRABBSANGR ZEEBEENRR Wil &
EEHERMERNENREREBIEER T ERIRN
BE;

testing the controls over financial instrument valuation

process;
HEmM T AGEBENEZERmETAE
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BWILZ R S

NON-CONSOLIDATION OF STRUCTURED FEaHEBEBRREEAFEFAERE
ENTITIES AND VALUATION OF FINANCIAL NEMEERNGE @)

ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS (continued)

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

MEEZER BAINEZLMFAREZER

o selecting samples and checked the appropriateness
of the valuation methods used and evaluated the
assumptions used in those methods;

B AN SR P B E S ANBEE M » U
ZE R AFERNRE ;

o recalculating fair value estimates and comparing the
results to the Group's valuations and investigating
significant differences, if any; and
S EMFATE KERE BSEENGKEE
TS THEREE WA) ETRE ; &

o performing audit procedures on selected financial
statements items of the private equity funds.
HIWEREESNECHFRREBEHSBEZE
o
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IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Refer to notes 2(f), (0)(i), and 16 to the consolidated

financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter
FREEZER

BWAZ MR S

Y~ BB R sk R iR B 5T A

BE2REEHB|RRMEE2(f) (o)) k160

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANERMAREZEE

Increase in costs of production including labour and raw
materials has negatively impacted the multi-layer ceramic
chips capacitors (“MLCC") manufacturing profit of the
Company.

TEAN (BEFIREME) BN SEBETRAZ
EBREER: (TMLCC)) RS HELGERE-

There is a risk that the carrying value of property, plant and
equipment of the MLCC segment may not be recoverable in
full through the future cash flows to be generated.
MLCCHEB 2 M~ Bk R BN IR EEF T Al s A B8
RRELENRERERHULC 2 & g

Management review the performance of the MLCC segment
at the end of each reporting period to identify if there are
any negative performance criteria which could indicate
impairment or reversal of previously made impairment. The
recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment is
determined by management at the higher of the value in use
and the fair value less cost of disposal of these assets.
EEBREREHABEAMICCAIBZ R UBERS
FHRUEETAENREE LA IRAEZENE BRER
E MR -BERRBZAINCEEHERBRAEEEL
ERBEARATERLERE URSEAE) EE-

In determining the value in use of the cash generating units
where the property, plant and equipment belongs to, a
valuation is carried out by independent professional valuer
with reference to a discounted cash flow forecast prepared by
management.

TEEM*: -BERREBMBZREELBAZERA
BER BUISXEHEMS2ZTEEBREZRER
FIRTRAIEITIEE

Our audit procedures to assess potential impairment of property,
plant and equipment included the following:

BMTEME - BERRBETHENSZEFEEUATE
=

. challenging the Company's impairment assessment model
by assessing the impairment indicators identified by
management and by considering whether the discounted
cash flow forecasts supported the carrying value of the
relevant assets;

BB ERERR ZBETR RAER S RITIRER
EOXFHEEEZRAE H SARZAENLE

BRHEL

o evaluating the methodology used by management in the
preparation of its discounted cash flow forecast and the
valuations performed by independent professional valuers
with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;
SERTEAEIRETHERETRRESRITRE
AR FTE AR 7 & RIB I B A ERMT R EE ;

. comparing the most significant inputs used in the
discounted cash flow forecasts, including future revenue
growth rates, future margins and future costs, with
the historical performance of the cash generating unit,
budgets approved by management and agreements signed
subsequent to the reporting date;
RRERMBEBAMCEZREEHAEE (BEFRK
B R R KRR B RARAE) HREELEN B
FRF -BEEHECEERREARBR 2 HRE
TH®R

. assessing the discount rates used in the discounted cash
flow forecasts by benchmarking against other similar
companies;
FiBEHMBURAREER AR RITR AR
FRZITERE;
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Independent Auditors’ Report

BWAZBEMER S

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
FREZER

ME BB R EiRE G (E

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANERMAEREZEER

In preparing the discounted cash flow forecasts, key
inputs, including future revenue growth rates, future
margins and future costs of the cash generating
unit are determined by management taking into
consideration factors which include changes in product
mix and changes in expected customers numbers, all of
which involve the exercise of significant management
judgement.

ERHERSRITRARE > ZIEERREABE (81
REEEBARRREGEIE R REFE R AR
R)DHEEELKERZERREET -AZRE
ORI RITHEEREEEBHENERESEFH K

We identified the assessment for impairment of
property, plant and equipment as a key audit matter
because identifying impairment indicators and
determining the level of impairment, if any, involves
a significant degree of management judgement,
particularly in forecasting future cash flows and
estimating the recoverable amounts of these assets,
both of which are inherently uncertain and could be
subject to management bias.
BIFIREYE BB R ERERNT LS SRR EZ
E8 RAZBHBETRREERENKTE @H) 5
REARERENEEBHE  HHZBRARRBERE
Mt ZEEEZ I WEIRER EMEBEAGEAE T
E B2 EEENRERLE-

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMERAE
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obtaining sensitivity analysis of the significant
inputs, including future revenue growth rates, future
margins and the discount rates used in the cash flow
forecasts prepared by management and considering
the resulting impact on the recoverable amount and
whether there were any indicators of management
bias; and
ENEEERRENERERUBERMERZ
BEEHARBNSRE DT FIET RIS AT B 5
MR EREEREEEERENDR ; &

evaluating the experience, competence, capabilities
and objectivity of the independent professional valuer
engaged by management to carry out the valuations
of property, plant and equipment and to understand
the methodologies adopted and key inputs used in
the valuation of property, plant and equipment.

ML EEEMEBUEYE - BRERREETHE
NETEXHEMNEE -BE - EHREH N
M7 BIEME BB R&REGEBZRFIERAR
75 7% e P 155 FA B B 2 A\ BiUH ©



Independent Auditors’ Report
BIAZEERS

VALUATION OF INVENTORIES FEME
Refer to notes 2(q) and 23 to the consolidated financial BRI BRI EE2(q) X230

statements.

The Key Audit Matter
FMREEZEER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANBERMAEREZEER

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the balance to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole and the
judgement associated with the determination of write-down
of inventories.

IMREESAEINABRERER RARGHREGSM
BRRERZEEN KEETEFEAERAZ HIE-

As disclosed in note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amount of inventories is
RMB195,060,000 as at 31 December 2022.

UM S M B RRMET23MMIRE > FEREER20225F12
H318 %A AE1195,060,0007T

In estimating the amount of write-down of inventories,
management reviews the net realisable value of inventories
periodically with reference to the condition of the inventories,
historical and current sales information, as well as the ageing
of inventories to identify slow-moving items to ascertain the
amount of write-down of inventories.

Rt FEERTEEE BEEEL2EFaRI - BEKER
BHEENUKFEREHFENAEHEFETHETE
5 femahFHER L EF SR

In addition, the management carries out a review of its
inventories on a product-by-product basis with reference to
subsequent sales and usage, latest selling prices and current
market condition.

IS ERELE2EHRFHERAR EMEBRER
ThRE ERFEEREENHESETES-

Our procedures in relation to evaluating the reasonableness of the
valuation of inventories included:

B EERESENNEFEENTAE

o understanding the inventory allowance policy of the
Group in the identification of slow-moving inventories and
measurement of the write-down of inventories;

TR EEERHANFHEEERFEFGRLHENTE
BREDCR;

o assessing whether the inventory allowance at the end of the
reporting period was calculated in a manner consistent with
the Group’s inventory write-down policy;
AMERBRERANGEERERETRE SEEFEERT
BR—BNAHHE

. discussing with management and assessing the bases of
management'’s estimations of subsequent selling price, costs
to completion and costs necessary to make the sale;
HEEENRLTHEEEMGERER THALK
WEHEANEE ;

o testing inventory ageing analysis, on a sample basis, to the
goods receipt documents and assessing the accuracy of
the base data used to determine the allowance/write down
and re-performing the allowance/write down calculation to
check arithmetic accuracy; and
MR EE BB N FERE DT LT E AN E
TEE/ BTN EREBNERY URBMETHEE
SRS EURREEERE ; &

o assessing the reasonableness of the estimation of the net
realisable value of inventories with reference to usage and
sales of inventories subsequent to the end of the reporting
period and latest selling prices, on a sample basis.

2ERTHRREBFENARKEEURKRMER

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZREMARAR
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BWAZBEMER S

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR'S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMERAE
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 &#
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Independent Auditors’ Report

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued
by IASB and the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

BWAZ MR S

EFEMGEMBRRAKENTE

EADEFRAEERBEEREHARERZES
8 ffn B B PR B 75 R 5 ZE R e B A 2 B R A BY
REEERNEEMPENGEEMBFRE I
HERAABGE OV HTRRNBRAEER
REFHERMENNERERRILTF R
B EERI BT -

ERUGEUHRRE EFA5TE 85
EFEEENEN EEERBR TIRERR
BREEABNER UREAFBESER G
ER-BFRIFEFARR SEEBFEUFLE
OB EAMBEENERTR-

BEREZEEMHESTETEE
BREBENSE-

EEENHM

RHBMMEZEEMBERRARKEZRRE

RPNEREHG O TERRERERES AR
£ B 7% HR 5T BN #8 5R T 8 A9 B K 88 5R R it BY
SEERE THASREIMARRVZAEMR
HoAREEM BT (FRER) 2%, Kit
ZHAPERAREMBR KA RARSHY
RNE HERMHEMALTEETHARKEEZREE-

EERERSKFTHRE  EFERERRSE
AESFERETHER AR —ERERRL
FHERMBEER -HBRMA 0] U HIMEFHEE R
SIE MRS ERHAECMEBNERERAAE
TEGOVBRRERERBERSTR AN
¥R PR AF H B AL R E » BB R #E SR PR A B) 4R
MBEKN-

=
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BWILZ R S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE BREETMBIZ S MBRRARKEZEE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL F=
STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we EREEABFEETEZNEREF » FH M
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional ERTEXHE RETEXEREE -FEM
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: IR

Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,

. s Bl A0 Y 5 BB RS ER SR SR EE SR T B W AR
GUBREGFEEANERRAN AR
Rt RHTESEFUREELERR
URhERTRMNBENESBE  FR
RMHERNER AR IMFEAES K&
mORE ERER ERBRL SUERE
P A BB EE S 2 £ o UL oK B 35 3R (X HR5F
MERRE KRR E RS ARGE
HMABRMERNWERE R A E

intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the %5 o
override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant . THRESZEBNAEES > UK TE
to the audit in order to design audit procedures ERBR TBEENSEZER EBEEN
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not WIEH SEBERAMBEFNERMEER
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the BRe

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

FEEFFMRAGSHHROEELERIF
HESt AT AR RENGER-

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies O
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the

directors.
78 TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZiEBMARAR
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Independent Auditors’ Report

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

BWAZ MR S

t(%%ﬁ)lEﬁ/‘ﬁ%*%%éﬂﬁ%%ﬁi’%?ﬁﬁd%ZEEE

. HESRARBKESHERNORGBE
MEFH 458 o RIZPTE R T 51 & :E
BRERSFERFEIABREBNERKR
THREM EMAIEERYE S£EH
FRBEERNELEERREE - MRKM
RBRMEFEERTEEN WAL EEX
BB ETRFERAREIRGEHH
BRANEFAREZE - REBBOKET
BrAIZEXRFERBEER -RAMANGEHR
REERBERHMKRSHLFAREHE
BB AT REFEABRAEE

B BEEFEFELE-

. HEBFREHTRERNBERINRS A&
BHRS SERE UAREGEEHHR
BEETPERMRBBEZIZMEER-

. 7 BEEBRANERNEBIHZIUBE
HENTREBEZEZESE  UEHLKR
GUBHRREXRER -HMEE B&
EEZN TR -EEMAT RMEY
BEZERR&8-

fREMEBEIN RMAEEREZEEEBE T 58
WELHEE KEZHF EXBZERS G
ERMESEZTHINEABEFNEFTEKX
EA G o
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BWAZBEMER S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 31 March 2023

Leung Pak Ki
Practising Certificate Number PO8014
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

nTl:I

mRHEHMEE R R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE2022512B31HIEEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
s ARBFRT AR®TT
Revenue N 6 361,377 548,507
Cost of sales 55 & A (345,625) (330,316)
Gross profit EF 15,752 218,191
Other income =Rullog 7 13,918 19,057
Other gains and losses Hhigm 8 66,781 (11,136)
Selling and distribution costs THE R DA (17,573) (21,862)
Administrative expenses THER (87,020) (97,352)
Research and development costs RSy e N 90 (56,307) (45,096)
(Loss)/profit from operations RIS (5518) (64,449) 61,802
Finance costs L E AR AN 9(a) (24,420) (22,341)
Share of profit of an associate &1L — R Bt E A BlE A 20,894 18,895
(Loss)/profit before taxation from BRSNS A
continuing operations (B548) i&# 9 (67,975) 58,356
Income tax credit FRISIMIR % 10(a) 3,256 11,137
(Loss)/profit for the year from continuing FERESEBENERE
operations (E548) /&R (64,719) 69,493
Loss for the year from discontinued operation B 4% |E 48 & 3 FEEE5 18 - (21)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (B8 5F) (64,719) 69,472
Other comprehensive income FEHME2EWE
for the year, net of income tax NBREAISIA
ltems that will not be reclassified to profit A S EHMFREETEEN
or loss: EH
Financial assets at fair value through BATESARMER
other comprehensive income WENEmMEE
("FvOoClI™)
— net movement in fair value reserve — AT EREEE)FEE
(non-recycling) (R E) 22,606 6,832
ltems that are or may be reclassified H?ﬁ%%ﬁ%iﬁﬁjﬁiﬁ
subsequently to profit or loss: RIAETEENIER
Reclassification of cumulative exchange RN HERBRARRZ
fluctuation reserve upon disposal of RETER KB
subsidiaries to profit or loss ENMNEEER 1,232 -
Reclassification of cumulative exchange BB E AR
fluctuation reserve upon dissolution RtEREHRES
of associate to profit or loss WMoEERG (2,192) -
Exchange differences on translation of B BINETEN
foreign operations ERELR 1,394 (4,255)
Other comprehensive income FEHMEZEWE
for the year, net of income tax HBRER1SHR 23,040 2,577
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for FEZME (F518) IR 4E%E
the year, net of income tax BRFASA (41,679) 72,049
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

iraEm R EHMEENmR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE20224128331HIEEE

2022 2021
20224 202148
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
s ARBFRT AR®TT
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to AT EA AELEE
owners of the Company: (B518)  i&# -
— from continuing operations — R EREREET (63,851) 68,840
— from discontinued operation —REERIEEEER - 21
(63,851) 68,819
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: W T ATELEE
(B548)  i@# .
Owners of the Company KABHEAA (63,851) 68,319
Non-controlling interests FEPERGHE R (868) 653
(64,719) 69,472
Total comprehensive (loss)/income EATBEEAEGEZE
attributable to owners of (B548) MRz 4B%E -
the Company:
— from continuing operations —REFELEER (52,628) 68,584
— from discontinued operation —REBERIEREER - (41)
(52,628) 68,543
Total comprehensive (loss)/income UFTALEGEESZT
for the year attributable to (§518) Wz 48%E
Owners of the Company ViN/N=E7:Z =N (52,628) 68,543
Non-controlling interests JEFERG e T 10,949 3,506
(41,679) 72,049
RMB cents RMB cents
AR%ES ARES
(Loss)/earnings per share attributable to FEEAATET A
owners of the Company during the FE(LER (B518) &F)
year (basic and diluted) (B Ri#E)
— from continuing operations —RBAREREETS 14 (8.6) 9.2
— from discontinued operation —REERIEKEER 14 0.0 0.0
(8.6) 9.2
The notes on pages 89 to 252 form part of these financial FROBEF252EMNE WML FENBRR
statements. B —E&B 5 °
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R MFFIRR

At 31 December 2022 7220225 12831H

2022 2021
20225 20214F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
fisE  AR®BTFT AEETT
Non-current assets JERBEE
Property, plant and equipment EN Y 16 751,965 481,013
Investment properties KREME 17 24,936 20,872
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, gt EN Y SET
plant and equipment and other non- Pt ¥ae R EMIERSE
current rental deposit %H%E% 25 25,278 51,687
Interest in an associate —BEEAE 2w 18 - 35,791
Financial assets at FVOCI ?Lt(’,&:FTE SFAHMZEZM
WmMEREE 19 - 12,435
Financial assets at fair value through profit ~ #Z/AFEst A=A
or loss (“FVPL") TRBEE 20 256,179 409,092
Other intangible assets HithmAEEE 21 450 819
Deferred tax assets RIETRIEE B 32(a) 29,213 28,296
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 1,088,021 1,040,005
Current assets MBIEE
Inventories =78 23 195,060 248,203
Financial assets at FVPL BAFESAERN
TREE 20 155,882 -
Accounts and bills receivables FE USRI K FE I 4% 24 261,595 190,975
Prepayments, deposits and FERIBE BT &
other receivables Hih g U sIE 25 53,670 47,495
Cash and bank balances RE R IBITAEER 26(a) 62,469 62,864
Total current assets MBEEMRE 728,676 549,537
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

iR e MR

At 31 December 2022 1A2022512H31H

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB‘000
izE AR®FT ARETT
Current liabilities mENaE
Trade and bills payables FE B Z R B 248 27 60,769 68,983
Deferred income, accruals and other REWA S ESHE R K
payables HAERIE 28 109,893 101,309
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 13,023 12,931
Tax payable eI 10,968 10,576
Bank and other loans RITREMER 31 420,120 384,824
Total current liabilities mENB A4 614,773 578,623
Net current assets/(liabilities) RBEE () FE 113,903 (29,086)
Total assets less current liabilities BEEMERTRESEE 1,201,924 1,010,919
Non-current liabilities ERHEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 5,884 16,636
Deferred income EIEU A 30 5,111 10,006
Bank and other loans BT REMER 31 276,614 6,222
Deferred tax liabilities IRIERIE A E 32(b) 24,072 29,613
Total non-current liabilities ERENEELERE 311,681 62,477
Net assets EEFE 890,243 948,442
Capital and reserves BARMEE
Share capital i 36(a) 6,637 6,637
Reserves = 879,961 932,589
Total equity attributable to owners of ZEQTHEE AE(LLEEZ
the Company 886,598 939,226
Non-controlling interests JEEERE e T 3,645 9,216
Total equity g 890,243 948,442

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of

Directors on 31 March 2023.

Zhou Chunhua
BEE
Director

EF

The notes on pages 89 to 252 form part of these financial
statements.
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Pan Tong

B
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
e EmZER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE2022F128331HIEEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FATRAAERER
Fair
value Retained
Share Share Exchange reserve profits/ Non-
Share premium  Contributed award  fluctuation Statutory (non-  (accumulated controlling Total
capital account surplus reserve reserve reserve recycling) losses) Total interests equity

ATERRE  HERA/
RE  RVEEE  REER RORERE ETRBEE  REE  (FUED)  (RHER) B8 ki Bin
RMBOO)  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBO00  RMBOO0  RMBO00  RMBOO0  RMBO00  RMBOO0  RMBO00  RMBYO0D
AEBTm  ARETR ARETT ARETm  ARETR  ARRTR ARRTRm ARRTR ARBTR ARBTR  AREfR

At 1 January 2021 R01E1818 6,637 491518 201,761 4975 1,900 88,119 3974 7,799 870,683 15,849 886,532
Profit for the year FERR - - - - - - - 68,819 68819 653 69472
Bxchange differences arising on tranlation of ~ B ERFELNERZE

foreign operations - - - - (3632) - (108) - (3,740) (515) 4,255)
Financial asets at FVOCI - net movement n fair  RAF{E5t AK M2 E KA

value reserve SHEE-ATERE

2958 - - - - - - 3464 - 3464 3368 6,832

Total comprehensive incomel(oss) for the year ~ £E2E M/ (1) BE - - - - (3632) - 3356 68819 68,543 3,506 72,049

Capital reduction by a non-controlling

HEARFERRRNAXHE

shareholder of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - (10,139) (10,139)

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R2021512831B K
A2E1R18 6,637 491,518 201,761 4975 (1732) 88,119 7,330 140,618 939,226 9,216 948,442

Loss for the year FEFE = = = = = = = (63851) (63851) (868) (64,719)
Exchange differences arising on translation of ~ #HBHEBFELNERZE

foreign operations = = = = 503 = 219 = 12 672 139%
Redlasifcation of cumulative exchange BREERRARR 2 EHER

fluctuation reserve upon disposal of HBREENNEEER

subsidiaries to profit or loss - - - - 1232 - - - 1232 - 1232
Reclassification of cumulative exchange RRBHEEARN BHER

fluctuation reserve upon dissolution of R REEN N ER R

associate to profit or loss - - - - 219 - - - 219 - (2,19)
Financial assets at fair value through other RATESARM2EREN

comprehensive income - net movement SHEE-ATERRE

in fair value 2958 - - - - - - 11,461 - 11,461 11,145 22,606
Total comprehensive incomel(oss) for the year ~ £E2E M/ (1) A& - - - - (457) - 11,680 (63,851) (52,628) 10,949 (41,679)
Capital reduction by a non-controlling W& AT ERRRNEREH

shareholder of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - (29) (296)
Disposal of investments in equity instruments ~ HERATEF ALH2ENE

atAvocl MEETARE - - - 3 = = (703) 7013 - - -
Disposal of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries HEFLENBAS (Hik0)

(note 40) - - - - - - (11,997) 11,997 = (15,374) (15,374)
Dividend paid by a non-wholly —EFEENRATERRE

owned subsidiary - - - - - - - - - (850) (850)
At 31 December 2022 R02%128318 6,637 491,518 201,761 4975 (2,189) 88,119 - 95,777 886,598 3,645 890,243
The notes on pages 89 to 252 form part of these financial FRIOEBEF252EmMNEBMIIEEMBRR
statements. B —E&B 5 o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE20224128331HIEEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B sE ARBFT ARBTT
Operating activities KEES
(Loss)/profit before taxation: BrERET (B548) &R
~ Continuing operations —ERE (67,975) 58,356
— Discontinued operations —FERERE - (21)
(67,975) 58,335
Adjustments for: KR
Finance costs FE R 9(a) 24,420 22,341
Interest income A EUA 7 (178) (112)
Gain on lease modification HEEE N - (76)
Depreciation e 9(c) 73,011 76,786
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hthim & E#iE 9(c) 560 921
Write down of inventories FERT 9(c) 54,680 50,532
Reversal of write down of inventories FE R B 9(c) (61,294) (37,089)
Reversal of impairment loss of PRI R B B 1R 1 D]
accounts receivables 9(c) - (358)
Impairment loss of accounts receivables FEWERIE 2 R (ER51B 9(c) 1 1,462
Release of government grants as income BRBUT A TERUA 7 (2,503) (5.492)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME -BRERREZHE
plant and equipment 9(c) 101 657
Net loss/(gain) from financial assets at FVPL AT ESAEBRNER
BEEBR/ (Wm) $E8 6 33,699 (55,151)
Share of profit of an associate FE1E— R B E A B a A (20,894) (18,895)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR 2 W 8 (2,729) -
Gain arising from modification on other loan HMEREFEE 2 NE 8 (41,859) =
Cumulative gain on exchange differences  FhREREN—RIB= A B
from transaction of foreign operations MEBINEFHER
reclassified to profit or loss on dissolution ~ ZZEBRstUN T EF D48
of an associate FiEn 8 (2,192) =
(13,152) 93,861
Changes in working capital LEEEY
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FEmLD /() 59,757 (83,309)
Increase in accounts and bills receivables eI ES S (82,762) (9,128)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, BUREREN
deposits and other receivables HhEUGRIER L/ (8 10) 32,193 (3,079)
Decrease in trade and bills payables FE(T B 5 AR BT R4 R (8,214) (2,587)
Increase in deferred income, accruals and other — #EFEUR A ~ FESTE A K
payables HELANFE T FRIEE N 6,379 19,028
86 TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED. X/ mAmRA



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

nT [ | EE%/“LE%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE2022F128331HIEEE

2022 2021
20225 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B sE ARETRT ARBTR
Cash (used in)/generated from operations  #&&:%& (FrA) /EEXZzHE (5.799) 14,786
Interest received BIFH 2 178 112
Hong Kong tax paid BNEBIRE (3.327) (2,425)
People’s Republic of China (“PRC") tax paid BAFEAREFME (THE)
I8 (418) -
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating #&&:;ZE) (FrA) /E%XZ
activities REFE (9,366) 12,473
Investing activities BREEH
Cash receipts from dividend income REREMAZRERE 58,877 -
Deposits paid for acquisition of -7 ER =Yk
property, plant and equipment Fiid#s (11,959) (48,622)
Payment for the purchase of BEYE BRERZEHZAM
property, plant and equipment (346,508) (119,144)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEME BB RS ERFT
equipment 1FRIE 43 -
Net cash flow on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR ZFRERH 40 11,737 -
Payment for the purchase of BEHMEIEEZ MW
other intangible assets 21 (191) (436)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HERAFEFARMER
at fair value through WENEMEEMMETRIER
other comprehensive income 19 12,707 19,492
Net cash used in investing activities REZBFIAZ
RERH (275,294) (148,710)
Financing activities B ES
Dividends declared by subsidiaries to B AR BT IFERER
non-controlling interests BIBE 2 (850) =
Capital reduction paid to non-controlling BN —ENE A BIEER
shareholder of subsidiary REZBARHD (296) (10,139)
Capital element of finance lease rentals paid EAMEREHEZERED (12,285) (13,507)
Interest element of finance lease rentals paid ENRERERE 2 F B 5 (1,347) (1,878)
Proceeds from bank advances for discounted RITAIRERER
bills PRiGFRIE 133,990 =
Repayment of bank advances for discounted BRERIFTHRER
bills B (85,447) -
Proceeds from new bank loans WMELIRTENFEIIE 249,600 132,400
Proceeds from new other loans HitniEE ERFERIE 75,998 45,000
Repayment of bank loans BIRIRTTEN (18,000) (8,000)
Repayment of other loans BiEREMER (53,530) (8,656)
Interest paid BAHE (1,110 (1,355)
Net cash generated from financing activities FEEBELZHEFE 286,723 133,865
TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED. X% EnRAz) 87



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE20224128331HIEEE

2022 2021
20225 20215
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B sE ARETRT AR®BTR
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and RERREEEMZ

cash equivalents @m, (R $58 2,063 (2,372)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January PR1B1BZRERREEEN 62,864 60,298
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net JMEEZRS 8 & FE (2,458) 4,938
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December R12A31HZBHERRSEHEY 62,469 62,864
The notes on pages 89 to 252 form part of these financial FROBEFE252EMNE WM IILEZEMNHFRR

statements. B —E73 e
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Tianli Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 6 March 2007
as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised). The Company’s registered office
address is the office of Conyers Trust Company (Cayman)
Limited, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands, and the head
office and the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong was located at Unit 2711-12, 27/F, The
Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 39.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs"”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
The consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs which
are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from the initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current
and prior accounting periods reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) and the
Group’s interest in an associate.

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in
the Group are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). These financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB") which is the Company’s
functional currency and the Group's presentation currency,
and all value are rounded to the nearest thousand RMB
except where otherwise indicated.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except that
the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair
value as explained in the accounting policies:

= financial assets at FVPL (see note 2(i)); and
- financial assets at FVOCI (see note 2(i)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
IFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of IFRSs that have a significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainly are
discussed in note 4.

) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interest

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered. The Group reassesses whether or
not it controls an entity if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the elements of
control.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and any
unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Q) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interest
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the owners of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income or loss for the year between
non-controlling interests and the owners of the Company.
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. Loans from holders of
non-controlling interests and other contractual obligations
towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Q) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interest
(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and
no gain or loss is recognised. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted,
and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable IFRSs). Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate.

In the Company's statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
loss (see note 2(0)), unless the investment is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

d) Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant
influence, but not control or joint control, over its
management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity
method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for
sale). The financial statements of an associate used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at
cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the
acquisition-date fair values of the investee's identifiable
net assets over the cost of the investment. The cost of the
investment includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and
any direct investment into the associate that forms part
of the investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted
for the post acquisition change in the Group's share of
the investee's net assets and any impairment loss relating
to the investment. At each reporting date, the Group
assesses whether there is any objective evidence that the
investment is impaired. Any acquisition date excess of
the Group'’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment (after
reassessment), the Group's share of the post-acquisition,
post-tax results of the investees and any impairment
losses for the year are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other
comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

d) Associates (Continued)

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group'’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee.
For this purpose, the Group's interest is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method,
together with the Group's any other long-term interests
that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associate are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment
in an associate or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

d) Associates (Continued)

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have joint
control over a joint venture or significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that
former investee at the date when joint control or significant
influence is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset. In addition, the Group accounts for all
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate on the same basis as
would be required if that associate had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income
by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as
a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is
discontinued.

e) Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a
business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first
to financial assets/financial liabilities at the respective fair
values, the remaining balance of the purchase price is then
allocated to the other identifiable assets/liabilities on the
basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase.
Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain
purchase gain.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

f) Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment,
other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses:

- interests in leasehold land and buildings where
the Group is the registered owner of the property
interest;

- right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold
properties where the Group is not the registered
owner of the property interest; and

- other items of property, plant and equipment,
including right-of-use assets arising from leases of
underlying property, plant and equipment.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciation.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

f) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, less their estimated residual value, if any, using
the straight line method over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

2. RUBERFBEHER (B

f) HE -BERRMEGE

FEDRYE - BMERKXKHBER (FRIERK
5h) IR AR E A s RIGREE (WH) > T it
EEtRAIERFRRNUNBEG AT E MM :

Estimated useful lives Residual values

5t T SR 4R fhstER{E
Buildings 40 years or over the remaining term of 10%
the lease, if shorter
s A0F B FERFH UREERE)
Leasehold improvements 3 years or over the remaining term of 0%
the lease, if shorter
HEMEEE IFSAERGFFH UUBEERE)
Plant and machinery 5-10 years 10%
B P e 1% 23 5-104F
Office and other equipment 3-10 years 0%-10%
WA S BAth ez 3-104F
Motor vehicles 4-10 years 0%-10%
AE 4-10%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at the end of each reporting period.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the profit or loss in the period the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

f) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Construction in progress represents plant and equipment
under construction, which is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction during the period of
construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for its intended use.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

g) Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest (see note 2(n))
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation.
Such properties are initially measured at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is calculated on the
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 40
years.

Investment properties also include leased properties which
are being recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased
by the Group under operating leases.

Any gains or losses from the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the profit or loss.
Rental income from investment properties is accounted for
as described in note 2(v)(iii).

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent
accounting is its carrying amount at the date of change
in use. If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-
occupied property becomes an investment property, the
Group accounts for such property in accordance with the
policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment” up to
the date of change in use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

h) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the Group's statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

i) Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
ay purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently
in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.
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i)

Notes to the Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification of financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are
measured subsequently at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are
measured subsequently at FVOCI:

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling the financial
assets; and

the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Classification of financial assets (Continued)

By default, all other financial assets are measured
subsequently at FVPL.

Despite the foregoing, the Group may make the following
irrevocable election/designation at initial recognition of a
financial asset:

o the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income if certain
criteria are met (see (i) below); and

o the Group may irrevocably designate a debt
investment that meets the amortised cost or FVOCI
criteria as measured at FVPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

() Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets (that is, assets that are
credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
excluding expected credit losses (“ECL"), through the
expected life of the debt instrument or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the
debt instrument on initial recognition. For purchased or
originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted
effective interest rate is calculated by discounting the
estimated future cash flows, including ECL to the amortised
cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Classification of financial assets (Continued)

() Amortised cost and effective interest method
(Continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at
which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition
minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative
amortisation using the effective interest method of any
difference between that initial amount and the maturity
amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross carrying
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost and at FVOCI. For financial assets other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in
subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Classification of financial assets (Continued)

() Amortised cost and effective interest method
(Continued)

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets, the Group recognises interest income by applying
the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from initial recognition. The
calculation does not revert to the gross basis even if the
credit risk of the financial asset subsequently improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is
included in the “other income — interest income” line item
(note 7).

(i) Equity instruments designated at FVOCI

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable
election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to
designate investments in equity instruments at FVOCI.
Designation at FVOCI is not permitted if the equity
investment is held for trading or if it is contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling it in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has evidence of a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a
financial guarantee contract or a designated and
effective hedging instrument).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Classification of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Equity instruments designated at FVOCI (Continued)

Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently,
they are measured at fair value with gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling). The cumulative gain or loss is not
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the equity
investments. Instead, it is transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9,
unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of
the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the
‘other income’ line item in profit or loss.

The Group has designated all investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading at FVOCI on initial
application of IFRS 9.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Classification of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Equity instruments designated at FVOCI (Continued)

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (see (i) to (ii) above)
are measured at FVPL. Specifically:

o Investments in equity instruments are classified
as FVPL, unless the Group designates an equity
investment that is neither held for trading nor a
contingent consideration arising from a business
combination at FVOCI on initial recognition (see (ii)
above).

o Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised
cost criteria or the FVOCI criteria (see (i) and (ii)
above) are classified as FVPL. In addition, debt
instruments that meet either the amortised cost
criteria or the FVOCI criteria may be designated at
FVPL upon initial recognition if such designation
eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement
or recognition inconsistency (so called ‘accounting
mismatch’) that would arise from measuring assets
r liabilities or recognising the gains and losses
on them on different bases. The Group has not
designated any debt instruments at FVPL.

Financial assets at FVPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not
part of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the
‘other income’ line item (note 7). Fair value is determined in
the manner described in note 41(a).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end
of each reporting period. Specifically;

o for financial assets measured at amortised cost that
are not part of a designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss
in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item (note 8);

o for debt instruments measured at FVOCI that are
not part of a designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences on the amortised cost of
the debt instrument are recognised in profit or
loss in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item (note
8). Other exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income in the investments
revaluation reserve;

o for financial assets measured at FVPL that are not
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the
‘other gains and losses’ line item (note 8); and

o for equity instruments measured at FVOCI, exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income in the fair value reserve (non-recycling).

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
investments in debt instruments that are measured at
amortised cost or at FVOCI, accounts and bills receivables,
as well as on financial guarantee contracts. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial
instrument.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts
and bills receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including the
time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognizes
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk
on the financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal
to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will
result from all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events on a financial instrument that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when (i) the borrower
is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (ii) the financial asset is 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate. The Group considers both
guantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
() Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
() Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(a) The financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(b)  The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term,
and

(c) Adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit
risk when the asset has external credit rating of ‘investment
grade’ in accordance with the globally understood
definition or, if an external rating is not available, the asset
has an internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means
that the counterparty has a strong financial position and
there is no past due amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for
the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition
of a financial guarantee contract, the Group considers the
changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on
the contract.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
() Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes
as historical experience indicates that financial assets that
meet either of the following criteria are generally not
recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
debtor; or
o information developed internally or obtained from

external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collateral held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event (see (i) above);

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries
made are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (that is, the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward
looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date;
for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the
amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together
with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down
in the future by default date determined based on historical
trend, the Group’s understanding of the specific future
financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward
looking information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
original effective interest rate. For a lease receivable, the
cash flows used for determining the ECL is consistent with
the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable in
accordance with IFRS 16 Leases.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed, the expected loss allowance is the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to receive
from the holder, the debtor or any other party.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in debt
instruments that are measured at FVOCI, for which the loss
allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve, and
does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset
in the statement of financial position.

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there was objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets was impaired. An impairment
existed if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset had an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence
of impairment may include indications that a debtor or
a group of debtors was experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation and observable data
indicating that there was a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assessed whether impairment exists individually
for financial assets that were individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that were not individually
significant. If the Group determined that no objective
evidence of impairment existed for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it included
the asset in a group of financial assets with similar
credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed them
for impairment. Assets that were individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss was,
or continued to be, recognised were not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If
the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

On the derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss. In addition, on
the derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument
classified as at FVOCI, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the investments revaluation
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. In contrast, on the
derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is not reclassified to
profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.

)} Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deductingall
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

k) Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVPL.

However, financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a
financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when
the continuing involvement approach applies, and financial
guarantee contracts issued by the Group, are measured in
accordance with the specific accounting policies set out
below.

Financial liabilities are classified as FVPL when the financial
liability is (i) contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination; (ii) held for trading; or
(iii) designated at FVPL.

Financial liabilities at FVPL
A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a
financial guarantee contract or a designated and
effective hedging instrument.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

k) Financial liabilities (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVPL (Continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for
trading or contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination may be designated as at
FVPL upon initial recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

o the financial liability forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group's
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

o it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9 permits the entire
combined contract to be designated as at FVPL.

Financial liabilities at FVPL are measured at fair value,
with any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they are not
part of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest
paid on the financial liability and is included in the ‘other
gains and losses’ line item (note 8) in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

k) Financial liabilities (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVPL (Continued)

However, for financial liabilities that are designated at FVPL,
the amount of change in the fair value of the financial
liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of
that liability is recognised in other comprehensive income,
unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the
liability's credit risk in other comprehensive income would
create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or
loss. The remaining amount of change in the fair value
of liability is recognised in profit or loss. Changes in fair
value attributable to a financial liability's credit risk that
are recognised in other comprehensive income are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are
transferred to retained earnings upon derecognition of the
financial liability.

Gains or losses on financial guarantee contracts issued by
the Group that are designated by the Group as at FVPL are
recognised in profit or loss.

Fair value is determined in the manner described in note
41(a).

Financial liabilities measured subsequently at
amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent
consideration of an acquirer in a business combination, (i)
held-for-trading, or (iii) designated as at FVPL, are measured
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

k) Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities measured subsequently at
amortised cost (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a
financial liability.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign
currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end
of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains
and losses are determined based on the amortised cost
of the instruments. These foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in the ‘other gains and losses line
item in profit or loss (note 8) for financial liabilities that
are not part of a designated hedging relationship. For
those which are designated as a hedging instrument for a
hedge of foreign currency risk, foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in a separate component of equity.

The fair value of financial liabilities denominated in a
foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency
and translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting
period. For financial liabilities that are measured at FVPL,
the foreign exchange component forms part of the fair
value gains or losses and is recognised in profit or loss for
financial liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

k) Financial liabilities (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group'’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

When the Group exchanges with the existing lender
one debt instrument for another with substantially
different terms, such exchange is accounted for as an
extinguishment of the original financial liability and
the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the
Group accounts for substantial modification of terms
of an existing liability or part of it as an extinguishment
of the original financial liability and the recognition of a
new liability. It is assumed that the terms are substantially
different if the discounted present value of the cash flows
under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any
fees received and discounted using the original effective
rate is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted
present value of the remaining cash flows of the original
financial liability. If the modification is not substantial, the
difference between: (1) the carrying amount of the liability
before the modification; and (2) the present value of the
cash flows after modification should be recognised in profit
or loss as the modification gain or loss within other gains
and losses.

1) Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

m) Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at the end of each reporting period.

The following intangible assets with finite useful lives are
amortised from the date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

— computer software 10 years straight-line

n) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from
that use.

(i) As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease components and non-
lease components, the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component for all leases.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMERAE
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 &#

2. RUBERFBEHER (B

m) EEEE

SITWBRETL B E IR )16 78 R 1R B A 5t
B REBOHBRMUBELEENRESR
WEBBRNATE BREENABEHTG
HBERVER-BEERUBFHNETLEE
Hegear BNEEFHRFRE TE8ER
FRETETLEEFECHERETRET
M- BREARIREMZETLEENEHRN
B ZEELRBREPRIFR -

T AEERFBAENHZETLEESHA#
ERHRAREESE HAstIBAEHNT ¢

K

‘R

7]

- BisE 4 10FE BRI

ﬂ\
I

n) THEERE

FERR GOV RFEEBGNRECBHEE
HESHEHE - HENABRRNANEMBEBR —K
REANEHNEENERZERRE IZEGL
BREAExNEEHEHE - EXRARIETEHRH
EEZRAERRZBEREEREMNEEN
mo BNBER HEH o

() EBEEA

HENEIEERDKIFEER D xEEHE
EREABDFHER D UMFAEREREHE
ERXoREMEKBIFEHELRSARSE -

BEEae



Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

n) Leased assets (Continued)
(i) As a lessee (Continued)

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognizes
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets which, for the Group are
primarily office and other equipment. When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-
by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments (less
any lease incentives receivable) payable over the lease term,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or,
if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest method.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or rate are not included in the measurement of the
lease liability and hence are charged to profit or loss in
the accounting period in which they are incurred. Lease
payments also include amounts expected to be payable by
the Group under residual value guarantees; the exercise
price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise the option; and payments of penalties
for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising an option to terminate the lease.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

n) Leased assets (Continued)
(i) As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises the
initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, and any initial
direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the
right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities
other than adjustments to lease liabilities resulting from
COVID19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient.

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is
accounted for separately from the right-of-use assets
in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to
investments in debt securities carried at amortised cost
(see notes 2(v)(vi) and 2(i)). Any difference between the
initial fair value and the nominal value of the deposits is
accounted for as additional lease payments made and is
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

n) Leased assets (Continued)
(i) As a lessee (Continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property in “property, plant
and equipment”, the same line item within which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they
were owned. Right-of-use assets that meet the definition
of investment property are presented within “investment
properties”.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in the Group's estimate
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate
lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on
the revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.
The only exceptions are rent concessions that occurred
as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and
met the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of IFRS 16
Leases. In such cases, the Group has taken advantage of
the practical expedient not to assess whether the rent
concessions are lease modifications, and recognized the
change in consideration as negative variable lease payment
in profit or loss in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the rent concessions occurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

n) Leased assets (Continued)
(i) As a lessee (Continued)

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position. In the
consolidated statement of financial position, the current
portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as the
present value of contractual payments that are due to be
settled within twelve months after the reporting period.

(i)  As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this
is not the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term except for
investment properties measured under fair value model.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis. The rental income from operating leases is recognised
in accordance with note 2(w)(iii).

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

n) Leased assets (Continued)
(i)  As a lessor (Continued)

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-lease is
classified as a finance lease or as an operating lease with
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which the
Group applies the exemption described in note 2(n)(i), then
the Group classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided
through forgiveness or reduction of rentals. The Group
accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating
to the original lease as part of the lease payments for the
new lease. For rent concession under which the Group
legally releases the lessee from its obligation to make
specifically identified lease payments, of which some of
these lease payments are contractually due but not paid
and some of them are not yet contractually due, the Group
accounts for the portions which have been recognised as
operating lease receivables (i.e. the lease payments which
are contractually due but not paid) by applying the ECL and
derecognition requirements under IFRS 9 and applies lease
modification requirements for the forgiven lease payments
that the Group has not recognised (i.e. the lease payments
which are not yet contractually due) as at the effective date
of modification.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

0) Impairment of non-financial assets
(i) Impairment of non-financial assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that the following assets may be impaired or an impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including right-of-
use assets;

- investment properties;

- interest in an associate;

- deposits and prepayments;
- other intangible assets; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company's
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. In addition, intangible assets that are not yet
available for use and intangible assets that have indefinite
useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated annually
whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows independently (that is, a cash-generating unit).
A portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (for
example, head office building) is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if the allocation can be done on a
reasonable and consistent basis, or to the smallest group of
cash-generating units if otherwise.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

0) Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
(i) Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever
the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating
unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the
assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying amount of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

The Group assesses whether there is objective evidence
that the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill)
is tested for impairment as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

0) Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
(i) Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
- Reversal of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.

(ij)  Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group
is required to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with IAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting, in
respect of the first six months of the financial year. At the
end of the interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it
would at the end of the financial year (see notes 2(i) and

2(p)(i)-
p) Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits,
the availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which
does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

q) Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary
course of business, in the process of production for such
sale or in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed
in the production process or in the rendering of services.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis
and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental
costs directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental
costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised
as an expense in the period the write-down or loss
occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which
the reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

r) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECLs in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(i).

Cash at bank excludes bank balances that are subject
to regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash. Bank balances for
which use by the Group is subject to third party contractual
restrictions are included as part of cash unless the
restrictions result in a bank balance no longer meeting the
definition of cash. Contractual restrictions affecting use of
bank balances are disclosed in note 26.

s) Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(ij)  Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme, a share
award scheme and other share award agreement for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group's operations. Employees (including directors) of the
Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payment transactions, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”) of the Company.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

s) Employee benefits (Continued)
(ij)  Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted. The fair value is determined by
an external valuer using a binomial lattice model or Black-
Scholes Option Pricing Model, if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period represents
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at
the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting
is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition,
which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not
the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-
based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee
as measured at the date of modification.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

s) Employee benefits (Continued)
(ij)  Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings/
loss per share.

t) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses
and unused tax credits.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

t) Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal of
existing taxable temporary differences, provided that those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary differences or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets
and liabilities are those temporary differences arising from
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not
part of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will
reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

t) Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against
deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions
are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or
realise and settle simultaneously.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

u) Provisions and contingent liabilities
(i) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
nonoccurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(ii)  Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the group has a
contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting
the obligations under the contract exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received from the contract.
Provisions for onerous contracts are measured at the
present value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the net cost of fulfilling with
the contract.

Prior to application of HKAS 37 amendments on 1 January
2022, the Group only considers incremental costs when
assessing whether a contract is onerous or loss-making.
Effective 1 January 2022, outstanding unfulfilled contracts
as at 1 January 2022 are assessed by considering both
the incremental costs and an allocation of other costs (to
specify, e.g. an allocation of the depreciation charge for an
item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling that
contract) that relate directly to fulfilling contracts.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

V) Revenue recognition

In determining whether the Group acts as a principal or
as an agent, it considers whether it obtains control of the
products or services before they are transferred to the
customers. Control refers to the Group’s ability to direct the
use of and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits
from the products or services.

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods or the provision of services or the
use by others of the Group’s assets under leases in the
ordinary course of the Group's business.

Revenue is recognised when a performance obligation is
satisfied, that is, when control over a product or service
underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the right to
use the asset, at the amount of promised consideration
to which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding
those amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

V) Revenue recognition (Continued)

o the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with IFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration that is, only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the
customer for more than 12 months, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the effective
interest method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The Group
takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63
of IFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any
effects of a significant financing component if the period of
financing is 12 months or less.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

V) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes possession
of and accepts the products. If the products are a partial
fulfilment of a contract covering other goods and/or
services, then the amount of revenue recognised is an
appropriate proportion of the total transaction price under
the contract, allocated between all the goods and services
promised under the contract on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.

(ii)  Advisory and management services

Revenue from the provision of advisory and management
services is recognised over the scheduled period on a
straight-line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

(iij)  Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over
the periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are earned.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

V) Revenue recognition (Continued)
(iv)  Finance lease income

The income under finance lease is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss using the effective
interest rate implicit in the lease over the term of the lease.
Contingent rent is recognised as income in the period in
which it is earned.

(v)  Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established.

(vi) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For financial assets (other
than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets) measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling)
that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate
is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For
credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate
is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount
net of loss allowance) of the asset.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

V) Revenue recognition (Continued)
(viij) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic basis
in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred.
Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset
are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or
loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful life of
the related asset/deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and consequently are effectively recognised in profit
or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.

w) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss, except
those arising from foreign currency borrowings used to
hedge a net investment in a foreign operation which
are recognised in other comprehensive income and for
exchange differences on monetary items receivable from
or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group’s net investment in the foreign
operation.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

w) Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates
and are not re-translated. The transaction date is the
date on which the Company initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the dates the fair value was measured. When a fair
value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is also recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income.

The results of foreign operations are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Statement of financial position items are translated into
RMB at the closing foreign exchange rates ruling at the
end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in consolidated equity in the
exchange fluctuation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in an associate/a joint venture that includes a
foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a
financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

w) Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences is re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and is not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint
ventures that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control respectively), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss. Settlements of monetary items
which formed part of net investment in foreign operations
without changes in the Group’s ownership interests is not
considered as partial disposals.

X) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

X) Borrowing costs (Continued)

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for
its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

Any specific borrowing that remains outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

y) Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of the group and which
represents a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is part of a single coordinated plan to
dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively
with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the
operation is abandoned.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

y) Discontinued operations (Continued)

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented on the face of the statement of profit
or loss, which comprises:

- the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operation; and

- the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or
on the disposal, of the assets or disposal group(s)
constituting the discontinued operation.

2) Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified
as a separate allocation of retained earnings within the
equity section of the consolidated statement of financial
position, until they have been approved by the shareholders
in a general meeting. When these dividends have been
approved by the shareholders and declared, they are
recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company's memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties

A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

aa) Related parties (Continued)

b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

Vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

viii)  The entity or any member of a group of which it is
a part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

ab) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group's board of directors (the chief operating decision
maker) for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to IFRSs issued by the IASB:

Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual
IFRS 3 Framework

Amendments to Property, Plant and Equipment:
IAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling

IAS 37 a Contract

Amendments to Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-
IFRSs 2020 Cycle

Accounting Merger Accounting for Common
Guideline 5 Control Combinations
(Revised)

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. Except as described below, the
application of the amendments to IFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group's financial
positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these financial
statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

The Group has applied the amendments to business
combinations for which the acquisition date was on or
after 1 January 2022. The amendments update a reference
in IFRS 3 Business Combinations so that it refers to the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued by
International Accounting Standards Board in March 2018
(the “Conceptual Framework") instead of the International
Accounting Standards Committee’s Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements
(replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in September 2010), add a requirement
that, for transactions and events within the scope of IAS 37
or IFRIC 21, an acquirer applies IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 instead
of the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it
has assumed in a business combination and add an explicit
statement that an acquirer does not recognise contingent
assets acquired in a business combination.

The application of the amendments in the current year
has had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments prohibit an entity from deducting the
proceeds from selling items produced before that asset is
available for use from the cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment. Instead, the sales proceeds and the related
costs should be included in profit and loss. The cost of the
items is measured in accordance with IAS 2.

The amendments do not have a material impact on these
financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets: Onerous Contracts -
Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous, the cost of fulfilling the
contract includes both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract and an allocation of other costs that relate
directly to fulfilling contracts. Previously, the Group included
only incremental costs when determining whether a
contract was onerous.

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group
has applied the new accounting policy to contracts for
which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at 1 January
2022, and has concluded that none of them is onerous.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2018-2020 Cycle

The annual improvements make amendments to the
following standards:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing
whether modification of terms of original financial liability
constitutes substantial modification under the “10 per
cent” test, a borrower includes only fees paid or received
between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid
or received by either the borrower or the lender on the
other’s behalf.

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group
applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are
modified or exchanged as at the date of initial application,
1 January 2022.

IFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to lllustrative Example 13 accompanying
IFRS 16 removes from the example the illustration of
reimbursement relating to leasehold improvements by the
lessor in order to remove any potential confusion.

The application of the amendments in the current year
has had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the
end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

a) Critical accounting judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following accounting
judgements:

(i) Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases
on its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of these
properties which are leased out on operating leases.

(ii) Classification between investment properties
and owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore,
the Group considers whether a property generates cash
flows largely independent of the other assets held by the
Group.
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

a) Critical accounting judgements (Continued)

(ij)  Classification between investment properties
and owner-occupied properties (Continued)

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion
that is held for use in the supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be
sold separately or leased out separately under a finance
lease, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If
the portions could not be sold separately, the property
is an investment property only if an insignificant portion
is held for use in the supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an
individual property basis to determine whether ancillary
services are so significant that a property does not qualify
as an investment property.

(iif)  Control on structured entities

The Group’s management needs to assess whether the
Group has all the following: (a) power over the structured
entity; (b) exposure to significant variable returns from its
involvement with the structured entity; and (c) the ability
to use its power over the structured entity to affect its
returns. If such power, exposure and ability exist, the Group
has to consolidate such structured entity. When the Group
served as manager or trustee of the structured entity, the
Group uses the following judgement to determine whether
control exists in a structured entity: the scope of decision
making as a manager or trustee, the power held by other
parties, the remuneration and the exposure to variability of
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls a
structured entity if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

a) Critical accounting judgements (Continued)
(iiij)  Control on structured entities (Continued)

For private equity funds where the Group involves as both
general partner and limited partner, the Group assesses
whether the combination of investments it holds together
with its remuneration creates exposure to variability of
returns from the activities of the fund that is of such
significance that it indicates that the fund manager is a
principal. The fund shall be consolidated if the Group acts
in the role of principal.

(iv) Classification of financial assets

The Group’s management needs to make critical judgement
in classifying financial assets based on the purpose
and nature on the initial recognition date. Due to the
differences of the subsequent measurement of financial
assets, the classification will affect the financial position
and operating results.

(v)  Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowance for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group's past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions
and inputs used are disclosed in the tables in note 41(b).
The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

b) Estimation uncertainty

(i) Estimated useful lives and estimated residual
values of property, plant and equipment
and investment property (Carrying amount:
RMB776,901,000 (2021: RMB501,885,000))

In determining the estimated useful lives and estimated
residual values of items of property, plant and equipment,
and investment property the Group has to consider various
factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence
arising from changes or improvements in production, or
from a change in the market demand for the product or
service output of the asset, expected usage of the asset,
expected physical wear and tear, the care and maintenance
of the asset, and legal or similar limits on the use of the
asset. The estimation of the useful life of the asset is based
on the experience of the Group with similar assets that
are used in a similar way. Additional depreciation is made
if the estimated useful lives and/or the residual values of
items of property, plant and equipment are different from
the previous estimation. Useful lives and residual values
are reviewed at the end of the reporting period based on
changes in circumstances.

(ii)  Fair value measurement of financial
instruments (Carrying amount: RMB412,061,000
(2021: RMB421,527,000))

The Group uses valuation technique for financial
instruments which are not quoted in an active market.
Valuation techniques include the use of discounted cash
flows analysis or other valuation methods as appropriate.
To the extent practical, models use only observable data.
However, areas such as cash flows, credit risk, volatilities,
discount rates and correlations require management
to make estimates. Whilst the Group considers these
valuations are the best estimates, inflationary environment
and interest rates hike have resulted in greater market
volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could
affect the estimated fair value of financial instruments.
As at 31 December 2022, the total fair value of level
3 financial assets that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis amounted to RMB412,061,000 (2021:
RMB421,527,000).

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMERAE
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 &#

4. FEESHHETRMAES &

b) EFtZFRERR

() ¥ BERRERIREYEZ G
B HFER R 51ER1E (REE - A
#%776,901,000;T (2021 : AR #
501,885,0005T))

REEME BERREURKRENEERZ
GEtR R ER ARG HRER  AEBRAZRES
HAR BEREERS U NES| RRMAE
FRE -AATSHAREEZERNRER
HZHBRAE - BEEZRBPERABER RHEY
BREBR BEZHERERBEEZERARER
HBLURHRER - BEERBFRHZAFREE
EREBEUATHAREEZEUEEZERT
HefM¥E-BERRBEB 2G5 BEH
R/SGEEANEZGHEER  METRE
SMTE-FRFERARFENRRSHARBRIRE
BT AR T o

(i) ZTHITAZLAFEF=Z GREE:A
E#412,061,0005T (20214F : A B
421,527,0005z))

HRUEIZBEXSMHERENEMIA K
EEMRBAGEER L ZEEEREZEER
BRE/RFMBEISMBEMBENHEL L
ERERT EEERBOURREE -BH—
e MRERE-EERAR K TR
MR AEEEEBHHEETH &
EAREERAZSEHEAREMT  BERIR
BRAXEACENEANTSE RIS - ZEH
ZNERARIREITHERMIANGHSAF
EEEFE -NR2022F12831H FEET
ANTEFENE-"EBRESMEEN QA FEHE
A ANRMA412,061,00070 (20214 © AR
421,527,0007T) °©



Notes to the Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
UNCERTAINTIES (Continued)

b) Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iij)  Deferred tax assets (Carrying amount:
RMB29,213,000 (2021: RMB28,296,000))

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences and
losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets
that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax
planning strategies.

(iv) Impairment assessment of non-financial assets
(Carrying amount: RMB845,823,000 (2021:
RMB629,940,000))

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of
each reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
nit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit
and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
UNCERTAINTIES (Continued)

b) Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

w) Write-down of inventories to net realizable
value (Carrying amount: RMB195,060,000
(2021: RMB248,203,000))

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value is made
based on the estimated net realisable value of inventories.
The assessment of the required write-down amount
involves management'’s judgement and estimates. Where
the actual outcome or expectation in future is different
from the original estimate, such difference will have an
impact on the carrying amounts of inventories and the
write-down charge/write-back amount in the period in
which such estimate has been changed.

(vi)  Provision of ECL for accounts and bills
receivables (Carrying amount: RMB261,595,000
(2021: RMB190,975,000))

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECL for
accounts and bills receivables. The provision rates are based
on days past due as groupings of various debtors that have
similar loss patterns.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
UNCERTAINTIES (Continued)

b) Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(vi)  Provision of ECL for accounts and bills
receivables (Carrying amount: RMB261,595,000
(2021: RMB190,975,000)) (Continued)

The provision matrix is based on the Group's historical
default rates taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available
without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are reassessed and
changes in the forward-looking information are considered.
In addition, accounts and bills receivables with significant
balances and credit impaired are assessed for ECL
individually.

(vii) Tax payable (Carrying amount: RMB10,968,000
(2021: RMB10,576,000))

The subsidiaries of the Company are subject to income
tax in the PRC and Hong Kong. Significant judgement
is required in determining the provision for income tax.
There are many transactions for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current tax and deferred
tax provisions in the financial period in which such
determination is made.
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

5. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by business lines. In a manner consistent with
the way in which information is reported internally to the
Board (the chief operating decision maker) for the purposes
of resources allocation and performance assessment,
the Group has presented the following three reportable
segments. No operating segments have been aggregated
to form the following reportable segments.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
ceased its businesses in other general trading which are
classified as discontinued operations for the year ended 31
December 2021. Further details of the businesses in other
general trading are set out in note 15.

Continuing operations:
(i) MLCC: manufacturing and sale of MLCC; and

(ii) Investment and financial services; including but
not limited to (i) direct investments in debt, equity
and/or any other asset; (ii) asset management; (iii)
provision of financial advisory services; and (iv)
financial technologies.

Discontinued operations:

(i) Other general trading: trading of goods other
than MLCC, including but not limited to electronic
components and commodities such as metals,
minerals and petroleum products.

a) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Board monitors
the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each
reportable segment on the following basis:
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

a) Segment results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

Segment assets include all tangible assets, intangible assets,
deferred tax assets and current assets with the exception
of corporate assets. Segment liabilities include all payables,
deferred income and deferred tax liabilities attributable to
the activities of the individual segments and borrowings
managed directly by the segments.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation or
amortization of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit/(loss) is
earnings and loss of each segment without allocation of
corporate interest income, other corporate income, central
administrative expenses, central finance costs and income
tax.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
segment profit/(loss), the Board is provided with segment
information concerning revenue, interest income,
depreciation and amortisation, write-down of inventories,
reversal of write-down of inventories, impairment losses
of accounts receivables, reversal of impairment losses of
accounts receivables, finance costs, share of profit/(loss)
of an associates, income tax and additions to noncurrent
segment assets (other than financial instruments and
deferred tax assets) used by the segments in their
operations.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group'’s accounting policies.
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

5. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

a) Segment results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by the timing of revenue recognition, as well as information
regarding the Group's reportable segments as provided
to the Board for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance for the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021 is set out below:

5. ZEEHmE E
a) NHER-BERER (A

B E2022F K2021F12H31BLEEE 21K
ABIFEE D Z2ELEHWA  UKREHF
EEGUETERDRE DI RIREITTME
ZHAREBZAZRDIELHIAOT -

Year ended 31 December 2022

HZE2022512831A L EE
Continuing operations
RHEREER
Investment
and financial
MLCC services Total
rEH
MLCC B a5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR AR%®TrR AREBT=®
Segment revenue: DEWA
Disaggregated by timing of revenue e ON RS S
recognition
Point in time BIBFRESD 356,609 (33,699) 322,910
Over time b B I e 50 - 38,467 38,467
Revenue from external customers REBIMBER ZIRA 356,609 4,768 361,377
Segment (loss)/profit E (B518) @A (106,280) 9,855 (96,425)
Corporate interest income EEFBWA 1
Other corporate income Ht b2 A 57,757
Central administrative expenses RRITHER (8,700)
Central finance costs NN (20,608)
Consolidated loss before taxation PRI AR S B 1E (67,975)
Segment assets NEEE 1,186,425 627,962 1,814,387
Cash and bank balances RE KIRTEER 255
Unallocated corporate assets KPR EEE 55
Consolidated total assets REBEERE 1,814,697
Segment liabilities pag:i3=Ri 644,048 2,059 646,107
Other loan HME™M 276,614
Other unallocated corporate Ht kX8R
liabilities 3,733
Consolidated total liabilities REaEast 926,454
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A5 ER R MIEE

5. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

a) Segment results, assets and liabilities

(Continued)

5. WS E

a) NHEHE-BERER (A

Year ended 31 December 2022

HZE2022£128310ILEE
Discontinued
Continuing operations operations
3Fﬁ"§
FHBREER REER
Investment Other
and financial general
MLCC services trading Total
BB Hith
MLCC TRIARTE —RES fEzt
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTr AR¥ETR AREBTR ARETr®
Other segment information Bt EER
Additions to non-current assets NEFERDEE 360,020 69 - 360,089
Unallocated K0 -
360,089
Depreciation and amortisation IE R (70,266) (3,305) - (73,571)
Unallocated R0 -
(73,571)
Interest income HIBA 170 7 - 177
Unallocated corporate interest RDFEEEFRIKA
income 1
178
Finance costs =N (3,714) (98) - (3,812)
Unallocated K0 (20,608)
(24,420)
Income tax credit/(expense) PR8ISR,/ B 5,847 (2,591) - 3,256
Unallocated R0 -
3,256
Impairment loss of accounts P IR B R 18
receivables (1) - - (1)
Write-down of inventories FEHRE (54,680) - - (54,680)
Reversal of write-down of FE R
inventories 61,294 - - 61,294
Share of profit of an associate FE(L— R E A B - 20,894 - 20,894
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

5. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

a) Segment results, assets and liabilities

(Continued)

5. ZEEHmE E
a) NHER-BERER (A

Year ended 31 December 2021

HE20215128318ILEE
Discontinued
Continuing operations operations
FERE
RBREE RExH
Investment
and financial Other
MLCC services general trading Total
MLCC TR Htt—RES HET
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®BTRT ARETR ARETR
Segment revenue: SEA
Disaggregated by timing of revenue  $RUX A HEERBE R E] 9
recognition
Point in time ANBFRESD 444 589 55,151 - 499,740
Over time RERF B RS - 48,767 - 48,767
Revenue from external customers RBIMNERR ZIRA 444,589 103,918 = 548,507
Segment profit/(loss) AEREF, (§518) 298 99,500 1) 99,777
Central administrative expenses RRITHE R (21,953)
Central finance costs R Y AR (19,489)
Consolidated profit before taxation ~ BRIRATAR & & A 58,335
Segment assets NEEE 957,320 630,111 1,553 1,588,984
Cash and bank balances BE MIRITHE R 491
Unallocated corporate assets APEEXEE 67
Consolidated total assets RRBEEMRE 1,589,542
Segment liabilities pak: =N 394,577 4,256 852 399,685
Other loans HhE® 237,302
Other unallocated corporate liabilites E Ak HE £ & E 4113
Consolidated total liabilities ira B EEs 641,100
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

a) Segment results, assets and liabilities

(Continued)

A5 ER R MIEE

5. WS E
a) NHEHE-BERER (A

Year ended 31 December 2021

BE2021E12B31HEEE
Discontinued
Continuing operations operations
JEE
FEREE RE 2
Investment
and financial  Other general
MLCC services trading Total
MLCC SRR% Hitt—RES 1Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT AEBETT ARETRT ARETRT
Other segment information Hith EpEt
Additions to non-current assets NEFENIEE 207,973 = = 207,973
Unallocated K0 =
207,973
Interest in an associate R—EH=E Az Em - 35,791 - 35,791
Depreciation and amortisation EE R (71,487) (5,299) = (76,786)
Unallocated K0 &
(76,786)
Interest income FEWA 105 7 = 112
Unallocated corporate interest AP EEMEMA
income -
112
Finance costs B R (3,136) (97) = (3,233)
Unallocated R (19,108)
(22,341)
Income tax credit/(expense) FriGiIER / (B 13,761 (2,624) = 11,137
Unallocated RN = =
iIhl]37
Impairment loss of accounts W IE BB RSB
receivables (1,104) - - (1,104)
Write-down of inventories FERT (50,532) - = (50,532)
Reversal of write-down of FE R
inventories 37,089 - - 37,089
Share of profit of an associate FE(E— R A B a A = 18,895 - 18,895

There are no inter-segment revenue for the years ended 31

December 2022 and 2021.

HE2022F K2021F12HB31BILEE > &
HE DB E o
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

5. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

b) Geographical information
(i) Revenue from external customers

The geographical analysis of the Group's revenue from
external customers by geographical location based on
where the goods are sold and delivered or the services were
provided is as follows:

5. ZEEHmE E

b) HMEZEH

() FESEBERZHUA
REmHERRNIABRBREZMEUESY

AEBRBIIEEL Z WAL B S
mE

Continuing operations

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT AR¥TT

Mainland China (place of domicile) FR R AP (78 B 7 ) 322,777 384,000
Hong Kong A 12,462 18,144
Other countries HMBE xR 26,138 146,363
361,377 548,507

(ii)  Non-current assets

No non-current assets information is presented for the
Group's geographical location, as over 90% of the Group's
non-current assets (excluding financial instruments and
deferred tax assets) is located in Mainland China.

<) Information about major customers
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years

contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group
are as follows:

(i) FRBEE

HRAEEFATHEE (FTEEEMIARE
JEFRIAE E) #190 % L it F7 B A B > (It I £
MAEREZMEBUEZ2IERBEEER -

0 EHRIEERFZEHN
RERFEEMRTERRBRABBEI0%HNE
FWAWMT :

Continuing operations

2022 2021
202245 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBF T ARBTTT
MLCC segment MLCCo &B
Customer A ERA 63,495 N/AZ 38 A3
* The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of * FEFE U A R MR R B B R A £ B 48
the total revenue of the Group for the years ended relevant g N R
year. WAB10%LL £
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5. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

d) Revenue from major products and services

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue from its
major products and services

A5 ER R MIEE

5. WS E
d REFEERRBRHEZKRA

UTHEEBRETEZERABRBZWARD
#r

Continuing operations FFEEEER
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREFx AEBKEF T
Sale of MLCC MLCCIHE 356,609 444 589
Assets management fee income BEBEEAEKRA 38,467 48,767
Net (loss)/gain from fund investments BEERE (5518 NP (33,699) 55,151
Revenue from investment and financial services 2R B35 & E LSRR AU A 4,768 103,918
361,377 548,507

6. REVENUE 6. WA

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacturing
and sale of MLCC and investment and financial services.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by major products or service lines is as follows:

AEBZIEEBRARNERIBEMICCRERE
Bl R AR 75 o

REIZERIRBENI D ZEREHERA
mE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT NERESE T

Revenue from contracts with customers T & B PR B 75 3R 5 #E Bl 25 1552

within the scope of IFRS 15 HENELSHUA
Sale of MLCC MLCCEHE 356,609 444,589
Assets management fee income BEEBHEEBENRA 38,467 48,767
395,076 493,356
Net (loss)/gain from financial assets at FVPL AT EE AT

SREE (58 RE 38 (33,699) 55,151
Total revenue 4B UT A 361,377 548,507
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

6.

Notes:

a)

REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
the timing of revenue recognition and by geographic markets
is disclosed in note 5.

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising from
contracts with customers in existence at the reporting date.

All sales contracts with customers for MLCC are for periods of
one year or less. As permitted under IFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these contracts for the remaining unsatisfied
performance obligations is not disclosed.

Contracts for asset management service typically have the
same terms with the funds managed by the Group, which
ranged from 3 to 7 years and are subject to extension of
2 to 4 years, in which the Group bills a fixed amount for
service rendered. The Group elected to apply the practical
expedient by recognising revenue in the amount to which
the Group has the right to invoice. As permitted under IFRS
15, the transaction price allocated to these contracts for
the remaining unsatisfied performance obligations is not
disclosed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A5 ER R MIEE

7. OTHER INCOME 7. Hthik sz
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTT ARBTF T
Interest income on financial assets BEEN A ECEMEE
measured at amortised cost B UWA —RITH S U A
— bank interest income 178 112
Gross rental income from investment properties 2R B EY)EMH S U A 4858 3,182 2,221
Government grants (note) B RL (BaE) 7,262 9,913
Release of government grants BRBUN A ER WA (H5E30)
as income (note 30) 2,503 5,492
Other management fee income HMEEEWA 515 477
Sundry income B A 278 842
13,918 19,057
Note: Government grants represented the subsidy to the Group Bt BUREARIEPEBAE AERZ EMN TBEAR
by the government of the PRC as incentive primarily EhiE A s B A B3 B Bt H OB B RIFL S
to encourage the development of the Group and the BRe
contribution to the local economic development.
In 2022, the Group successfully applied for funding support 20225 REBR LB BBNR LN BRTIIEE
from the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti- ST RAEFEFRFI T EEI R o ZEETLZ
epidemic Fund, set up by the Hong Kong Government. The ENRACERHUBZR UBEREEREZ
purpose of the funding is to provide financial support to BE - RiIFZMAM 2 GIHRE A EET 2R
enterprises to retain their employees who would otherwise TERETHE WERMAEZEESARIMES
be made redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the Group i
is required not to make redundancies during the subsidy
period and to spend all the funding on paying wages to the
employees.
8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 8. Hihh s R EsiE
2022 2021
20224 2021%
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBTT
Impairment loss of accounts receivables, net FE KR IE R (E 5 183 5B (1) (1,104)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 40) HEWB AR ZWE #aE40) 2,729 -
Gain arising from extinguishment of NEEREFEMERELEZ
other loan upon modification (note 26(b)) Wzs (B15126(b)) 41,859 =
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) PERUWE, (B548) 248 20,002 (10,032)
Cumulative gain on exchange differences from  FhEREI— = A BB IREEIH
transaction of foreign operations reclassified to ~ FFAIER ERE R W E#H
profit or loss on dissolution of an associate DEEER 2,192 =
66,781 (11,136)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

9. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 9. [&#¥AEI (E518) EF

(Loss)/profit before taxation from continuing operations is
arrived at after charging/(crediting) the following:

% (&t A) THIER :

REQEXBREERM (BHR) ad 2

a) Finance costs a) E=1p %
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®EFT AREEFT
Interest on bank loans (note 26(b)) RITERZFIE (H5226()) 20,955 1,165
Interest on other loans (note 26(b)) HtBH R E Hz226(b)) 21,717 20,313
Interest on lease liabilities (note 26(b)) HESEZHNE #aE26(0) 1,347 1,878
Total interest expense on financial liabilities not at W IEIRXAFEst ABm 2
fair value through profit or loss: TREETN SRR 44,019 23,356
Less: Amounts capitalised in the cost of qualifying 38 : BB &L AEEREE
assets Rz 78 (19,599) (1,015)
24,420 22,341
b)  Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) b) EBImZ (BFE%M=)
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AREFT AR¥TT
Salaries, wages and other benefits (notes i and i) #% ~ TE& K EtEF
(B a2iRii) 142,671 170,613
Contributions to defined contribution retirement & ZBHEFGR AR~
plans (notes i and i) (1 ¢ %ii) 12,005 15,569
154,676 186,182
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A5 ER R MIEE

9. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 9. BRiRAl (B518) EF (&
(Continued)
) Other items [9) Hithlg g
2022 2021
20225 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Myt AR®FT ARET T
Carrying amount of inventories sold HEFSREE 348,933 313,621
Write-down of inventories FEHEE 54,680 50,532
Reversal of write-down of inventories FERECEE i)

(note iif) (61,294) (37,089)
Cost of inventories (note /) FERA () 342,319 327,064
Depreciation charge FERx

— owned property, plant and equipment  —BBY)¥ R E KRR E 58,349 60,427

— investment property —REM= 681 681

— right-of-use assets —EREEE 13,981 15,678
Depreciation (notes i and i) TEE (W ati %) 16& 17 73,011 76,786
Amortisation of other intangible assets HihimA & E# 21 560 921
Research and development costs: PSE e RS A A -

Current year expenditure (note i) REER (H722i) 56,307 45,096
Short term lease HAFEE 665 858
Auditor’s remuneration TZ BN =

— audit services —IZE AR 1,434 1,497

— non-audit services — I BUBRTS 306 256
Impairment loss of accounts receivables, — FEUTRIE BB K518 /528>

net* 41(b) 1 1,104
Donation B 43 10
Loss on disposal of property, HEYZE -BERKEZEER

plant and equipment 101 657
Rental income on investment properties R &Y EB S W AR EE

less direct outgoings of RMB300,000 & H AR #300,0007T

(2021: RMB286,000) (2021F : ARHE

286,0007T) (2,882) (1,935)
* The impairment loss of accounts receivables is included in z WA 2 BEREF Afr e iBm Rk HEMEEmE

“other gains and losses”

of the consolidated statement of

ROV E et K518

profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

9. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 9. [&#al (B518) &F (&
(Continued)
[9) Other items (Continued) [9) Hihigg &)
Notes: izt -
(i) Cost of inventories includes depreciation of RMB56,386,000 (i) FERAEIEITE AR 156,386,000 (20214 :
(2021: RMB57,152,000) and staff costs of RMB73,813,000 AR #557,152,0007T) & 8 T4 A K #573,813,000
(2021: RMB98,407,000), which are also included in the 7% (20214 : AR #598,407,0007T) @ INBIEESEH
respective total amounts disclosed separately above. R B IR EE 2 4REA P ©
(ii) Included in research and development costs are depreciation (ii) MERMERASFETEARY3,521,0007T
of RMB3,521,000 (2021: RMB5,355,000) and staff costs of (20214 : AR¥5,355,0007T) K E T4 AR
RMB21,333,000 (2021: RMB20,593,000), which are also 21,333,0007T (20214 : AE#20,593,0007T) > 7N E
included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately BEAESEN EXERRE R8N -
above.
(iii) During the year ended 31 December 2022, there was a (iii) REE20225 12831 HIEFE > BRI
reversal of write-down of inventories of RMB61,294,000 BIENMkREGERAMIEREFEELEFE R
(2021: RMB37,089,000) due to an increase in the estimated [B] A R #561,294,0007T (20214 : 37,089,0007T) ©
net realisable value and subsequent usage and sale of
obsolete inventories.
10. INCOME TAX CREDIT 10. FRSMRIER
a)  Income tax recognised in the consolidated statement a) RECEaREME2ZAKRGERABERZ
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income FRiGR1E ©
represents:
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AREF T
Current tax BPHERIR I8
— Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year —KEEEANER 2,592 2,624
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") —REERBETEMSER
for the year (note (iv)) (M ZEFR1EH7)
(B3 iv)) 600 1,550
— Under provision of Hong Kong Profits Tax —BEFEEFENER
in prior year BHEAE 24 =
— Over provision of EIT in prior year —BEFEFEREMSR
FBREE (29) =
Deferred taxation EIEFIE
— Origination and reversal of temporary — Bt EENELE RER
differences (note 32(a) and (b)) (H15£32(a) % (b)) (6,443) (15,311)
Income tax credit for the year NEEPMERIER (3,256) (11,137)
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10.
a)

Notes:

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Notes to the Financial Statements

INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)
(Continued)

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2022 is calculated
at 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits
for the year, except for one subsidiary of the group which is
a qualifying corporation under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate
regime.

For this subsidiary, the first HK$2 million of assessable profits
are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are
taxed at 16.5%. The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for
this subsidiary was calculated at the same basis in 2021.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI
respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, all PRC subsidiaries
were subject to EIT at the standard rate of 25% (2021: 25%)
on their respective taxable profit during the year, except
that FINTEFHRIZZEREBRAE (literally translated
as Shenzhen Eyang Technology Development Co., Ltd.),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, was
recognised as High and New Technology Enterprise on 23
December 2021 and is subject to income tax rate of 15% for
three consecutive years commencing in 2021.

10.
a)
=

(iif)

(iv)

A5 ER R MIEE

FRISHER (&

(/Vﬁ'iég

REMANAEBRERBNFIEREE 2B A
BELZFBHEBEREEJNMAER-

REEGHERRAER16.5% (20214 : 16.5%)
IR STHR2022FEE BN SR E EEAERZ—
B ABREBRMRAFSHRRNEFE T2 EERE
B A BRI o

MZMBRABMES  EH2ER BT ZERRFTH
1%28.25% MR FEI - HERERIFH1216.5%89
MR - 2B AT 2 E B SR FEI20214F
DAEmEEESE

RENE N RABELH B RARAE A
EIR AR5 B B B B BB B L BE B A E TR
g1

BE2022F12831HIEFE  FRAETEM B AT
#25% (20214F 1 25%) REMKPURZBZAFE
FESRIR A BB 2 PR 1SR o 1R T F 57 % 3
BRERAR (FrBZEEEENBAR) 1120214
12823 EHERAEMBAMERE > WAIH20215F 4L
i =8 F ERIEIR1 5% Z IR BARFT1SIR
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

10. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

b) Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting b)
(loss)/profit at applicable tax rate:

10. FRiSIRIER (2

MEMERBERREXFENG S (B

18B) M 2 BERHER

2022 2021
202245 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARETT
(Loss)/profit before taxation BrIRAT (B538) m A (67,975) 58,356
Tax at the domestic tax rate HEAEMREFEZIRE (11,527) 14,313
Tax effect of: UTFEEBEZRIBELE
Lower tax rates for specific districts or countries 43 E#hEHER Z BER K (3,060) (5,162)
Share of profit of an associate FE(E— B EHE A B mF (3,552) 346
Income not subject to tax BIERRUA (15,529) (13,055)
Expenses not deductible for tax ENEIEE Ak 2,029 6,923
Tax losses not recognised KRIES 2 HIERT 18 37,853 2,281
Tax incentives RIBEE (5.070) (3,811)
Statutory tax concession EEMRBE R R (141) (137)
Utilisation of tax losses BAENIEEE (402) (90)
Overprovision in prior years BEFEEBREEE (5) -
Effect on deferred tax balances at 1 January RREEHHHEMB1HN
resulting from a change in tax rate BERBERES 2 XE (3.408) (1,831)
Effect of withholding tax on the distributable TEIRE AEE 2 P EH B
profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries RERDIRFEZ 8 - (2,353)
Others Hih (444) (8,561)
Income tax credit for the year REEFREHRIER (3,256) (11,137)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A5 ER R MIEE

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulation are as follows:

11. EFEME

BIBEFBRABKRAIEIMNFERRE (REE
FEMHER ROAF2BREZESTMEUT:

Year ended 31 December 2022 #E2022F12A31HLLEE
Retirement
Salaries and benefit Discretionary Share-based Total
Fees  allowances contributions bonus Sub-total ~ payments emoluments
NRiA%
fig HEREM BARNMR  BERL et BRZAR ame
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
iz ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARMTR AREFTR ARETR ARETR
Executive directors: #irEs:
Mr. Zhou Chunhua BEERE (R)
(Chairman) - 1,891 15 m 2,077 - 2,077
Mr. Pan Tong (Chief A RE (THe
Executive Officer) ) - 2,061 15 597 2,673 - 2,673
Independent non-executive BUFEHITES :
directors:
Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus KRR E 154 - - - 154 - 154
Mr. David Tsoi BRERE 154 - - - 154 - 154
M. Xu Xuechuan BEIEE 154 - - - 154 - 154
462 3,952 30 768 5212 - 5212
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

11. DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2021

Salaries
and
Fees allowances

iz FEhEd
Notes ~ RMBO0O  RMB'000
fE  ARETR ARETR

11. EFEME &
HZE2021F128B31HIEEE

Retirement
benefit  Discretionary Share-based Total
contributions bonus Sub-total payments  emoluments
MRIA%
BUCBAMS BB st BRZAWM il

RMBO0O  RMBO00  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMB000
AEETR  ARETR ARETZ ARETT ARETR

Executive directors: HTES.
Mr. Zhou Chunhua BEELE (FR)
(Chairman) - 3,962 15 166 4143 - 4143
Mr. Pan Tong (Chief BV RE
Executive Officer) (THsas) - 2,008 15 166 2,189 = 2,189
Ms. Du Welin HEM L (i) - 736 - - 736 - 736
Mr. Chou Bang Vi, Benjamin  B#f%h2E (i) - 1,198 15 - 1213 = 1213
Independent B E#ITES:
non-executive directors:
Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus ~ RERELE 150 - - - 150 - 150
Mr. David Tsoi BRUSE 150 - - - 150 = 150
Mr. Xu Xuechuan #8)|1%E 150 - - - 150 - 150
450 7,904 45 332 8,131 - 8,731

No outstanding awarded share in respect of the Share
Award Scheme has fulfilled the vesting conditions or vested
to any awardee up to the reporting date. The awarded
shares granted to the beneficiaries during the year ended
31 December 2017 would originally be vested in three
tranches of 1,986,000 shares each on the vesting date at
31 March 2018, 2019 and 2020 respectively. According to
the notice of award issued by the Company on the date of
grant, as the specific vesting conditions cannot be fulfilled
on 31 March 2020. As at the date of this annual report,
the vesting schedule has adjourned.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Resignation as Executive director on 13 September 2021.

(ii) Resigned as Executive director and Chief Risk Officer on 7 July
2021.

Certain directors were granted award share during the year
ended 31 December 2017 in respect of their services to
the Group under the share award scheme of the Company
adopted on 14 July 2017, further details of which are set
out in note 33 to the financial statements. The fair value
of such award shares which was recognised in profit or
loss over the vesting period was determined as at the date
of grant. During the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021, no equity-settled share-based payment expenses
were recognised.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
and chief executive as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office for
both years.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year.

12. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid individuals during the year included
two directors (2021: two directors), details of whose
emoluments are set out in note 11 above. Details of
the emoluments of the remaining three (2021: three)
non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
individuals for the year are as follows:

A5 ER R MIEE

11. EEME &
Mzt :

(i) PR2021FE9B 13H B ERNITES ©

(ii) 2021 E7A7HRERTES REFERRE -

HE2017F 12831 HIEEE BETESFAE
EAHAREBRRBEMBBELRLABNR2017F78
T4HIRMZ RIDIZEN ST R TRE KRG
ERE—FTHEBEHN P HERRMFEIB-ZE
RERONDZATE (HEeNFBHEBNERAN
B ERREBHET B E2022F 52021
F12B3'1HIEFEE wEBEIRELSEUR
MAEERZIHMAZ-

AERNMEFEREINEIAMNETES
REBTHRAE FRBERSFMENKEFMN
BAEBERIERBERME-

FEEMEEFARSTHRAEREXRRAE
TBUZE {E {70 7 BN B9 %2 BF ©

12. EEi#AL

FRERESHATCEMNEES (20214 ¢
MBEE) ZHMFBEHN EXHMEI1-ER
HEE=% (2021F : =8) FEZ - RIT
BABZERBHALTZHMFRBUOT

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®EFT NS

Salaries and allowances #re BOE R 4,315 12,681
Retirement benefit contributions RIAERHER 229 187
4,544 12,868
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

12. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The number of non-director and non-chief executive and
highest paid employees whose emoluments fell within the
following bands are as follows:

12. BRE#HALE

HFMBUTHBE ZFESF FaRITHRAERK
REHmEEHEWT

2022 2021
20224 20214
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A¥ A&
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,500,00178 7% 26,000,000 75
(RMB4,694,000 to RMB5,121,000, (AR 54,694,000 E AR
2021:(RMB4,574,000 to RMB4,989,000) 5,121,0007% > 202 14F :
AR #84,574,00070F
AR #4,989,0007T) - 1
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,0017 75 25,000,00078 75
(RMB3,841,000 to RMB4,268,000, 2021: (AR 183,841,000 F AR &
(RMB3,742,000 to RMB4,158,000) 4,268,0007T > 202 14E :
AR#3,742,00070F
AR #4,158,0007T) - 2
HK$ 1,500,001 to 2,000,000 (RMB1,280,000 1,500,001 75 £ 2,000,000 75
to RMB1,707,000, 2021: RMB1,247,000 to (AR #1,280,0007cE AR &
RMB1,663,000) 1,707,0007T > 202 14E
AR#1,247,0007F
AR #1,663,0007T) 3 =
3 3

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no
emolument was paid by the Group to the directors or any
of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office. None of the directors or any of the five highest paid
individuals has waived or agreed to waive any emolument
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A5 ER R MIEE

13. DIVIDEND 13. KB

No dividend was paid or proposed during the years ended HE2022F KX2021F12A31HIEFE > It #&
31 December 2022 and 2021, nor has any dividend been THHBREARE  RRSPRBTEESR
proposed since the end of the reporting period. RS o

14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. Sk (58 BF

(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share () SKREZX (FEH) &BA

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share is SREX (BB BINNOREBEARAEE A
based on the (loss)/profit attributable to the owners of FEAL (B58) m Al A R #63,851,0007% (2021
the Company of RMB63,851,000 (2021: RMB68,819,000) F£: ANR%¥68,819,0007T) REARNB BT
and the weighted average number of 744,750,000 (2021: BN T ET744,750,0000% (20214
744,750,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year, 744,750,0008%) st & > M TP :

calculated as follows:

(Loss)/earnings (B518) &)
2022 2021
20225 20215
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARETT
(Loss)/profit for the purpose of basic (loss)/ BRstEESRER (BB
earnings per share BHzZ (B8 wf
— from continuing operations —FHEREER (63,851) 68,840
— from discontinued operations —IEFEREER - 21)
(63,851) 68,819
Weighted average number of ordinary shares: B METSE
2022 2021
20225 20214
‘000 ‘000
TR A&
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ®128318=Z
at 31 December EERMET 744,750 744,750
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
(Continued)

(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 is the same as the basic (loss)/
earnings per share as there were no potential ordinary
shares outstanding during the years.

15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In June 2021, the Group ceased its business in other
general trading as a result of unfavourable market
conditions and price competition in the relevant industry,
and the businesses were stagnant since the first quarter in
2021.

The analysis of the results of discontinued operation is
as follows. The comparative consolidated statement of
comprehensive income has been re-presented to show
the discontinued operation from continuing operation
separately.

14. 8K (R B &

(b) EREEEH B

EREE (58 BINESKRERX ()
EHER > FREE2022F &2021F12831H
IEFEERTEBTENZBEZER

15. FFFHEEERH

R2021F6 R AEBEFLEM-—KRES X
B DEARTHFRGEAEEMBRTEERS
FRA BEBAEBB2021FF —FTE LK

R Al

FFHECEEBZEFBEOMUN T -AERES
EPEHRaREEEINNCHFEFBEEEXBTRE
BEEEB DT

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTF T

Revenue WA - =
Administrative and other operating expenses TH R EMEEE A - (21)
Losses before income tax expense PRETSIN Bz AR 18 - 21
Income tax expense FrigtEmZ - -
Losses for the year from discontinued operation — JEFFEL S EFEE F1E - (21)
Net cash used in operating activities KEEEFPTRAZIRER8E - (1)
Total net cash outflows FRE R - (1

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMERAE
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A5 ER R MIEE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ME -BEKRSZE
Office and
Plant and other Motor Construction ~ Leasehold Right-of-use
Buildings ~ machinery  equipment vehicles in progress improvements assets Total
HAR
BF HBERME  HfR E  HEIR HEMRRE GREEE a5t

RVBOOO  RVBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOO0  RVBO0  RMBOOD  RMBOOD
Metn  AEMTn  ARETR ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR

At 1 January 2021, net of accumulated 12021 1R 1R 1B E5

depreciation and impairment NERAE 13,745 258,752 19,931 1521 1912 4932 97 486 398,279
Additions e 618 34,618 1,305 24 - 1,625 4.601 42981
Transfer rom prepayment EREVEIN 7513 27,500 - 100 - - - 35113
Construction expenditure capitalised ~ EAMGMEREMER - - - = 80,764 = = 80,764
Reassessment Bft - - - - - - 752 752
Transfer B - - - - (1,116) 1,116 = =
Disposals tE - 11 (668) - - - = (657)
Depreciation provided during the year ~ EATER(E (454) (45,644) (11,281) (691) - QB (15679 (76,105)
fect of foreign curency exchange. ~~ SNEEREERE
differences - - (82) - - 9 23) (114)
At 31 December 2021, net of accumulatedi®2021£128318
depreciation and impairment MBEHERAE 2422 2531 9,05 1144 81,560 5,307 §713% 481,013
At 31 December 2021: Ra01E128318
Cost Fik 22,166 611913 54,763 5398 83,005 8,666 127,981 913952
Accumulated depreciation and ZMERAE
impairment (744) (336,676) (45,558) (4254) (1,505) (3,359) (40.883) (432939
(arrying amount KEfE 0422 215,231 9,205 1,144 81,560 5307 87138 481,013
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ME- -BEKRRZE (&
(Continued)
Office and
Plant and other Motor Construction ~ Leasehold Right-of-use
Buildings ~ machinery  equipment vehicles in progress improvements assets Total
N
BF RBERHSE  Hf3R AE HEIR BEMZRE EREEE act
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000
A\EETR  ABRETR  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETn ARETR
At 1 January 2022, net of accumulated 120221818
depreciation and impairment NREAERAE 21422 175,237 9205 1,144 81,560 5,307 87138 481,013
Additions HE 5 2389 604 4 = 163 45135 48300
Construction expenditure capitalised ~ EAGNEERR - - - - 298,208 - = 298,208
Reassessment Eff - - - - - - 1431 1431
Transfer L 2613) 6,976 Iy - (7003 - 2613 -
Transfer to investment properties &)\ REnE (k)

(note 17) (4.745) - - - - - - (4,745)
Disposals HeE - (14) ) - - - - (144)
Depreciation provided during the year — ERTEA(E (4s4) (49,084) (5,215) (597) = (2,999) (13,981) (72,330)
Effect of foreign curency exchange ~ SMEERZEZ2

differences - - 6 - - 50 176 3

At 31 December 2022, net of R2022E128318
accumulated depredition and NEEREREE
impairment 13615 235376 4,645 551 372,745 251 122512 751,965
At 31 Decermber 2022: 120026128318 :
Cost s 14,58 619,346 55,310 5,281 374,250 8,209 178,499 1,255,213
Accumulated depreciation and EHERAR
impairment (643) (383,970) (50,725) (4730) (1,505) (5,688) (55,987) (503,248)
Carrying amount KEfE 13615 235376 4,645 551 372,745 2521 122512 751,965
a)  The Group’s buildings are held under medium term a) ZFAEBEZEBFRPBRAKENPIHABAE
leases in Mainland China. "o
b)  The Group has pledged certain property, plant and b) ZXEBEEWRETVE - BREKRSZHE
equipment to secure banking facilities granted to UBREE2022F %2021%F12H31H
the Group during the years ended 31 December FEERFAEENRITHREREER
2022 and 2021 (note 31). (P¥EE31) o
0 Certification of ownership in respect of certain @) R2022F 12831 AEBEREFE

buildings of the Group located in Luodin with
net carrying amount of RMB6,535,000 as at 31
December 2022 (2021: RMB6,683,000) had not yet
been issued by relevant PRC authorities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A5 ER R MIEE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ME- -BEKRRE &
(Continued)
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR® T ARBTF T
Ownership interests in leasehold land and KR RITET R ZFEB A
buildings held for own use, carried at cost less ~ FAE T MRIBFZ HE#E
depreciation, with remaining lease R HER N ERAA ©
term of:
— between 10 and 50 years —10ZE504F 84,207 79,506
Other properties leased for own use, carried at ~ IZFTERABITES R
depreciated cost less depreciation HmBRAEEY= 20,082 28,077
104,289 107,583
Ownership interest in leasehold land and RiiTE N AT R HE
buildings held and investment property, RIEFRIEEYE B
carried at depreciated cost, with remaining R HER NERAA ©
lease term of:
— between 10 and 50 years —10E504F 56,774 21,849

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by

REMEBEENEONERREERE FE

class of underlying asset is as follows: oW
2022 2021
20214 20205
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT
Ownership interests in leasehold land carried at R A EIR T EE AL A5 ER 2
depreciated cost in PRC, with remaining HE T EEERED
lease term of: HeEr NES ¢
— between 10 and 50 years —10ZE504F 102,430 59,061
Other properties leased for own use, carried at ~ IZTE R A5ER 2
depreciated cost HhBEREEY= 20,082 28,077
122,512 87,138
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

16.

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings
held for own use

The Group owns several commercial buildings where its
operating facilities are primarily located with office buildings.
The Group is the registered owner of these property interests,
including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire these property interests. The
leasehold land components of these owned properties have
been presented separately.

Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other properties as its
offices use through tenancy agreements. The leases typically
run for an initial period of 3 to 6 years. Lease payments are
usually increased every 3 to 6 years to reflect market rentals.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, additions to right-
of-use assets were RMB45,135,000 (2021: RMB4,601,000),
of which RMB45,135,000 (2021: nil) was purchase of
leasehold land during the year ended 31 December 2022. The
remainder primarily related to the capitalised lease payments
payable under new tenancy agreement.
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(i)

(i)

(iii)

ME- -BER&E (&

RIFERMEE LM REF 2 BER gD

FEEERSEREET  HEERMEZ MU
ARB-AEBMAZEYHE D (BFEEMEEL
#) 2 BEFHA A  REB—RIEFENRIBEUERE
ZEYFE G - ZFEAMECHETHENEE
B2

HithEAHEEME

FEECEBHEER RIS ERE MY FREM
NENEN -HEBENF S IB3EF - FHEIR
BES3ECFEMURMTIZESE

HE2022F 128318 IEFE AEFRAEEEAR
1245 135,00077 (20214F : AR 1£4,601,0007T) © H
B E2022F 128318 EEE  BERS LA
FE#845,135,0007T (20214 © %) o FgrE EEAFFE
EREE NEMNEMEZ SRR



Notes to the Financial Statements

A5 ER R MIEE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. BREWE
RMB'000
AREF T
At 1 January 2021: 20211818 -
Cost DN 25,078
Accumulated depreciation EHEtine (3,525)
Carrying amount IREE 21,553
At 1 January 2021, 20211 A8 R RETHITE
net of accumulated depreciation 21,553
Depreciation provided during the year FERITEREE (681)
At 31 December 2021 5122021512831H 20,872
At 31 December 2021 and at 1 January 2022: 20219 12831H /%2022F1 818 -
Cost DN 25,078
Accumulated depreciation REtife (4,206)
Carrying amount IRMEE 20,872
At 1 January 2022, 20221 A8 NBRRETHITE
net of accumulated depreciation 20,872
Transfer from property, plant and BERYE BEKKRE Wat1e)
equipment (note 16) 4,745
Depreciation provided during the year FRITEEE (681)
At 31 December 2022 F220225%12831H 24,936
At 31 December 2022: 720228128318 :
Cost %N CF [
Accumulated depreciation SEHiTE (6,181)
Carrying amount IREE 24,936
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

a) The Group's investment properties are held under
medium term leases and are situated in Mainland
China.

b) At the end of the reporting period, the investment
property of RMB4,745,000 which the certificate of
ownership was custodied by the bank.

@) Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the details of the Group's
investment property and information about the fair value
hierarchy as at 31 December 2022, categorised into the
three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13 Fair
Value Measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs, that is, observable inputs which fail to
meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

At 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the
fair value of the Group's investment properties was
approximately RMB177,700,000 with carrying value of
right-of-use assets of RMB31,838,000 and investment
properties of RMB24,936,000 and RMB138,700,000
with carrying value of right-of-use asset of RMB979,000
and investment property of RMB20,872,000 respectively,
based on the valuations performed by Graval Consulting
Limited (2021: Roma Appraisals Limited), an independent
professionally qualified valuer.
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17. BREWE &)

a) TEEZREVEHRBEFHBENES
7 AL S PR K o

b) REBEHAKR ARMA4,745,00008% &
ME B HEERIBTRE -

o AFEREB

TREFAERER2022F12831828EY
ENEBRATEEBENZEE  URERER
HHEREENFI3HAFEBSAENATZA
TEEEBEDPAEBATEERE AFEHFEDY
B2EMBRAFMBABARBZZUEREER
BEEUIDAUTAEER :

. F—EBREE: AERF—EREBARK
(B ESERRBEREENGREAER
B EREHBEZRE) stERTFE

. FE_BHRMEE @ﬁﬁ%: Z 4% i A BUIE
(EﬂTﬁé% Bz ] = A
B)StEQAFE ﬁ'ﬁT@ﬁﬁEﬁE’JTT
B ABIBE Ao R AMEIEE
FTRETEEEBE 2B ABE

. EZERMLE: ERAEENTIEHER
ABBSERQFE

20228 12831H /&2021F12831H°
AEBREYMEZRAFEINNAAR
177,700,000 (FEHEEEEEEAR
131,838,000 c AR EMERBEEEARE
24,936,0007T) X AR #138,700,0007t (fE
AHEERBEEAARKI7I,000c MK E
MEREBEEARY20,872,0007T) * JHIRE
BIUSXSERGEMEBELCEBEMNERAT
(2021F : EEBBRFEERL2E) (FHBME
e



Notes to the Financial Statements

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Q) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The details of fair value of the investment properties as at
31 December 2022 and 2021 determined by the external
valuer is as below:

A5 ER R MIEE

17. BREYE &)
) NFEZE (B

R2022F 2021128318 > BHIMNEE G EED
BEZREYEANAFENEBNOT

Fair value measurements
at 31 December 2022 using
#mnﬁuﬁmam2$ﬁdgﬁﬁhm

Quoted
prices in
active Significant
markets for other Significant
identical observable unobservable
assets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

HEEETE HtEEMN SENRA
BHENERE BROEARE BERHARE

Description EHH (E—RB4%) (BB (B=E4#R)

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTT AR®BTT ARBTT

Investment properties REME - - 177,700

Fair value measurements
at 31 December 2021 using
FR2021F 1231 BN AT ES BRI A
Quoted
prices in
active Significant

markets for other Significant

identical observable unobservable

assets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2 (Level 3)

MHRAEETE HMEZEMA SEZMARA

B S HRE ﬁﬁ/\ﬁﬁﬂ\%@)@ Bz A B

Description HH Ca=F ) (EZRER) (EBE=B#HR)

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT ARBTF T ARBTF T

Investment properties KEME - - 138,700

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest REsMEZAFTER  MENR R{ER
and best use of the properties is their current use. RARERR-
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 17. KEME (B)
) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) ) NEEZNE (&
For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the HZE2022F K2021F12831HBIEFE Ui
valuation for the investment property located in Shenzhen FANZzZBREMEZHEDRRGEERE (FH
was based on income capitalisation approach (term and KRETZE) »DREBR2022F 52021512
reversionary method) which use unobservable inputs (Level B31HZAERE AHE (F=ER) E1T
3) at 31 December 2022 and 2021 respectively. The key SFE-FEHRGAHBAFTHLRRE - ERLOR
inputs are term vyield, reversionary yield and market unit XEmGBEUEE - HANEMLNEEENEE
rent. An increase in the unit sale price adopted would BREEMENRFEFEUERREEMN &
result in an increase in the fair value measurement of the ZIRFR e
investment property by the same magnitude, and vice
versa.
18. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 18. M—EBEAT ZEDE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT
Unlisted investment: Share of net assets ELEHRE | ELEEZRE - 35,791
Details of the Group’s interest in an associate, which is ZERBNFELTAREREE W AAEE
unlisted limited partnership whose quoted market price is MGHRE TREHREZINAGEHMHFRER K
not available and accounted for using the equity method in EERZBME R ZERFBAOT !

the consolidated financial statements, are as follows:

Proportion of ownership interest

Place of Group's Held by
establishment/  Issued and paid up effective  the Held by
Name of company operation registered capital interest Company  subsidiaries Principal activities
o o AEH  BANE  BKEAT
RE%TE M/ BEnY BREOIRESRHMES BEREE KA 5] TEREH
Logan Pass Private Equity Fund ~ Korea/Korea Contributed and committed N/A - N/A (2021:  Asset management
KRW5,971,421,935 (2021: 29.98%) (note 1)
\ 29.98%) \ .. ‘
26/ %E BRRAEBEA5 I 42193587 TBR FBR  BEBRWEHI)
(20214 (2001
29.98%) 29.98%)
Note 1: Logan Pass Private Equity Fund was acquired by the Group Mzt AERBEBWEBREBERNEEEEREEBNIE R
through acquisition of subsidiary which engaged in asset B) U #8Logan Pass Private Equity Fund e
management business in Korea.
During the year, Logan Pass Private Equity Fund ceased to £ A Logan Pass Private Equity Fundi?
be an associate of the Group upon its dissolution on 19 202258198 ESEM BLETABRALXE

May 2022. BRBE AT

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMERAE
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Notes to the Financial Statements

18. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Summarised financial information of an associate, Logan
Pass Private Equity Fund, adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying amounts

A5 ER R MIEE

18. WM—MEBEATZ#ETDE (&

LU BB = A SLogan Pass Private Equity
Fundz B4 B E R E > AR EE M G5t
RER KRAPHBRENIREEHR

in the financial statements, are disclosed below:

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR¥TIT
Gross amounts 4B ER
Current assets MENEE - 123,472
Non-current assets ERENEE - 25,762
Current liabilities mENaE - (29,042)
Non-current liabilities ERBIEE - (810)
Equity s - 119,382
From
1 January From
2022 to 1 January
19 May 2022 2021 to
(date of 31 December
dissolution) 2021
20224
1A1BE 20214
20224 1B18&E
58198 20214
(2R B HA) 128318
RMB’'000 RMB‘000
AR®EFT AR®T T
Revenue A 96,776 75,886
Profit from continuing operations B EER a R 86,831 59,642
Total comprehensive income 2 E W45t 86,831 59,642
At At
31/12/2022 31/12/2021
120224 120214
12H831H 128318
RMB’'000 RMB‘000
AR®EFT AR¥T T
Reconciled to the Group’s interest in an associate: EAZs£E @ —EHE AT 2
HEm AR ¢
Net assets BEFE - 119,382
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest NEBHEA RN LEAF N/A
RiER 29.98%
- 35,791
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest REERHREE - S5
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME ("FVOCI”)

19. EQ$EHAE%QEWE%$ﬁ§

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBT T
Unlisted investment in equity securities, BATESBZRAES
at fair value ELEHEE - 12,435

The above unlisted equity investment represents an
investment in the unlisted equity securities issued by a
private entity incorporated in Hong Kong. This investment
was irrevocably designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income as the Group considers the
investment to be strategic in nature.

In the current year, the Group disposed of the partial
interests of financial assets at FVOCI at a consideration
of RMB12,707,000, which was also the fair value of that
portion as at date of disposal for the Group's strategic
purpose. A cumulative gain on disposal attributable to
owners of the Company of RMB7,013,000 has been
transferred to retained earnings.

On 28 June 2022, to realise the Group's investment
return, the Group disposed of its remaining interests in the
financial assets at FVOCI through disposal of subsidiaries at
a consideration of RMB11,737,000 and the fair value of the
financial asset at FVOCI as at date of disposal amounted to
RMB23,150,000. A cumulative gain on disposal attributable
to owners of the Company of RMB11,997,000 has been
transferred to retained earnings.

The fair value of the unlisted equity securities was arrived
at by reference to the valuation performed by management
by using cash flow projections based on the financial
budget prepared by the board of directors of the investee
entity.
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R2022F6H28H AEEABS BT HK &I
R BRHENBADLEEREATFE A
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ANER#11,737,00070° M AFET AEHM
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AR #23,150,000cc A A B HEA AESEEH
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Notes to the Financial Statements

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (“FVPL")

A5 ER R MIEE

20. BAFEFABaNEMEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETT AEEEFT

Unlisted equity investments outside Hong Kong ~ &BMUINYIE L HREIRE
— fund investments —EEKRE 412,061 409,092
Current portion BPERA SR 155,882 —
Non-current portion JERPEREL 7> 256,179 409,092
412,061 409,092

All of the Group’s unlisted fund investments were
designated as financial assets at FVPL. The fair values of the
investments were measured with reference to the audited
net assets value as reported by the funds management.

As at 31 December 2022, a portion of unlisted equity
investment will be terminate within 12 months after the
end of the reporting period. The balance is reclassified to

current asset.

21. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

AEBRMABFLTESRENEERATE
SAABRSNERMEE - ZFRENATEDE
2EZEcEEMERZIEBEREEFER

EL
112022128318 > BHE L HRERAR

REBESHRBIZEEARLE -ZERENH D
BEREE-

21. HithWEEEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AR¥TT
Cost D72
At 1 January R1B1H 6,245 5,809
Additions NE 191 436
At 31 December R12831H 6,436 6,245
Accumulated amortisation g ]
At 1 January ®1A18 5,426 4,505
Amortisation provided during the year FAEHEEE 560 921
At 31 December R12831H 5,986 5,426
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 128318 450 819

Other intangible assets represent computer software held
by the Group. The amortisation charge for the year is
included in “administrative expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

HMENEERAERFAEZBRAR M -£F
E#ETHAAGeBEakEth2EKaRZ
MTHERIA-
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

22. INTERESTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED
STRUCTURED ENTITIES

To determine whether control exists in a structured entity,
the Group uses the following judgements:

For private equity funds where the Group involves as both
general partner and limited partner, the Group assesses
whether the combination of investments it holds together
with its remuneration creates exposure to variability of
returns from the activities of the fund that is of such
significance that it indicates that the fund manager is a
principal. The fund shall be consolidated if the Group acts
in the role of principal.

The Group served as general partner, manager of
structured entities and therefore had power over them. In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, the variable
returns the Group is exposed to over the structured entities
that the Group has interests are not significant. The Group
therefore did not consolidate these structured entities.

The Group classified the investments in these
unconsolidated structured entities as financial assets at
FVPL.

The size of assets under management, carrying amount and
maximum exposure to loss of the Group’s investments to
unconsolidated structured entities are as follows:

22. RIFEHGEMEERZ #E

mEESEEN -—BERBEER
HtE s REBRA LT AT

ELRBE

HRTEBRKFEREBGBAKRARER
A%M%%%%$’$$E¥%H%ﬁ&§&
HEWHNEN EEERFMEEESEIN

“@ﬁ%%%k URERBAESRERST
AN EFEBREEZFAAARZEEZS
AR

FEBBRRETCERUEERZEBSR A
EEA RHLELHEEEERIE - ARATESFR
?% Z!K%lﬁ\%ﬁﬁff%g E’LM%I“{EEEE?J%EB’]

l\EI*%riﬁEg /B:l:kﬁléo

AEBRNZEFEGHEBEERNRED
BRBATESFAEaNEREE-

FEBHFFEHERBEERNRENEES
ERE-REERRAGERKROT

31 December 2022

2022F12A31H
Size of Maximum Income from
assets under Carrying exposure  structured
management amount to loss entity  Income type
REGEYE
EREERE REE RABEAR BEBROKA KBAEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETT ARETR ARETR ARETR
Private equity funds hWEREESE 5,096,724 412,061 412,061 4,768
38,467  Management fee
income
BEEKRA
(33,699)  Investment loss
KEBE
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A5 ER R MIEE

22. INTERESTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED
STRUCTURED ENTITIES (Continued)

22. RIFEHEBEERZED (B

31 December 2021

2021%12831H
Size of Maximum  Income from
assets under Carrying exposure structured
management amount to loss entity  Income type
RBAERENE
BEEBERE REE SABBER BROKA WAEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBTR ARBTT ARET®
Private equity funds hWEREESE 4,660,467 409,092 409,092 103,918
48,767  Management fee
income
BEEWA
55,151 Investment gain
REWE
23. INVENTORIES 23. F&
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT
Raw materials R 20,227 28,407
Work in progress g 24,746 34,855
Finished goods YA 241,118 282,586
286,091 345,848
Provision of write down of inventories EFERGCEE (91,031) (97,645)
195,060 248,203
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

24. ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 24, EWFIEREWELE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’'000 RMB‘000
AR¥EFT AEBKEF T
Accounts receivables (note a) FEWRIE (fata) 208,384 184,677
Less: loss allowance (note 41(b)) B IR e (B1aE410) (9,449) (9,316)
198,935 175,361
Bills receivables (note b) EUNEE (WaEb) 62,660 15,614
261,595 190,975

a) Accounts receivables a) FE U =hIE

Accounts receivables consist of trade receivables
and asset management fee receivables. The Group's
trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit. The credit periods for accounts receivables of
MLCC segment are generally one to four months.
The credit periods for accounts receivables of
investments and financial services segment are due
from the date of billing. The asset management fee
is received or receivable at the end of each quarter.
Each customer is assigned a maximum credit limit.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables and has a credit control
policy to minimise its credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by management. The
accounts receivables are non-interest-bearing.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Accounts receivables (Continued)

An ageing analysis of the accounts receivables as

A5 ER R MIEE

24. BRRIEREBKREE (&

a) BWRIE @)

(i) MRBERR REVARDBHZER

at the end of the reporting period based on the MIEREDTAOT -
revenue recognition date is as follows:

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBT T
Within 90 days 90H R 49,796 71,409
91 to 180 days 91&180H 13,017 13,163
181 to 360 days 181E360H 20,330 23,925
1 to 2 years 1224 51,593 37,396
2 to 3 years 2FE3F 40,800 25,081
Over 3 years 3FEM E 32,848 13,703
208,384 184,677

b)

(ii)

Bills receivables

The bills receivables were all due within one year
from the end of the reporting period.

As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing
analysis of bills receivables based on bills issue date
is as follows:

b) BKRE

(i) FMERUERBEIHHRTHPRES1IER
| H -

(i) MESHR REFLZLEAHRSEEZ
BERBZREDTOT :

2022 2021
20225 20214F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®ETT AEEEFT

Within 90 days 90HA 38,586 13,431
91 to 180 days 91&180H 22,399 1,987
181 to 360 days 1812360H 1,675 196
62,660 15,614
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

24. ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

b) Bills receivables (Continued)

(iii) Transferred financial assets that are not
derecognised in their entirety

The following were the Group’s financial assets as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 that were transferred to banks
or suppliers by discounting/endorsing on a full recourse
basis. As the Group has not transferred the significant
risks and rewards, it continues to recognise the full
carrying amount and has recognised the cash received
on the transfer as a collateralised borrowing (note 31).
These financial assets are carried at amortised cost in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

24. BERRIEREBKRERE (&

b) BWERE @@

(i) RAEMRHERLDNCBEBRTHEE

UTAKRERNR2022FX%20215F12831B2
THREE ZREEERBR2EERERAR
REBEEFRTAEEEF AR EAEE L &
BEEAARKOHR HEEBEIZ2MER
B rUREZERINREREIABEFER (M
H231) ZETHEENGSVERRIEXTANE
4 55 pl A B BR o

Bills

Bills endorsed to

discounted to suppliers

with full with full
recourse recourse Total

REEEREE BEEEREE

MMIEFIRTT HETHES

e 2BHE it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTR ARBFT

As at 31 December 2022 522022412 H831H
Carrying amount of bills receivables  FEUNZE R~ BREIE
Carrying amount of trade payables FE{J & 5 IB 7 REE

Carrying amount of bank loans IRITEMZREE
As at 31 December 2021 1£2021F12H31H

Carrying amount of bills receivables  FEURZ 45 > BREIE
Carrying amount of trade payables FE{J & 5 R IB 7 EREE
Carrying amount of bank loans RITERZIREE

49,898 5,647 55,545
= (5.647) (5.647)
(49,898) = (49,898)

Further detail on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
arising from accounts and bills receivables are set out in
note 41(b).
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A5 ER R MIEE

25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 25. FA{IRIE-EERHEMEWRIE
OTHER RECEIVABLES
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AR¥TT
Prepayments to suppliers B HER 2B 5,104 2,627
Other prepaid expenses HhfEMHEZ 6,845 12,440
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, WEEMZE B MR ERYZE
plant and equipment 25,278 48,622
Rental deposits HeHEw 952 5,917
Other deposits HithizE 249 222
Other tax receivables Hh g U 18 30,044 21,617
Other receivables (note (i) HAuEUWERIE ((H7220)) 11,327 8,588
79,799 100,033
Impairment (note(ii) B (B EE ) (851) (851)
78,948 99,182
Representing: AV
Current BP AR 53,670 47,495
Non-current SERNHA 25,278 51,687
78,948 99,182
Notes: Mi5E
(i) The other receivable is including loan amount of 0) HERRBIERR — 2B UE = RIERES

RMB1,527,000 due from an independent third party which is
interest bearing at 8% per annum and the maturity date is 25
April 2023.

(ii) The movements in the provision for impairment of other
receivables are as follows:

AR#1,527,0007c 2 B (2 ERNFE8% = AR
202348258 ZIHA) > o

(ii) HEW IR REREESNMT !

2022 2021

202245 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREFT

At 1 January and 31 December M1A1BR12831H 851 851

Included in the above provision for impairment of other receivables is
a provision for individually impaired other receivables of RMB851,000
(2021: RMB851,000) with a total carrying amount of RMB851,000
(2021: RMB851,000). The individually impaired other receivables relate
to debtors that were in financial difficulties and are credit impaired.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over these balances.

ST A LA E A FE Wk TE R 1 13 5 5 1B B B R E E fh A URR
TE# 5 A\ R 1851,0007T (20214 : AR 1£851,0007T) » HBE&
MEE4E%E24 AR #851,0007T (20214 : ARHE851,0007T) ©
BRI EREEMERIBEAmET RS S ASRE
T BETEESRE AEB T ERILSEA RIS TEET
R EMAIGRE S5 o
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

26. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND 26. HRERRITEGAREMRESREER
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
a) Cash and bank balances a) RE RIBITEEER
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AR¥TT
Cash and bank balances REMIRITAE BR 62,469 62,864
Notes: Hat -
@) At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s cash and bank (@) REIRERR  AEAUARBIEZ RS RARTHE

balances and time deposits denominated in RMB amounted
to RMB37,578,000 (2021: RMB50,003,000). Although
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

(ii) Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made for
varying periods ranging from three months to one year
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group
and respective time deposit rates. The bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy banks. The carrying amounts of
the cash and bank balances approximate their fair values.
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A5 ER R MIEE

26. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(Continued)

b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

26. RERRVITEHFREMRERETEL

(4)

b) RBEEFBHRELGRZHER

Lease Bank and
liabilities other loans Total
RITR
HEaR’ HhE™m “Est
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT AR%TT ARBFT
(Note 29) (Note 31)
(BF5E29) (MF5E31)
At 1 January 2021 1220211818 37,878 220,136 258,014
New lease entered SJALFTAEAY 4,601 — 4,601
Changes from financing cash flows FEIRERE 2 &5 (15,385) 159,389 144,004
Lease modification HE=E 676 — 676
Interest expenses (note 9(a)) MEZ W HzE9a) 1,878 20,463 22,341
Exchange adjustments fE R (81) (8,942) (9,023)
At 31 December 2021 and at 122021F12831H K
1 January 2022 1220221518 29,567 391,046 420,613
Reassessments B 1,431 — 1,431
Changes from financing cash flows FBIRERE > &5 (13,632) 301,501 287,869
Exchange adjustments HESE 194 22,973 23,167
Interest expenses (note 9(a)) ERRE (HaE9a)) 1,347 23,073 24,420
Extinguishment of other loan upon & ERESEHMER
modification - (254,019) (254,019)
Recognition of modified other loan FEsRE B EHthER = 212,160 212,160
At 31 December 2022 122022%12831H 18,907 696,734 715,641
) Total cash outflow for leases (9] HERERHEE

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash
flows for leases comprise the following:

MEESHAGERERNERZNEBELENUT
BIE

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’'000 RMB‘000

AR®TT AE®ETTT

Within operating cash flows RESHEEMEN 665 858
Within financing cash flows REEIRESREN 13,632 15,385

All the above amounts relate to the lease rentals paid.

EXFrEERAESNHEEREARM-
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

27. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

27. BYEBESREREBNEE

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBETT ARETT

Trade payables INI=Z RO 59,439 60,552
Bills payables FE R 1,330 8,431
60,769 68,983

a) An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the
end of the reporting period based on the suppliers’

statements date is as follows:

a) MBRERPR HHUEDHE
EZBNEZRIBZRE

BRAMSE
oAFWMT

2022 2021

20225 20214F

RMB'000 RMB’000

AR®FT ARETT

Within 90 days 90HA 49,193 50,485
91 to 180 days 912 180H 7,371 9,342
181 to 360 days 1812360H 2,019 41
1 to 2 years 1FE26 190 9
Over 2 years 28 E 666 675
59,439 60,552

b) The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are

normally settled within 30 to 120 days.

b) ENEBZMERTFR

1200 REAT °

—BR30E

o) An ageing analysis of the bills payables as at the end 0 RESHEX BRERLZLHABHR/AEEZ

of the reporting period based on bills issue date is as BUEHREZEREDHNOT
follows:

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

Within 90 days 90H R 1,330 8,431

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMERAE
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A5 ER R MIEE

Bt EBRIAREMNRE (&

BNRBEIRAEEEQHEBRHEREDSH
BEZBENENESRE  UHBARE
BUNEBESRBE - AEEEHEBEIZSE
NEZRE BREERTAEEBER
RERIMEACNR ARBEAHEERHE
WEBKEG MBRE-TIER - R
BHREREXT ZFEZBENEERE
ZHHNMESFAKERERE

27. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (Continued) 27.

d) The bills payables relates to trade payables which d)
the Group has issued bills to the relevant suppliers
for future settlement of trade payables. The Group
continues to recognise these trade payables as the
relevant banks are obliged to make payments only
on due dates of the bills, under the same conditions
as agreed with the suppliers without further
extension. In the consolidated statement of cash
flows, settlements of these bills are included within
operating cash flows based on the nature of the

arrangements.
28. DEFERRED INCOME, ACCRUALS AND 28. REWA-FEFHERKREMEMTIE
OTHER PAYABLES
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBET T ARETT
Accruals st &R 2,302 2,235
Salary payables FE(I % 36,306 35,733
Other payables for acquisition of property, plant UWKEE¥ % - BEKRREZ
and equipment H fth & RIB 44,756 34,203
Other payables Hh & TRIE 13,473 17,043
Dividends payable FET RS 88 88
Due to a non-controlling party of Et—EIERERB AR
a non-wholly-owned subsidiary JEFERR 75 RRIE - 187
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost D Em At 2 EMas 96,925 89,489
Deferred income (note 30) IRIEWA (72E30) 5,102 2,710
Other tax payable HMEAIRIE 7,866 9,110
109,893 101,309

The amount due to a non-controlling party of a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free, and

repayable on demand.

BN—BFE2ENBARFERSSELE
HF - RERREREEE-
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

29. LEASE LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, lease liabilities were

29. HHEAE

R2022F K%2021F12831H  EEEHE S

repayable as follows: BOT
2022 2021
202245 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTFT ARBT T
Within 1 year 1R 13,023 12,931
After 1 year but within 2 years 1FRBE2ER 5,763 11,234
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FBEFER 121 5,402
5,884 16,636
18,907 29,567
30. DEFERRED INCOME 30. IRIEURA
Government grants BT R
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®B T ARBTT
Carrying amount at 1 January K1B1HZREE 12,716 18,208
Released as income (note 7) BB A (HfaE7) (2,503) (5,492)
Carrying amount at 31 December 128318 ZREE 10,213 12,716
Current portion included in deferred income, BIEEIREWA BT ER &
accruals and other payables (note 28) H fth fE S TIBE 2 BN HRER 3
(Hfzt28) (5,102) (2,710
Non-current portion JEENERER > 5,111 10,006

The government grants have been received from various
government authorities specifically for the purchases of
qualified plant and equipment in respect of the production
of MLCC. Except for the condition that the government

grants must be specifically used for the purchases of
qualified plant and equipment in respect of the production
of MLCC, there are no other conditions attached to these

grants.
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A5 ER R MIEE

31. BANK AND OTHER LOANS

31. RITREMER

2022 2021
20225 20215
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT
Bank advance from discounted bills: BRERZRITEN
— Repayable within one year ——FREE fixed rates  1.3%-3.9% 49,898 N/A N/A =
Bk B B
Bank Loans: BIER
Bank loans that contain a repayment on - AR EXRFFEERZ
demand clause (show under current  SR{TEF (MHFEEET
liabilties) but repayable: F7) BERMU THREE |
— Repayable within one year ——FREE variable rates  4.3%-4.5% 16,000  variable rates 4.0% 18,000
EEGIES HEH=
— Repayable after one year but within ~ ——E&BREREE
two years variable rates 43% 44,000 variable rates 4.7% 1,000
Ao S =
— Repayable after two years but within ~ —REZBLENER
five years variable rates 43% 304,000 variable rates 4.7% 113,400
EEGIES B
Other loans: HEhER
— Repayable within one year ——FREE fixed rates  9.1%-9.7% 6222  fixedrates 9.1%-10.0% 252,424
EEF = Bk
— Repayable after one year but within ~ ——E&BRENER
two years N/A N/A - fixed rates  9.1%-9.7% 6,222
TEH TEH EiilE
— Repayable more than two years but not —HEZEBLERER
exceeding five years fixed rates 5.5% 276,614 N/A N/A -
EEF = NEHR NEHR
696,734 391,046
Analysed for reporting purpose as:  FtiRE B HIAHA :
Non-current liabilities FRBER 276,614 6,222
Current liabilities nHaE 420,120 384,824
696,734 391,046
Analysed as: bavir-
Secured [ 420,120 153,744
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

31.

BANK AND OTHER LOANS (Continued)

A leasehold land of RMB51,804,000 (2021: RMB
53,113,000), investment property, of RMB4,745,000
(2021: Buildings of RMB4,879,000) and bills
receivables of RMB49,898,000 (2021: nil) of the
Group with carrying values of approximately
RMB106,447,000 (2021: RMB56,209,000) in
aggregate was pledged to a bank to secure the
banking facilities and a guarantee was provided by
a wholly owned subsidiary to the bank in respect of
the bank facilities.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has aggregate
banking facilities of approximately RMB550,000,000
(2021: RMB568,000,000). Unused facilities
amounted to approximately RMB186,000,000
(2021: RMB435,600,000) as at 31 December 2022.

Certain other loans are secured by property, plant
and equipment of the Group of RMB15,939,000
(2021: RMB18,367,000) as at 31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has aggregate
other facilities of approximately RMB414,031,000
(2021: RMB408,591,000). Unused facilities
amounted to approximately RMB137,416,000
(2021: RMB198,107,000) as at 31 December 2022.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMERAE
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 &#

31.

IRTTREMER (2

AREFEEBESGHEAA ARE106,447,000
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o
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A5 ER R MIEE

31. BANK AND OTHER LOANS (Continued) 31. RITREMER 2

b)  The carrying amounts of the bank and other loans by HRITAEMEREEDEREAFTEME
approximate their fair values. &

) At 31 December 2022, other loans comprised ) R2022F12B31H EMMEREBER
of outstanding principal and interests of BEAERFME ARKE282,836,0007T
RMB282,836,000 (2021: RMB258,646,000) (2021 : AR ¥258,646,0007T) °
which was due to the independent third parties DABNTAEBRRBIEF=-F2E
to the Group. On 21 April 2021, other loan of MoMR2022F4821H EMERAR
RMB254,019,000 was extended 12 August 2025 #254,019,000 T ERE202548H4
the interest rate changed from 10% to 5.5% per 2B EFMEHI10%ABAERS.5% &%
annum. The modification is substantial and it is BEBEA IHRRAEFTREER
considered as an extinguishment of the original loan 254,019,000 2 R FEM B It
payable with carrying amount of HK$254,019,000 REeEHHRIENERNTEMEE
and a new financial liability of loan payable of 212,160,000 75 °
HK$212,160,000 is recognised at the date of
modification.

32. DEFERRED TAX IN THE 32. BFEMBRRKRPIIELERIE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

a) Deferred tax assets recognised a) EBRSEZIRERESE

Credit loss Impairment
Provision allowance of of items
against accounts of property, Recognition of
slow-moving and other plant and accelerated
inventories receivables equipment expenses Total
FEWRRIE R
HittEWREZ "% BER
WHEEEE CERERE 2 SEEERE BERRHAEX imzt
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETFR ARETFR UNCLS ARBTT AEBTT
At 1 January 2021 20211810 13,364 1,128 9,454 - 23,946
Credited/(charged) to the consolidated ~ FRRGERAEREMEE NS
statement of profit or loss and Fst A/ (0BR) (BFEE10)
other comprehensive income during
the year (note 10) 2,405 225 (862) 756 2,524
Effect of foreign currency exchange SEEREBTE
difference - (5) - - (5
Effect on deferred tax balances at 1 January® = 2t 1 81 BB IERIBL i
resulting from a change in tax rate FTEENRE - - 1,831 - 1,831

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 220215128318 &

20241818 15,769 1,348 10,423 756 28,29

(Charged)/credited to the consolidated — FRRGABHREMEHE

statement of profit or loss and other KRR GO /FtA (fiEE10)

comprehensive income during the year

(note 10) (444) - 513 833 902
Effect of foreign currency exchange SNEERERTE

difference - 15 - - 15
At 31 December 2022 120226128318 15,325 1,363 10,936 1,589 29213
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

32. DEFERRED TAX IN THE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

b) Deferred tax liabilities recognised

32. RFRAEMBRRRPIIEERIE (&

b) BHREZELEREGRE

Withholding Accelerated
taxes depreciation Total
FEINR 3R EE “ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT ARBTT ARBTT
At 1 January 2021 7202141818 21,228 19,341 40,569
Credited to the consolidated FARGEERK
statement of profit or loss and Hh2EWmRTA
other comprehensive income during  (47z£70)
the year (note 10) (2,353) (8,603) (10,956)
At 31 December 2021 and FR2021E12831H K
1 January 2022 2022F181H 18,875 10,738 29,613
Credited to the consolidated FARGEERK
statement of profit or loss and HhemkmzRst A
other comprehensive income during  (475%70)
the year (note 10) (3,408) (2,133) (5,541)
At 31 December 2022 722022512 831H 15,467 8,605 24,072

Pursuant to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable
to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated as from 1 January 2008.
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32. DEFERRED TAX IN THE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

b) Deferred tax liabilities recognised (Continued)

At 31 December 2022, there was no significant
unrecognised deferred tax liability (2021: nil) for taxes that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain
Group’s subsidiaries.

Q) Deferred tax assets not recognised

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately RMB405,912,000 (2021:
RMB199,083,000) available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax was recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022
(2021: nil) since it is not probable that future taxable profits
against which the losses can be utilised will be available
in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. Expiry dates of
unrecognised tax losses are as follows:

A5 ER R MIEE

32. RAEMBRRRPIIELERIE (&

b) BHIBZELZREER (&

R2022F12B31H  AEBETHWE AT R
EABMN MBI EANSRKBERZEILERIE
BfE (20214 : ) o

0 KRERZBREREEE

R2022F 12831 H  ~"EBB ARG BERIEES
B4 AN R #405,912,0007T (20214 : AR &
199,083,0007%) AJ K EH K R im A - 522022
F12B31H HREBARTA iEERER
HAOEHBEARKRERRA BUEBBARIERS
B HWERBCLRBAFKEVBEREEXTESR
(2021F ' ) - ABIANBEEBEBEHVIHEA W
o

2022 2021
202245 202148
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTT ARBTT

Unrecognized tax losses will expire in: RERMBEERF R U TR

B

2024 20245 3,336 3,336
2025 202545 4,163 4,163
2026 20265 6,894 6,894
2027 202745 42,533 -
2029 20294 133,870 46,039
2030 20304 124,234 124,234
2032 20324 77,475 -
392,505 184,666
Unrecognized tax losses without expiry date iR B HA B 2 KRR TE RS 18 13,407 14,417
405,912 199,083

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZREMARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 &%

207



208

Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

33. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

a) Share award scheme by the Company

On 14 July 2017 (the “Adoption Date”), the Board adopted
a share award scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purposes
of (i) providing the beneficiaries with an opportunity
to acquire a proprietary interest in the Company; (ii)
encouraging and retaining the beneficiaries to work with
the Company; and (iii) providing additional incentive
for the beneficiaries to achieve performance goals, with
a view to achieving the objectives of increasing the
value of the Company and aligning the interests of the
beneficiaries directly to the shareholders of the Company
through ownership of shares. A trustee, as an independent
third party, was appointed by the Company for the
administration of the Scheme. The award shares may be
satisfied by (i) existing shares to be acquired by the trustee
from the market; or (ii) new shares to be allotted and issued
to the trustee by the Company under the mandate sought
from the shareholders in its general meeting, in both
case the costs of which will be borne by the Company.
The trustee shall hold such shares in trust until they are
vested to the beneficiaries in accordance to the rules of the
Scheme.

The directors of the Company may, from time to time,
at its discretion select any employee of the Group for
participation in the Scheme and grant such number of
awarded shares to any selected employee of the Group at
nil consideration. The directors of the Company are entitled
to impose any conditions with respect to the vesting of the
awarded shares.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMERAE
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33. REGEURNA/ERZRS

a) AREZRGEREE

201778148 (TRMBH)) » ES TR
RipEERSHE (T5HE))) » (AR = ARM
WENMBEALAEAER (BB R%E
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Notes to the Financial Statements

33. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

a) Share award scheme by the Company
(Continued)

The Scheme came into effect on the Adoption Date, and
shall terminate on the earlier of (i) the tenth anniversary
date of the Adoption Date; and (ii) such date of early
termination as determined by the directors of the
Company.

The aggregate number of shares, whether they are new
shares to be allotted and issued by the Company or
existing shares to be purchased on-market by the trustee,
underlying all grants made pursuant to the Scheme shall
not exceed in total 10% of the Company’s issued share
capital as at the Adoption Date (the “Scheme Limit”). No
account shall be taken into the calculation of the Scheme
Limit of any shares where the right to acquire such shares
has been released or lapsed in accordance with the
Scheme. The Scheme Limit may be refreshed from time to
time subject to obtaining of prior approval from the Board
(the “New Approval”) but in any event the aggregate
number of award shares administered under the Scheme
shall not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of the New Approval.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no share of
the Company has been purchased from the open market
(2021: nil). At 31 December 2022, no share of the
Company was held in trust by the trustee (2021: nil).

A5 ER R MIEE

33. REGHEURMDARRZRS (&

a) FARZKRHEREE (B

SHEIRN R BEN UAFRUTRELIR
WEB&LE ()BERMBBMESRTEE &
(IVERBEFAENRELIEAN-

RESEREZFAARD (BREFATRA
BRVETZARMAZEABRTHBLBEA
ZHRAERD) BESHEFEBBART R EP
HHBETRAZ10% (T518] ER1) o iKE
B8 LIRE > RFST3WEEN EWAEIR
KB 2Z2ERARBDAEFEETAN 5t8 LRT
KREFTEAME (THLE) BARKEN
ERESEEEZRBRMEBHERNMH
FTRBEARBNMMLEBBHEETREZ
10% °

REZE2022F128318BLEEE  ER AR
MBBATAERATRMG (2021F © #]#) o1
2022F12831H R A EUGEEENF
BEEAERABRM (202145  #) o
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

33.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

a) Share award sche
(Continued)

Movements in the number of awarded shares outstanding

me by the Company

33.

a)

REGBURDABRZRS (&

BRFE 2RI ER B (4

during the years are as follows:
Number of awarded shares
RERHHE
Balance at
31 December
Fair value Balance at Lapsed 2021 and Lapsed Balance at
Categories of Date of grant per share 1 January during 1 January during 31 December
awardees (Note 1) (Note 2) 2021 the year 2022 the year 2022
120215
BRATHE 120215 128318 R202E #2022

ERBARR RURE (1) (M#2)  1B1RZ&H RERKY  1B1BZER RERKH  12ANEZER

Directors of the Company (note 4) 14 July 2017 RMB1 5,958,000 - 5,958,000 - 5,958,000

AREEE (fiz4) 017F78148 AEEIT

Notes: Hiaz -

1 The date of award refers to the date on which the selected 1 2R B ERTE R R B R B AR R R U R
employees agreed to undertake to hold the awarded shares MEFARERMD IR 225 REN T EIFRRIAR 2
on the terms on which they are granted and agreed to be HERo
bound by the rules of the Share Award Scheme.

2 The fair value of the awarded shares are based on the fair 2 BRRHD 2 ATFETREBEENEHBRZ AFEE
value at the date of grant. TE ©

3 The awarded shares granted to the beneficiaries during the 3 MREE2017F12B31HEEER T 2w A2 2B
year ended 31 December 2017 would be vested in three R D =#EFE > SHE#31,986,00002 & 17 » & &
tranches of 1,986,000 shares each on the vesting date on HE8 B 220184 ~ 20194 520205383 1H © fig
31 March 2018, 2019 and 2020 respectively. Subject to the KRR SR BN EIE W R 15 E 5 B R A ME ]
expiration of the Share Award Scheme, in the event that the TEEFEZEREB 2 HEN B EEE 5B R T
specific vesting conditions cannot be fulfilled on a particular B BEEARRGIEER RO RENF & EmE > E
vesting date of any given year, the entire vesting schedule 1] 18 AR 1T 152180 18] o< 57 /BB Y 22 B AR 7 i 5 O B8t i 75
shall be adjourned until such conditions are met. Upon expiry RERAD o
of the Share Award Scheme, any outstanding but unvested
award shares shall lapse and become returned shares.

4 5,958,000 awarded shares granted during the year ended 31 4 REZE2017F12B31BEFERTFTASERE

December 2017 were granted to Mr. Zhou Chunhua.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the vesting
conditions cannot be fulfilled and the vesting schedule has

been adjourned.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMIT
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Notes to the Financial Statements

34. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution retirement plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.

Contributions to the plan vest immediately, and there is no
forfeited contribution that may be used by the Group to
reduce the existing level of contribution. The Group also
participates in a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the government of the PRC. The employees
of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of a
state-managed retirement benefit scheme. The subsidiaries
are required to contribute a specified percentage of
payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of RMB12,005,000
(2021: RMB15,569,000) represents contributions paid
to these schemes by the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022. As at 31 December 2022, there were no
material forfeitures available to offset the Group's future
contributions (2021: nil).

A5 ER R MIEE

34. EERAKEF

TE BB RSB

AEBREBEEBCRAFIEABSEEA Y A
SEB(EBEERA)EENEERILAFER
Eestd (MaEesta)) - 2Bt 22—
BEREIISTEASENEEHEDNBRTE R
BBt BT REEDHBERES R
WA Z5%M 58 /EH R HARRA WA
30,0008 54 LR o

B EFENERNERE  BAEEHEY
ARERBERHFKFHNERRMER - NEE
TR —IE M P E BT &I E K EERA
‘A -AEBETTREANBLATINEETS
MEREZERKBHEE -ZSEWBEBLRE AR
WMEREZREB D LEBERAKEFN S FE
HRUSZEFEINREET - SEEMILIBR
WEMEENE-—SEEHMNIEENHR -

STABENAER A AR 12,005,0007T (2021
F: AREH15,569,0007T) A AEEE F2022
F12B3 1 HIEFEEQARBE MMz fReo
R2022F 12831 T EEARKESEE IR
HAEBEZ RKRMER (20214F © #]) ©
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 35. ASABMFHERART
OF THE COMPANY
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
izt AR¥FxT ARKBTT
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment EN S S 4 4
Investments in subsidiaries RB AT ZKE 252,255 252,255
252,259 252,259
Current assets MENEE
Due from subsidiaries NI O] 942,297 884,342
Deposits and prepayments & RTENRIE 22 19
Cash and bank balances B & MIRTT4E R 234 471
942,553 884,832
Current liabilities mENaE
Accruals and other payables FEST & A M H & TIB 3,363 3,538
Due to subsidiaries NI NI O] 539,115 488,416
542,478 491,954
Net current assets MENEERE 400,075 392,878
NET ASSETS BEFE 652,334 645,137
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARKE#E
Share capital A& s 36(a) 6,637 6,637
Reserves = 36(b) 645,697 638,500
TOTAL EQUITY ERE TS 652,334 645,137
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36. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Notes to the Financial Statements

A5 ER R MIEE

36. BAKH#E

a)  Share capital a) K=&
Authorised and issued share capital EEREEITRE
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Authorised: ERE -
1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 1,000,000,0000¢ S REE B
HK$0.01 each 0.018B Tz EERK 10,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITREE -
At the beginning and end of the year R /e EFK744,750,0008%
744,750,000 (2021: 744,750,000) (20214 : 744,750,0008%)
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREE.OIB T LB 7,448 7,448
Equivalent to RMB’000 ARETFTZzEE 6,637 6,637

The owners of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to
one vote per share at general meetings of the Company. All
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.

EERZEEAEREEAREIRNRE I
MERRNMEFRIRIAGLEA—FX
RE-FIESBRHUHAATRZRGEESZS
CIE3: S
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

36. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

b) Capital and Reserves

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the financial
statements.

Details of the changes in the Company's individual
components of equity between the beginning and the end
of the year are set out below:

36. BEXKfHEE E
b) BAEREE

AEERFEERBAFEZ HELERE
BRUBERR G REBHRLT -

FNEFARBEARBEREm D 2 EEH5
BEEINOT

Attributable to owners of the Company

KRGS AL
Share Share
Share premium  Contributed award Accumulated
capital account surplus reserve loss  Total equity
i)
kA BROEEER  BREGR 0 RBREE  2HER ks
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB'000
AEETR ARBTR AREBTRT ARETR ARBTR ARETR
At 1 January 2021 R20211818 6,637 491,518 364,952 4,975 (208,609) 659,473
Loss and total comprehensive FRBERZEEEEE
loss for the year - - - - (14,336) (14,336)
At 31 December 2021 and R20218128318 &
1 January 2022 202&E1818 6,637 491,518 364,952 4,975 (222,945) 645,137
Profit and total comprehensive FREFREERGEE
income for the year - - - - 7,197 7,197
At 31 December 2022 120225128318 6,637 491,518 364,952 4,975 (215,748) 652,334
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Notes to the Financial Statements

36. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

<) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium account of the Company is
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which a dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

(ii)  Contributed surplus
The contributed surplus of the Group represents:

- the difference of RMB203,536,000 being the excess
of the nominal value of the shares and contributed
surplus of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the
group reorganisation over the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor;

- the deficit of RMB2,823,000 arising from the
acquisition of Dongguan Eyang Technology
Development Co., Ltd. (“DG Eyang”) from the non-
controlling shareholders of DG Eyang;

- the deficit of RMB1,774,000 arising from the
disposal of Shenzhen Eycom Technology Co., Ltd. to
the related party;

- the credit of RMB9,468,000 arising from the
deemed contribution from the shareholders when
acquiring Shenzhen Eyang Energy Company Limited
and its subsidiary (the “Energy Group”) during the
year ended 31 December 2012; and

- the deficit of RMB650,000 arising from deemed
distribution to the shareholders when disposing the
Energy Group during the year ended 31 December
2013.

A5 ER R MIEE

36. BEXRf#E E
0 HEEZUHERAR

() REEE

RIERASBEEREE (ER]) XRATZKRMD
HERAUDIKTFTEARDRE  BERERZD
KEREERB KRB ERENBERBER
FHEEET -

(i) EHEE
REBEBHBRIE

— REEEE4HCEWENRBATIZRME
EREHBRHFBERAT TR MEETT
ZRmhEEzEZ%8 AR®203,536,000
7T 5

- HARETFHERKXERAERAA (IR
EFB) FERERRRBREFHME
FRBmAARTE2,823,0007T ;

= KA EEFITEENEEREAT
EEZEHARM1,774,0007T ;

= HE2012F12B31HILEEE > FIRE
RINTFHRERBRERABRENEB A S
(TSERER)) B BIEREIEEL
2R AR %9,468,0007T 5 &

= HZE2013F12B31HLEEE THE
FEERERR SERREDIREEZE
4 AR #650,0007T °

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZREMARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 &%

215



216

Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

36. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

<) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(iif)  Share award reserve

The share award reserve comprises the portion of the fair
value of unvested outstanding award shares granted by
the Company that has been recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments in
note 2(s)(ii).

(iv)  Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 2(w).

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
investment designated at FVOCI under IFRS 9 that are held
at the end of the reporting period (see note 2(i)).

(v)  Statutory reserve

Pursuant to applicable PRC regulations, certain PRC
subsidiaries in the Group are required to appropriate 10%
of their profit after tax (after offsetting prior year losses)
to the statutory reserve until such reserve reaches 50%
of their registered capital. Transfers to the reserve must
be made before distribution of dividends to shareholders.
Upon approval by relevant authorities, the statutory
reserve can be utilised to offset the accumulated loss or
to increase the paid-up capital of the subsidiary, provided
that the balance after such issue is not less than 25% of its
registered capital.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMERAE
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(iv) EXEKEHE

EXRBFEEAEMBEREBSINEBMHR
KFFEEZIINEEZR - ZEBRBFEME2(W)FR
BBt HRREE-

AFERKE (FIER) SERSHRMAFTR
BERYBRESZRFINREE AR A FES
AEMEERzREREZ AFERZ
g FE (RMEE20)) o

() ZEHE

REBEERRBEZER *&EBETHENELQ
BIZARHEI10%MERBEY (KREETFFES
B) DEBELAERE BEERBEEMRELZ
50% - EHERARBRRDIKKRSAEL -
KAEMERHER A ERMA R BN IKE R
EHRIIBNNB AR ZEMER A EZIKHE
B EHRAFDRHEEMEERZ25%



Notes to the Financial Statements

36. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

d) Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximize shareholders’ value.
The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements except for one subsidiary licensed by the
Securities and Futures Commission which is obliged to
meet the regulatory liquid capital requirements under the
Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules (“FRR") at
all times.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. For
the licensed subsidiary, the Group ensures the licensed
subsidiary maintains a liquid capital level adequate to
support the level of activities with sufficient buffer to
accommodate for increase in liquidity requirements arising
from potential increase in the level of business activities.
During the financial year, the licensed subsidiary complied
with the liquid capital requirements under the FRR at all
times. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

A5 ER R MIEE

36. BEXKf#EE &
d E&xEE

AEREAEEZTEZEENRRAREAERE
FECERERFEENERLER UXFER
TERRREBEZEA C - AEEEAZRRN
ERNEBEMZERER  EEZFRAES
BERLZESEE I —BNBATKKARE
TEFAIE (MHEER) HR (TMEERR
Al BETHRBLEELREERTE -

AEBEEESEAEBIRELERLE
HEMFEHBAE BTHESABEELREHE K
EENERAEREREZRESZ T OREFE
BEAFETHRD MIFTEMWBARIMS » K
EERFRFENBADEREUIFERE
MKFEZRAERKF TEERTRONEFHE
SO BEHER T KFEETEEME M
MEBMBER - RAVBREER > FRENBRS
—BHETHHRERFUNWEBETHNREMEE AR
E o B E2022F FK2021F 128318 EFE >
CEEAZEE HEATNBERFLEESE o
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

36. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

d) Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio,
which is net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net
debt is calculated as the sum of bank and other loans,
obligations under finance lease, lease liabilities, trade and
bills payables and accruals and other payables (excluding
deferred income and receipts in advance) less cash and
cash equivalents. Capital represents equity attributable
to owners of the Company (excluding share capital). The
Group'’s policy is to keep the gearing ratio at a reasonable
level. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting
periods are as follows:

36. BEXKfHEE E
d EXEE#E

FEBUEBEEARIERERER EEA[LL
REFEFHEUABEEAMEFEE - FREHHR
ThEMER MEEERE - HEER I
NESMERBNRE Bt ERRAEMEN
B (FEEETERAREBWIEA) ZMER
ERBEEEFEBYSAE - BERELTRATAEEAZ
s (FEERE) AEEBZBRRERE
ERALEXERTEEEZ KT L RRSFHEX
ZEERRLERNT

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBEFT ARETT
Bank and other loans RITREMERR 696,734 391,046
Lease liabilities HE&RE 18,907 29,567
Trade and bills payables e B ZIB RN R 60,769 68,983
Accruals and other payables FEST & A & H & TR IE 96,925 98,599
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (note 26) B IR RIBEEBY H5226) (62,469) (62 864)
Net debt HETS 810,866 525,331
Total equity excluding share capital wrEm (FEERZE) 886,598 932,589
Equity and net debt e k% 1,697,464 1,457,920
Gearing ratios BEEAE 48% 36%
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Notes to the Financial Statements

37. COMMITMENTS

a) Operating lease commitments
(i) The Group as lessor

The Group leases its investment property (note 17) under
operating lease arrangements. Leases are negotiated for
terms ranging from one to eight years, with an option to
renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated. None of
the leases includes contingent rentals.

At 31 December 2022, total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases in place
will be receivable by the Group in future period as follows:

A5 ER R MIEE

37. &g
a) T4 IR

() ZFEEFEDLHTEAA

FEERBESHOZEHEHREY X (M
17)  BENZENEHRHIEESELRF 1
EERENEAMARAEKER ZFHEOT
BENAEE-

R2022F 128318 XEB R R R KIF B IR
BEREEAHEKLEHOE KR 2 KK REME
FHBEEUR

2022 2021

20225 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®B T ARBTF T

Within one year 1R 3,213 2,559
After one year but within five years 1B EFER 2,885 4,323
6,098 6,882

(ii)  The Group as lessee

The Group is the lessee in respect of certain of its factories
and office premises under operating lease arrangements.
Leases for properties are negotiated for terms of two to six
years, with an option to renew the lease when all terms
are renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent
rentals. Pursuant to the lease agreements, the monthly
lease charges for certain leases is subject to review by the
landlord based on market terms every two years.

(i) FEEFEHEEA

AEERERNKERNZBHBETETRE R
WMAMENABAN - MEBRNZFHERS B
TEEREOANEEREMEBAKRRE
BH - ZFHOFEEHARAEE - BEBAOH
FOATHANSEHEERARHEETIRED
GRS EEITIRET
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

37. COMMITMENTS (continued)
b) Capital commitments
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2022

not provided for in the financial statements were as
follows:

37. XK (B)
b) BEAKiE

PR2022F12B3 1B RN BHRERFERBZ
BRKENT

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT

Contracted for: BETAY
Construction fEE= 220,765 86,964
Land use right T fE A - 43,812
Plant and machinery i 55 e 1% 23 45,841 34,595
Fund Investments HEKE 99,989 91,430
366,595 256,801

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in
these financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the year and
balances with related parties at the end of the reporting
period:

Key management personnel remuneration
The key management personnel include directors of the

Company (note 11) and certain highest paid employees
(note 12), and their remuneration is as follows:

38. RAHKS R 5 RAGER

FRZSEUBRERAMEHFEZZZIN X
EERFRNERAB S XS RN BSHRA
REE S ZAEERU0E ©

TEEEBASZEHM

TEEEEAEOEARTES (MZE11) &
ETREHES (MEE12)  Hi#: :

2022 2021

20225 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTF T

Short-term employee benefits HAEE R 9,496 21,367
Post-employment benefits EEBEBEER 260 232
9,756 21,599

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note
9(b)).
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39. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December

2022 are as follows:

39.

M

Notes to the Financial Statements

A5 ER R MIEE

ERABEIMBABZHBEER

FTERBABNR2022F 12831 HZEBER

Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid-up/ attributable to the
Name operation registered capital Company Principal activities
&g MR EEME ERTRAR/ERRE TAEEIERERDL FERE
Direct  Indirect
E# FiEE
% %
Eyang Management Co., Ltd. BVI/HK 10,000 ordinary shares of US$1 100 - Investment holding
each
Eyang Management Co., Limited HBRUME/EE 1000085 RERIZETZ KWERR
EEk
Hong Kong Eyang Holdings (Group) ~ HK/PRC 10,000 ordinary shares - 100 Investment holding
Co., Ltd.
EEFHER EE) ERAH &7,/ HE 10,000% & 3% REZR
Hong Kong Eyang Technology Co., BVIHK 50,000 ordinary shares - 100  Trading of MLCC
Ltd.
Hong Kong Fyang Technology Co,, ~ EBEZEE/&# 50,000 L&ER BEEMLCC
Limited
Hong Kong Eyang Electronics Limited ~ HK/PRC 500,000 ordinary shares - 100 Investment holding and
trading of MLCC
EEFHRETERAT &8/ 1E 500,0008% & &A% RERRKEEMLCC
FmEGHEERERAR PRC/PRC Paid-up capital of - 100 Manufacture and sale of
RMB350,000,000 out MLCC
of registered capital of
RMB500,000,000
thiEl,/HE AR 500,000,007z RIS RIBEMLCC
BEAREHERARE
350,000,0007T
ZHEFRETHRERREH PRC/PRC Paid-up capital of - 100 Manufacture of MLCC
RMB 100,000,000 out
of registered capital of
RMB130,000,000
i,/ HE AR #130,000,000705% BUEMLCC
BAREHERARE
100,000,0007T
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

39. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 39,

ERABMBABZHBEER (&)

COMPANY (Continued)
Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid-up/ attributable to the
Name operation registered capital Company Principal activities
&8 ML EEME BRORME ERRE FAREERETDL FEXH
Direct Indirect
B A
% %
BRETFHNEEEBRARM PRC/PRC Paid-up capital of - 100 Property holding
RMB20,000,000 out
of registered capital of
RMB20,000,000
e,/ HE AR #20,000,0007T £ WERHE
BAREHERARE
20,000,0007T
ZHFHRRERERA 4 PRC/PRC Paid-up capital of - 100 Manufacture of MLCC
RMB221,850,000 out
of registered capital of
RMB230,000,000
g,/ HE AE%230,000,0007z5E BUBEMLCC
BXREHEAARE
221,850,0007T
REMRTHETHRELE PRC/PRC Paid-up capital of - 100 Manufacture of MLCC
BRAGM RMB180,000,000 out
of registered capital of
RMB250,000,000
g,/ HE AR #250,000,0007c BEMLCC
BEAREHERARE
180,000,0007T
ARTFHEERERERATH PRC/PRC Paid-up capital of - 100 Manufacture of MLCC
RMB30,000,000 out
of registered capital of
RMB30,000,000
e,/ HE AR #30,000,0007c BEMLCC
BAREHELAARE
30,000,0007%

Tianli Financial Limited HK/HK 105,200,000 ordinary shares - 100 License corporation and
provision of advisory
services

KEHMERAE &5/ 58 105,200,0008% ZER R B RR AR

Tianli Investment Management Limited  Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 each = 100 Provision for fund
management services

HE/HE REEIETZEER RUEESERRY
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39. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 39.

Notes to the Financial Statements

A5 ER R MIEE

ERABEIMBABZHBEER (&)

COMPANY (Continued)
Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid-up/ attributable to the
Name operation registered capital Company Principal activities
&g MR EEME ERTRAR/ERRE FAREERETDOL FEXH
Direct Indirect
E# A
% %
Tianli Financial Group Limited Cayman/HK 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100 - Investment holding
He /&8 REEI1ZTZ B8R REER
Tianli Capital Limited Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 each = 100 Investment in private funds
HE /HE 1REEI1ET BER MWEEERE
Tianli Global Opportunities Investment ~ Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 100  General Partner of
Partners Limited investment private fund
He/He REEIZTZEBR MWEEETREEREEBA
Tianli China Opportunities Fund | Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 100 General Partner of
Limited investment private fund
GV REEIZTZEBR MWEEETREEBEBA
Tianli China Opportunities Fund Il Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 100  General Partner of
Limited investment private fund
e/ He REEI1ET B8R MEETREEBEBA
Tianli UK Opportunities Fund Limited ~ Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 each = 100  General Partner of
investment private fund
HE /HE 1REEI1ET BER IWEEEREEREHA
Tianli US Opportunities Fund Limited ~ Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 100  General Partner of
investment private fund
Be/He REEIZTZEBR MWEEETREEBEEBA
Tianli Private Debt Investment Partners  Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 100  General Partner of
Limited investment private fund
GV REEIZTZEBR MWEEEREEBEBA
Tianli Private Debt Fund Investment Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 100  General Partner of
Limited investment private fund
He/He REEIZTZEBR MEEETREEBEBA
Tianli Public Markets Investment Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 each = 100  General Partner of
Partners Limited investment private fund
e /He REE1ZTZ B8R MWEEEREEREBA
Tianli Special Situations Investment Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 100  General Partner of
Partners Limited investment private fund
He/He REEIZTZEBR WEEETREEEEBA
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

39. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 39,

ERABMBABZHBEER (&)

COMPANY (Continued)
Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid-up/ attributable to the
Name operation registered capital Company Principal activities
&g ST EEME ERTRARGEMRE FAEEIEREESLE TEXRH
Direct Indirect
E# GiEES
% %
Tianli M & A Investment Limited Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 100  General Partner of
investment private fund
He/ B REEIETZERBR MWEEEREERBABA
Asia Enhanced Income Investment Ltd.  Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 100  General Partner of
investment private fund
He /HEe 1REEI1ET BER IWEEEREEREHA
Wasen-Tianli Investment Cayman/Cayman 2 ordinary shares of US$1 each - 100 Assets managements
Management Limited
V] RERAEIEZTZEER BEERE
Wasen-Tianli SPC Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 100 Assets managements
V] REEI1ET BER BEEHE
Universal Blossom Limited BVI/Macau 10,000 ordinary shares of US$1 = 100 Investment holding
each
EEFRAF HEEZHE/ BN 10000ERABIETZER REER
g
Tianli Financial Holdings Limited HK/HK 2,000,000 ordinary shares - 100 Investment holding
and provision of
management services
R ERERBRAT BB/ BE 2,000,000/ & %8 fi% REER MR EERS
Tianhe Medical Investment Limited BVI/HK 1,000 ordinary shares of US$1 — 50.7  Investment holding
each
EBRUME/EFE 1,000REREGBIETIEE REZR
g
First Promise Limited BVI/HK 100 ordinary shares of US$1 = 50.7  Financial investment
each
EEEEHE/BE 100REREEIZETZEER TRRE
Star Chaser Ventures Limited Cayman/Cayman 10,000 ordinary shares of US$1 - 100 Financial investment
each
He /He 10,000 ERABIZETZ &R TRRE
&
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39. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 39.

Notes to the Financial Statements

A5 ER R MIEE

ERABEIMBABZHBEER (&)

COMPANY (Continued)
Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid-up/ attributable to the
Name operation registered capital Company Principal activities
&g MM EEME BRORME HERRE FAREERETDL FEXH
Direct Indirect
B A
% %
Asia Capital Real Estate V Pte. Ltd. Singapore/Singapore 5,316,169 ordinary shares of - 94.42 Financial investment
(“ACRE") US$1 each and 100 ordinary
shares of SGD$1 each
HR,/FINIR 5,316,169 EREE1ETL ERRE
EERRI00RSREEIH
Mtz Bk
Tianli Investment Trading Limited HK/HK 20,000,000 ordinary shares - 100  General trading
FAREEZBERAT &h/BE 20,000,0008% & & —RE
Celestial Hope Limited BVI/HK 10,000 ordinary shares of US$1 - 100 Investment holding
each
REBRAF EEEZHE/EE 10000ERABIZTZ LR REER
fg
FImREREARARA PRC/PRC Paid-up capital of - 100 Property holding
RMB70,000,000 out
of registered capital of
RMB70,000,000
i,/ HE AR#70,000,0007c:E UESSEE]
BEAREHERARE
70,000,0007T
* These companies were established in the PRC in the form of & ZENBABRPELIZINII EEE R
wholly-foreign-owned enterprises.
# These companies were established in the PRC as PRC & ZERNBBRFELINFERERE AT

domestic-invested companies.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion

This company was established in the PRC in the form of sino-
foreign equity joint venture.

L

of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of

excessive length.

ZAERNPEMINPIEGERERE

ERIHARTDEEBRIETELER X
BUBEZARBDNBAR AT EEEZR
FRIEFTIR > SIS H MY B A S Z5F
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

39. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, there is no subsidiary of
the Group which has material non-controlling interests.

The English name of companies established in the PRC are
for identification purpose only.

40. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
For the year ended 31 December 2022

On 28 June 2022, the Group disposed of its entire equity
interests in Tianhe Medical Investment Limited and its
wholly-owned subsidiary (collectively the “Tianhe Medical
Group”).

The net assets of Tianhe Medical Group at the date of
disposal were as follows:

39. ZRFEMBARZHBEER (&

R2022F K%2021F 128318 » 7 &£ B #] #E 1+
AR B AT EAE AJEERRER -

RABERIIZAB 2R BB EMRBHR

40. HEWBAE
HF2022F 128318 LLEE
R2022F6H28H  AEBEEHEHR XREEBE

REBRADNRHELENBAT B IXE
BREE) NRWRE-

REERH XEBREENEEREUT

Consideration received: BUWAE :
RMB’000
ANBRBTFT
Cash received BWIRE 11,737
Total consideration received BB 11,737
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost &KEZ§IEZEERBEZ DR
Financial assets at FVOC| BAFESFAREMEZERGEN
TREE 23,150
Net assets disposed of HEZFEE 23,150
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBATD Z W=
Consideration received 2 U E 11,737
Net assets disposed of HEZFEE (23,150)
Non-controlling interests JEER D 15,374
Reclassification of cumulative exchange fluctuation reserve HEXSBRERERK
upon disposal of Tianhe Medical Group to profit or loss Rt ERREN B
EMOEEER (1,232)
Gain on disposal HE W m 2,729
The gain on disposal is included in “other gains and losses” HE W ATE MU B8]
(note 8). (R H1528) °
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEELEZFRER
Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents MRERBEEEMREIZRE 11,737
Less: Cash and cash equivalent disposed of A HEZRERIREEEY -
11,737
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40. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 40.
For the year ended 31 December 2021

There is no disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended

31 December 2021.

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include the

Notes to the Financial Statements

A5 ER R MIEE

HEMBAR (&

HZE2021F12831HLEEE

AR

REZE2021F 12831 BEEEHELEWE

MBEEREEZ BRREE

AEEZIZSRHITAGEUTRIE:

followings:
Categories of financial instruments ERT AR
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®EFT AR¥TT
Financial assets EREE
Accounts and bills receivables JPE WL =R T Ry FE L EE 4 261,595 190,975
Refundable rental deposits (note ;) ARERERE (Hf52) 952 5917
Other receivables HithpE U zrIa 10,476 7,737
Cash and bank balances IR & KMIRTTAEER 62,469 62,864
Financial assets at amortised cost BN A ENEMEE 335,492 267,493
Financial assets at FVOCI BAFEEAHMEEWR RN E
MEE - 12,435
Financial assets at FVPL BAFEFABTNEMEE
— Designated at FVPL —IREREAFEt ABm 412,061 409,092
Financial liabilities TREE
Trade and bills payables FE(T B 2R IE M (T B4R 60,769 68,983
Accruals and other payables FEST & A R H g (I =R 18 96,925 89,489
Bank and other loans IRITREMER 696,734 391,046
Lease liabilities HEaRE 18,907 29,567
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEER A2 SRaE 873,335 579,085
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank
and other loans, and cash and bank balances. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise/provide
finance for the Group's operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as accounts and
bills receivables, finance lease receivable, lease liabilities,
trade and bills and other payables, which arose directly
from its operations. The Group also invests in equity and
debt investments.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's exposure to
these risks and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these risks are
described below.

Note:

(i) Rental deposits are typically paid for leased properties, which
are refundable after the expiry of the leases.

a) Fair values

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group'’s
financial instruments measured at the end of the
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into
the three level fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13
Fair Value Measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs, that is, unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMERAE
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 &#

41. HEEBEEZBERBE &

TR T RER @)

AEBZITEERMIAGERTREME
P RERBTEGR ZRSEMIAZTER
M REEBZREER REES -KAEH
BEZHERNCHEEELE ZHEMEMEE
ke fINEHRREREBRRE BWRME
HERE HEER - BUVESMERENR
BURHEMEMRBE AEBTRENRRKRER
BHRE-

$$@$%§IE?/&ZIKHI§A%%U%H
FNNERR - EERRKRARBET AR &
EEEEZZFR ME’Z$$I2\%*EEZ¢J§L
SFFRAz AR EERR KT R & LU
To

Hiat

(i) ERsEEMAEYES S UREERERER
R

a) ATE

() BRAFEHNEZEHEERERE

R FEFE

TRENFEERBSHARABREEHEES
EZEMIBZATE UREBERYBERS
ZRIFBI3/IAFEFEBIFMREZAFER
BOR-BATERB ATFEFEE2EM
BREFMABABBZIBEREEREEZN
BoRmrEEROT :

. FE—EREE: IERAEF—ERB A
& (EHEEJr%EIHNEEiéE_JZ%ﬁT_
EEHE ERERBEZRE) SHEQTF
Ee



Notes to the Financial Statements

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

a) Fair values (Continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs, that is, observable inputs which fail to
meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available.

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.

The Group has a team headed by the finance manager to
perform valuations for the financial instruments, including
financial assets at FVOCI and at FVPL which are categorised
into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The team reports
directly to the executive Directors and the audit committee.
A valuation report with analysis of changes in fair value
measurement is prepared by the team at each interim
and annual reporting date, and is reviewed and approved
by the executive Directors. Discussion of the valuation
process and results with the executive Directors and the
audit committee is held twice a year, to coincide with the
reporting dates.

A5 ER R MIEE

41. HEEBEEZBERBE &

a) QAFEGE

() HELXTFEAEZEZHEERER (H)

R FEFRE (B

. B_EBREE: ERF_ERBARE
(AN EE—ERZITBERH AH
B)) MECRESENAUTRERABE
SAEAFTE - FAIREHAHBEEL
RUETHZBEBEZWABE-

. FZEREE: EREENTIEER
ABIBSERATE-

FEERES —EHPBEETEN/NE BE
MIA (BEREAATERES=ZERNEZ
AFEFAEMEE R REAFESARE
TNEMEE) ETHE Z/NEEEBDRT
EERERZECER Z/NERSFTHK
FEREHHRENBEATEFSEZI DN
WEERS UMEATESER R E LA
UTEFKEZZEGHHEBRERGRE
Tem R mEFRTmR BREEH—
e
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41. HMEEREEZBEREE &
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

a) Fair values (Continued) a) ANEE &

(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i) BAFEFEZLTHEEREE (B

value (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) WNFE(EZNE (4

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2022 categorised into
1120225128318 A FEEDE

Fair value at
31 December
2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
120224
12A31H
NATE BBk BB BB
RMB'000 RMB‘000 RMB'000 RMB‘000

Recurring fair value measurements EEHALEHE

Asset: BE .
Financial assets at FVPL BATESABRNEREE
— Unlisted equity instruments (note b) —3F EiEm TR (#f32b) 412,061 - - 412,061

412,061 - - 412,061
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

a) Fair values (Continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

A5 ER R MIEE

41. HEEBEEZBERBE &

a) QAFEGE

() HELXTFEAEZEZHEERER (H)

R FEFRE (B

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2021 categorised into
R2021E 12831 BN AT EHENSE

Fair value at
31 December
2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
20216
12B31H
MATE F—ER E_RBH%k E=BHR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT AR®BTT ARETR
Recurring fair value measurements &E A FEHE
Assets: BE.
Financial assets at FVOCI BATESAHMEZE
BENEREE
— Unlisted equity instruments (note ) —3JF L@ TR (#iza) 12,435 - - 12,435
Financial assets at FVPL BATESFABGNEHEE
— Unlisted equity instruments (note b)) ~ —3E LR T E (#52b) 409,092 = = 409,092
421,527 - - 421,527

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as
at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

HE2021F K2020F12H31BLEEE» £—
BREAE _BHRoETESE FTERE=ZE
MEBAGNESEY AEBRKREELSEER IR
SRR A TEERESER 2 BENER-
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

a) Fair values (Continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair

value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Notes:

a) The valuation techniques and key inputs used for unlisted
financial assets at FVOCI in level 3 fair value measurement at

41. HEEBEEZBERBE &

a) QAFEGE

() BELXTFEAEZZHEERER (H)

R FEFE (B
Mt -

(@) RBRERR ARE=ZBRATEAEZERATE
StARMEEWERIE EHERMEENGER ER

the end of the reporting period are as follows: RASEE A BURU T ¢
Financial Instrument Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Range
EWMTIA HEGE BEARITERBABE e
Unlisted equity instrument Discounted cash flow Discount for lack of marketability N/A

FEHERTH REERE

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMERAE
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(note 1) (2021: 20%)
TRz mimmaE I iTE (Wat1) R (20214 :
20%)

Discounted for lack of control N/A
(note 2) (2021: 20%)
A= IR (Fa22) NER

(20214 : 20%)

Weighted average cost of capital N/A
(note 3) (2021: 9%)
MIEFHERRA (Hfa23) B
(20215 : 9 %)

Long-term revenue growth rate N/A
(note 4) (2021: 10%)
RHAW@mIE RE (Ha24) B
(20214 : 10%)

Long term pre-tax operating margin N/A
(note 5) (2021: 20%)
REAM AT E RFZ (BYaL5) @A
(20214 : 20%)



Notes to the Financial Statements

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

a) Fair values (Continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The fair value of unlisted equity investment is determined
using the discounted cash flow adjusted for lack of
marketability discount and lack of control discount. The fair
value measurement is negatively correlated to the discount
for lack of marketability, lack of control discount and
weighted average cost of capital. (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
() (Continued)

1) At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of discount for lack of marketability by 3%, with all
other variables held constant, would have decreased/increased
the Group's other comprehensive income by approximately
RMB1,296,000.

2) At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of discount for lack of control by 3%, with all other
variables held constant, would have decreased/increased
the Group's other comprehensive income by approximately
RMB1,296,000.

3) At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of weighted average cost of capital by 3%, with all
other variables held constant, would have decreased/increased
the Group's other comprehensive income by approximately
RMB10,955,000.

4) At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of long-term revenue growth rate by 3%, with all
other variables held constant, would have increased/decreased
the Group's other comprehensive income by approximately
RMB2,671,000.

5) At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of long-term pre-tax operating margin by 3%,
with all other variables held constant, would have increased/
decreased the Group’s other comprehensive income by
approximately RMB1,233,000.

(b) For unlisted equity instruments classified under Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy, the fair values are determined based on
the net asset values of those investment funds determined
with reference to valuation of underlying investment portfolio
and adjustments of related expenses. The higher the net
assets values, the higher the fair value.

A5 ER R MIEE

41. HEEBEEZBERBE &

a) 2AFEE
() HBELXTFEAEZEZHEERER (&

R FEFE (B

FLETRERENAFEDRBERRZS
EREMITERRZEFRITETUREZ
FRETREETE A TEFBHRZTHR
BUEFE R EFTBBRNEFHE LR
X288/ (B

Htat - (48)
() #)

1) R2021E12B31H EFFEEMESRIFTAE >
BRT B mE TR, R 3%
(20214 1 3%) At AEEEMEmEIRE R
b NA AR 11,296,000 7T ©

2) 12021128310 EFAEMEBERFAE 2B
TR BAZ PRI R AR, A 3% (2021
F13%) A ESAEEEMEEKmRL G
M# A #51,296,0007T © ©

3) 12021128310 EFAEMEBERFAE 215
T T E AR AR ERRIE N, R3% (2021
F13%) A ESAEEEMEE KD B
& A KR #10,955,0007T ©

4) 12021128310 EFA EMEBERFAE 2B
AR REFUA S REEERRIE A 3% (2021
F13%) EFESAEREMEEKEIEM, B
M AR #52,671,0007T ©

5) R2021E12B31H  EFFEEME SRS A& 2
BRT RERATAE R KRR R 3%
(20214 : 3%) Lt AEREEMEE NG
/R E9 AR 51,233,000 T o

(b) MO ER AT EREE=EBRE N ZIFLHERET
AME ATENREZEREES CEEFE
SERMRBEMES ZHEREE > WA FH
AR -BEFEUS AATEHS-
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

41. MBERBEEZBEREE (&

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

a) Fair values (Continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i)

value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(0 The movements during the year in the balance of these Level

3 fair value measurements are as follow:

a) QAFEGE

R FEFRE (E

Mzt - (&

Financial assets

BATFEFEZEHEERER (B)

© ZEF=BMATEABZEHNENEIUT

Financial assets

at FVPL at FVOCI
BATE
BATE ST AHAh
FFAE=H 2E=HN
EMEE EMEE
Unlisted Unlisted
equity equity
instruments instrument
JELETH JELE
EETH =t =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT
At 1 January 2021 R2021E181H 369,519 25,893
Share buyback R REEl = (19,492)
Net gain recognised in other comprehensive income REMPEERGEERZ N F 58 - 6,832
Net gain recognised in profit or loss included in revenue* 5t AUR A Z R85 HERR 2~ 2 B 5B 55,151 =
Exchange differences included in “exchange fluctuation SFAEMEEmUREEREE EHEE 2
reserve” in other comprehensive income PE 2 Z%E (15,578) (798)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 120215128318 %2022F1 818 409,092 12,435
Net gain recognised in other comprehensive income REMEERm R W35 - 22,606
Net loss recognised in profit or loss included in revenue* 5t AUA Z IR 1B 5 FERR 2 B518 9 58+ (33,699) =
Share buy back by investee KEHROER®N = (12,707)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHRE AR - (23,150)
Exchange differences included in “exchange fluctuation STAEMEEREER TS HEEIZ
reserve” in other comprehensive income BE 2 28 36,668 816
At 31 December 2022 #20225F12831H 412,061 -
* Includes unrealised gains or losses recognised in profit or loss attributable to balances held at the end of the reporting period
tJ BIERE RIS R E (LM I m R 2 R B IR 18
2022 20224 (33,699) -
2021 20214 55,151 -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

a) Fair values (Continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(© The movements during the year in the balance of these Level
3 fair value measurements are as follow: (Continued)

At 31 December 2022, no unrealised gain/loss included in
other comprehensive income (2021: RMB6,832,000) relating
to unlisted equity securities classified as equity instruments at
FVOCI held at the end of the current reporting period and is
reported as changes in fair value reserve (non-recycling).

(ii) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially different
from their fair values at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

b) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to
the Group. The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable
to accounts receivables and settlement of certain trade
receivables are backed by bills issued by reputable financial
institutions. The Group assessed 12m ECL for bank
balances by reference to information relating to probability
of default and loss given default of the respective credit
rating grades published by external credit rating agencies.
Based on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL on bank
balances is considered to be insignificant and therefore no
loss allowance was recognised. The Group's exposure to
credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents and bills
receivable is limited because the counterparties are banks
and financial institutions with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-agencies, for which the Group
considers to have low credit risk.

A5 ER R MIEE

41. MBERBEEZBEREE (&

a) QATEE
() HELXTFEAEZZHEERER (7

AT ERE &
Wizt o ()

© ZEEZEBRATEFBZEFRERNEBHMT :

122022128310 > WEAEIRINE BB AR
EEWEER (20214 : AR16,832,0007T) B 75
REHRFIFDEAR AT EFAEMEEKZEZ
Bm TREZIELFHRAZSEER T2RAEAFE
EHEEE (Rel#E)

(i) BATEUIIEZEHEERAAZA
¥

AEEMBAARNBHENAINRZEMTAZ
AREMESRER2022F K2021F12H31BZA
FEIEERERE-

b) FEER

EFEERRERSFDABRTHEAGNEEAME
NAERARYBBEEZAR - AEBZEE
REETEREBERNELEETERKEZ KA
WEERANARBEHANERSF - AERK
2EHNBEEFREBTHENEEREEFR
SHMPEBENMERRENBERABNER 7
RITERNI2ERRHAEEBIE -RETH
BEX G RITEHMNI1I2ESFEREERER
B AER ALTERIGEERB &
EFEEREREAFEEFTEYUARBRR
BZEERBEAR AN FHR/EREERH
BHETEEEIBRNRTREMEE  F&E
B HEERREME-
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

b) Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Accounts and bills receivables

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 18% (2021:
16%) and 59% (2021: 52%) of the accounts and bills
receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer and
the five largest customers respectively.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Accounts receivables are due within one to four
months from the date of billing. Debtors with balances
that are more than four months past due are requested
to settle all outstanding balances before any further credit
is granted. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral
from customers. The Group only accepts bills issued or
guaranteed by reputable PRC banks if accounts receivables
are settled by bills and therefore the management of the
Group considers the credit risk arising from the endorsed or
discounted bills is insignificant.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

b) Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Accounts and bills receivables (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for accounts
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is
calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical
credit loss experience indicate significantly different
loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss
allowance based on past due status is further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the
Group uses debtors' aging to assess the impairment
for its customers in relation to its garment operation
because these customers consist of a large number of
small customers with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers” abilities to pay all amounts
due in accordance with the contractual terms. For accounts
receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach
in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL.

A5 ER R MIEE

41. MBERBEEZBERBR (&)

b) FEER @
() BRHEREKERE (&)

FAEBRRESFNE2HMRAEER RSB
ERWNREBEZEGRER ARTELERER
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41. HBEEBEEZBERER &)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

b)  Credit risk (Continued) b) EERK &)

(i)  Accounts and bills receivables (Continued) () ERSHEREREZE (B

TEREHINEBAEBEMLCCH B2 ERRER
2022 2021 E12H3 1 HEEREMNEE AR &

The following table provides information about the Group's
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for accounts receivables of

MLCC segment as at 31 December 2022 and 2021: EHEERECER
Expected Gross
loss carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
TEHARSIR = IREAEZE BiaEE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 20224 % AREBTT ARBTT
Current (not past due) BNER (R ER) 0.0% 41,290 -
1-30 days past due AHA1ZE30H 25.0% 694 171
31-60 days past due AHA31E60H 31.0% 170 53
61-90 days past due #FHA61ZE90H 32.0% 181 58
91-180 days past due HHA91E180H 32.0% 96 31
181-360 days past due AHA181E360H 93.0% 74 69
More than 360 days past due B HAB 83608 100.0% 9,067 9,067
51,572 9,449
Expected Gross

loss carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
TRHARS IR ERMEAEEE EiaEE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
2021 20214 % ARBTT ARBTT
Current (not past due) BPER (GR3EiHR) 0.1% 59,144 68
1-30 days past due AHA1ZE30H 2.0% 1,382 24
31-60 days past due AHA31E260H 11.0% 60 6
61-90 days past due AHA61E90H 0.0% 2 =
91-180 days past due #HA912180H 0.0% - -
181-360 days past due #ER181E360H 90.0% 7 6
More than 360 days past due R IE360H 100.0% 9,212 9,212
69,807 9,316
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Notes to the Financial Statements

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Accounts and bills receivables (Continued)

The following table provides information about the Group's
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for accounts receivables
of investments and financial services segment and other

A5 ER R MIEE

41. MBERBEEZBEREE (&

b) FEER @

() BRHBEREKERS (&)

TREHBBEAAREBRR2022F %2021F128
BTEHMERERERBRES B REM—KE
NZzERFEEENEERREREHREE

general trading segment as at 31 December 2022 and BEZzZER
2021:
Expected Gross

loss carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
TEHARSIE =R AREARER ik g
% RMB'000 RMB'000
2022 20224 % ARBTT ARETE
Current (not past due) BDER (GR7EER) 0% = =
1-30 days past due AHA1ZE30H 0% 10,293 =
31-60 days past due AHA31E260H 0% - -
61-90 days past due AHA61E90H 0% 10,293 =
91-180 days past due AHA91E180H 0% 10,212 =
181-360 days past due #HA181E360H 0% 9,461 =
More than 360 days past due A A E360H 0% 116,553 =
156,812 -
Expected loss Gross carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
FEHAES 1A= IREA2%R ESiER A
% RMB'000 RMB'000
2021 20214 % ARETT ARBTT
Current (not past due) BPER (GRia ) 0% - -
1-30 days past due AHA1ZE30H 0% 11,858 -
31-60 days past due FHA31E60H 0% - -
61-90 days past due AHA61E90H 0% 12,128 £
91-180 days past due #HA912180H 0% 12,024 -
181-360 days past due #HA180E360H 0% 11,892 2
More than 360 days past due A HAEEE360H 0% 66,969 e,
114,871 -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

b) Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Accounts and bills receivables (Continued)

With respect to credit risk arising from accounts receivables
of investments and financial services segment, the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from default of
the counterparties are limited as the counterparties have
sufficient net assets to repay its debts and a good history of
repayment. The Group does not expect to incur significant
losses for uncollected accounts receivables of investments
and financial services segment.

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 2 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the period
over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group's view of economic conditions
over the expected lives of the receivables. An ageing
analysis of the bills receivables that are neither individually
nor collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

An ageing analysis of the bills receivables that are neither

41. MBERBEEZBERBE (&)

b) FEER @
() BRHBEREKERS (&)

MEAREREBRBRBOBZEBRBEESN
EERBME  ARNXSHFARHEERE
BEEH MEABEERTHRY  WAEH
FASRARGHFENMEENEERRS
RMAEBRTARAERRERETRRE D
BZBBWRENFAIWEIZEEEERBR-

RHEEXDENBERNEZEREBELR
B2 LXK BRAE  URBRINER L #E
HBZEBERR - BRIR R BAREENZFRE
WRBEZRAAEHABEERRE EZEHN
ER-TFEHNXHERRRBAEZEBREEZ
BRECDITIT -

WIERNERRBREZERREZRE

individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as DATE
follows:
Expected Gross
loss carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
TEHAKSIE R IRE48%E 511
% RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 20224 % ARETFT ARBTT
Current (not past due) BDEA (R HR) 0% 62,660 -
Expected Gross
loss carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
TEHAESIE R IR T4 %8 581
% RMB’000 RMB’000
2021 20214 % ARETT ARBTT
Current (not past due) BNHR (%1 HA) 0% 15,614 =
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Notes to the Financial Statements

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

b) Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Accounts and bills receivables (Continued)
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of

lifetime ECL recognised for accounts receivables during the
year is as follows:

A5 ER R MIEE

41. MBERBEEZBEREE (&

b) FEER @
() BRHBEREKERS (&)

FANRBREEIZ2PRBGEEBREZE

Lifeline ECL
(not credit-impaired)
S HATREAE B8
®EERE)
2022 2021
20224 20216
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AREF T
At 31 December 128318 9,316 8,268
Changes due to financial instruments recognised REF 181 HER &R/ T EmmHIR
at 1 January: B - (358)
— Impairment losses reversed - IR ERE
New financial assets originated EEMEmEE 1 1,462
Exchange realignment EER R 132 (56)
At 31 December ®12831H 9,449 9,316

(ij)  Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of the
Company make periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based on
historical settlement records, past experience, and also
guantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportive forward-looking information. The directors
of the Company believe that there is no significant increase
in credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition and
the Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL. For
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group
assessed that the ECL for other receivables and deposits is
insignificant and thus no loss allowance is recognised.

(i) HtERFEREE

MEMERREREZEMS AR ESERE
BEECEH BELCRUNGEBREEES
FHrEETEREEER  HEMEWRIE
& A IEIL A CIRE R X el K el /A=
EER ARV ERRBULRZERENEER
ST EBEENENMBEAERREI12ESEHE
BEEEEEHE 8 ZE2022F %2021F128
BSTHEFE AEBEFHEMERRIE K Z
STHEPEEBBIEAE AR ALt EERE
BHEEo
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAF5ERAR MIEE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

b) Credit risk (Continued)

(iiij)  Assessment of ECL based on internal credit
rating

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment, which
is used for ECL assessment for bank balances, accounts
and bills receivables and other receivable and deposits,
comprises the following categories of internal credit
ratings:

41. HMEBEERKREEZBERBRK (&)

b) FEER @

Gii) BRASISEFRZBHIEERRTE

FEENABLEERERRRFE (ARIETE
B~ FE WSURR T8 e 8 U SR 48 DU HL A FE IR 1B
ZENEMEEERTG aF N TENNA
BIEETR

Internal

credit rating Description ECL

AEB(E &5 14K 1R TRHRIEERS1E
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have any 12m ECL

past-due amounts

REbE HFEHEQRRE B REFIAIREEE 128 B G EE1E
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually settles in full 12m ECL
BIRYE BEFAKERIABARER EEERHMER 128 B FREE & &8
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since initial Lifetime ECL — not credit-
recognition through information developed internally or external impaired
resources
EIE = RIBEATAFERSINE R EERMBEVIGHEDLRESIE 2AEREEHEE—EE
il §RE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL — credit-
impaired
18 BRBREREELIREERE SHEIEEBE—E8
BB
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial Amount is written off
difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery
g EFRBRENEFARABRENBRE  BAEETEERWEIR FKIBEME
TARY A AE
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
b) Credit risk (Continued)

(iii)
rating (Continued)

Assessment of ECL based on internal credit

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the
Group's bank balances, accounts and bills receivables and
other receivable and deposits.

A5 ER R MIEE

41. MBERBEEZBEREE (&

b) EEEAR @)

(iii) %Z?Wﬁﬁ/éﬁ?ﬁ,ﬁ&zggﬁﬁgﬁfﬁﬁﬂ

TREIAEFRYIRIT AR - FBURUIA KR B UK
REUKRHEMERRIBEREERIFS -

2022 2021
2022 202145
External Internal Gross Gross
credit credit 12m ECL or lifetime carrying carrying
Notes ratin ratin ECL amount amount
Mz SMEEEFSE ABEEIR 28R K2 BEBIEEFEE IRE4EEE IREAEE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARET:
Financial assets at
amortised cost
BEERAENEREE
Accounts and bills receivables 24 N/A Low risk 12m ECL (not credit impaired 271,044 200,291
and assessed individually)
W IEREREE AER BRI EREHEERE BEER
IR
Other receivables and N/A Low risk 12m ECL (not credit impaired 12,279 14,505
deposits (note (i) and assessed individually)
HttE W IBREE B B R 2EREREERE
(=G (EEERENMERFL)
Bank balances 26 Baa3 to A1 N/A 12m ECL (not credit impaired 62,469 62,864
and assessed individually)
RTE Baa3ZEAl B 128 EREEHE
(B EERERER )
345,792 277,660
Notes: M5E
(i) For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group (i) A EERMEEMS AEBFEABEER L

use past due information to assess whether credit risk has
been increased significantly since initial recognition.

SHAEERRBIRERREDRERM

2022 2021
20224 20215
Not past Not past
due/ no fixed due/ no fixed
repayment repayment
Past due terms Total Past due terms Total
Ko,/ Ko/

B FRER et el EA st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ETR ARETR AR¥TR ARBTR AR®ETz ARETR

Other receivables and deposits AthEBERT K% S - 12,279 12,279 - 14,505 14,505
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Q) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest rate
risk arises primarily from bank deposits, bank and other
loans, bond payable and lease liabilities.

Bank deposits and bank loans at variable rates and time
deposits, bank and other loans, bond payable and lease
liabilities at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively.
The management continuously monitors interest rate
fluctuations and will consider further hedging interest rate
risk should the need arise.

Bank deposits are carried at low interest rates and the
interest income thereon is not significant.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks
has been undertaken globally to replace some interbank
offered rates (“IBORs”) with alternative nearly risk-
free rates. Details of the impacts on the Group's
risk management strategy arising from the interest
rate benchmark reform and the progress towards
implementation of alternative benchmark interest rates
are set out under “interest rate benchmark reform” in this
note.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Q) Interest rate risk (Continued)

The effective interest rates of the interest-bearing financial
instruments of the Group are set out below.

(i) Interest rate risk profile
The following table details the interest rate risk profile of

the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments at the
end of the reporting period:

A5 ER R MIEE

41. MBERBEEZBEREE (&

o  F=XRER @@

FEEARERMIAZERMNIRFEN T

() FIEEEER

TRFLAAEBFEEMIAENBSHRZ
MERREEBER -

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
AR¥FT AR¥TT
Fixed interest rate E EFIZ=E
Financial liabilities TRIEE
Bank and other loan RITREMER (332,734) (258,646)
Lease liabilities HEaE (18,907) (29,567)
(351,641) (288,213)
Variable interest rate FENFIE
Financial assets TREE
Cash at bank RITIRE 62,469 62,864
Financial liabilities TRIEE
Bank and other loan IRITREMER (364,000) (132,400)
Net JREAE (301,531) (69,536)
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Q) Interest rate risk (Continued)
(i)  Sensitivity analysis

Bank and other loans, and lease liabilities of the Group
which are fixed rate instruments, are insensitive to any
change in interest rates. A change in interest rates at the
end of the reporting period would not affect profit or loss.
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates at the end of the reporting
period. For variable-rate financial instruments, the analysis
is prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding
at the end of the reporting period were outstanding for
the whole year. A 100 (2021: 100) basis points increase
or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2021.

At 31 December 2022, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 (2021: 100) basis points in
interest rates for variable-rate financial instruments,
with all other variables held constant, would increase/
decrease the Group's loss after tax and decrease/increased
retained earnings by approximately RMB2,745,000 (2021:
RMB1,011,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group's
exposure to interest rates on its variable rate cash at bank.
Cash at bank are excluded from sensitivity analysis as the
management considers that the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk is insignificant.

Other components of consolidated equity would not
change in response to the general increase/decrease in
interest rates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

d) Currency risk
(i) Exposure to currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases which give rise to receivables, payables
and cash and bank deposits that are denominated in
a foreign currency, that is, a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are
primarily United States Dollars (“US$"”), HK$ and Japanese
Yen. The Group ensures that the net exposure is kept to
an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies
at spot rates when necessary to address short-term
imbalances.

The following table details the Group's exposure at the
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which
they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of the
exposure are shown in RMB, translated using the spot rate
at the end of the reporting period.
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d &GREAR
() EEREERE

AEBTERNEEURARZERBNEBA Y
RBIIETNBE G’ > Bl LGNS 5T E BB IR AR IE
BARERREERBTERNEER Z M A
ZEBRB-SIRZARNERETERET
(T&mx))  BohkBE - AEEBZEERBE
FriZ BN ERE R E A B LN > ISR IB IR
o RBUEBRRRFEABRPEERNAIER ZK

\[7Z o

TERFNEERRBEHMARAAAINERR
o ZSEBERDERBEBERNINES
KLU EBSENERIEENEBME
E-REHRENMS > BBRBUAREIIR
WL S HAR BB BREE R 55 -

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in RMB)
ShEEERR (AR R ED

2022 2021
20214 20214

Japanese Japanese

HK$ Yen Us$ HK$ Yen

E7T AT =] ETT BT H

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

ARET AEETRT AREBTRT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Accounts and bills receivables  FEURFRIE R FEURZ 1 10,489 564 - 16,446 652 =

Deposits and other receivables  #5& K E fth FE U I8 - - - 68 =

Cash and bank balances RERIRITHERR 12,264 1,656 1,775 9,818 2,286 -
Trade and bills payables and SN E RGNS Y5

other payables HARERTRIB (4,974) (280) (3,152)  (15,907) (3,705  (10,941)

Net exposure arising from ERIEERBBRELZ
recognised assets and liabilities  EfRBEE 17,779 1,940 (1,377) 10,357 (699)  (10,941)
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

d) Currency risk (Continued)
(i)  Sensitivity analysis

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change
in the United States dollar, Hong Kong dollar, Australian
dollars and Japanese yen exchange rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax.

41. MBERBEEZBERBE (&)

d &¥ER#@
(i) SERED T

TRITEFMBEMEAZERETENEBR
T REREPAREEBZHFRATEMNEET
BT - BAThkHEZEXSEEEE 28R
o

2022 2021

20225 20214
Decrease/ Increase/
(Increase) (decrease)
Increase/ in loss Increase/ in profit
(decrease) before (decrease) before
in rate income tax in rate income tax
FRERIGIR BRRTSH
EERE, BSE  EXRE/ B
(PR1E) L/ (HEhn) (F21E) 10,/ GRZL)
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETTT
Us$ X7 5 889 5 518
(5 (889) (5) (518)
HK$ BT 5 97 5 (35)
(5) (97) (5) 35
Japanese Yen H 5 (69) 5 (547)
(5) 69 (5) 547

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects on
each of the Group entities’ profit/(loss) before tax measured
in the respective functional currencies, translated into RMB
at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the reporting
period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign
exchange rates had been applied to re-measure those
financial instruments held by the Group which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting
period. In this respect, it is assumed that the pegged
rate between the HK$ and US$ would not be materially
affected by any changes in movement in value of the US$
against other currencies. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2021.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMERAE
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Notes to the Financial Statements

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
e) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including the
short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising
of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to the
parent company’s board approval.

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial liabilities and financial assets
(for example, accounts receivables) and projected cash
flows from operations.

The Group's policy is to maintain sufficient reserve of cash
and cash equivalents and have available funding through
bank loans to meet its working capital requirements.

The maturity profile of the Group’s non-derivative financial
liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on
the contractual undiscounted payments including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period
and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay, is as
follows:

A5 ER R MIEE

41. MBERBEEZBEREE (&

e) HBEERAR

FERBBETZENEEERRABTEERS
BRI R REBRZERRERERE
MUBMEMREER ERESHGLATES
SHER > HEET

FERERARBERADESSHI TAER
TRRER - ILETEETRHEEREEREME
E(EWmE 2 A ARt KEEZRS

==
AEE °

FEBBERRBARRSRESEEY
W REBETENECTRESURTH
EEESRE

RBREMR sEBZFTESREERE
MAMBRERE (BEUGHMN XY (NEFH
MR BRBERARZBTHNXRAEZFER
B) 2HBABRARAERAXNNESR BN
TS 5

2022
20224
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
HESE gk kit
More than More than

1 year but 2 years but Carrying

Less than less than less than amount at

On demand 1 year 2 years 5 years Total 31 December

ZME E2yX:3 128318

REREF DIME B0R25F {BR55E Ht ZREE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETrt AR%®Tx AREBT® ARET®T ARETRT ARET®
Non-derivative financial JEfTE£REE

liabilities

Bank and other loans RITREMER 364,000 69,260 13,048 272,291 718,599 696,734
Trade and bills payables ~ FEfS & B HIER

EPEE - 60,769 - - 60,769 60,769
Accruals and other FEETE B R E A

payables FEfTRIE - 96,925 - - 96,925 96,925

Lease liabilities HE&R - 13,381 6,224 133 19,738 18,907

364,000 240,335 19,272 272,424 896,031 873,335
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41. BMBRBEEZEEREE B
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
e) Liquidity risk (Continued) e) IRENEEAMR @)
2021
20214
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
SIAARITIRAERE
More than More than
1 year 2 years Carrying
On Less than but less than but less than amount at
demand 1 year 2 years 5 years Total 31 December
E2NE:S 24 R12831H
SEKEF DR BR25 B/pA55E “ast ZEREE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARKETT AR®TR ARETT AR®TT AREBT®
Non-derivative financial ~ JEfTAESRIEE
liabilities
Bank and other loans RITREMER 114,000 289,675 11,730 6,730 422,535 391,046
Trade and bills payables ~ FE{f & B HIER
EHEE - 68,983 - - 68,983 68,983
Accruals and other FEET & B R E A
payables RN = 89,489 = = 89,489 89,489
Lease liabilities HE&R - 13,336 12,131 6,161 31,628 29,567
114,000 461,483 23,861 12,891 612,635 579,085
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Notes to the Financial Statements

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

e) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “within 1 year or on demand” time band
in the above maturity analysis. At 31 December 2022, the
aggregate carrying amount of these bank loans amounted
to RMB364,000,000 (2021: RMB114,000,000). Taking into
account the Group's financial position, the management
does not believe that it is probable that the banks will
exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The management believes that such bank
loans will be repaid after the end of the reporting period
in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out
in the loan agreements, details of which are set out in the
table below:

A5 ER R MIEE

41. MBERBEEZBEREE (&

e) MBEZREKE #E

BB ERERBERZBTERE Lt 2
HEAADMPFATITERNRBZER | ZRFEEE
MeR2022F12B31H  ZSFETERZER
HEAAZEA ARTE364,000,0007T (20214
AR%114,000,0007) &5t R AER 2§
BT EEERARTATETHERNBEREE
KREFER -BEERA ZFRITERRBR
SRR REERBEASTEEERBDBHE
EoHPFEBEHINWTE

Maturity Analysis - Bank and other loans with a repayment
on demand clause based on scheduled repayments

HBEAH-EREEERBRNTERER

EEFRRZRITREMER

More than More than Total
Less than 1 year but less 2 years but less  undiscounted Carrying
1 year than 2 years than 5 years  cash outflows amount
SME SH2E ARAGER
DEE B2 BARSE RERHBEHE BREE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR  ARETT  ARKTR  ARMTR
31 December 2022 2022128318 25,355 67,314 323,949 416,618 364,000
31 December 2021 2021412831H 5,393 6,382 120,130 131,905 114,000
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FAF5ERAR MIEE

42. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
IASB has issued a number of amendments, new standards
and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and which have not been early
adopted in these financial statements. These include the
following which may be relevant to the Group.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related

Amendments'

Amendments to  Sale or Contribution of Assets between

IFRS 10 and an Investor and its Associate or Joint
IAS 28 Venture?

Amendments to  Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?
IFRS 16

Amendments to  Classification of Liabilities as Current or
IAS 1 Non-current and related amendments

to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 and
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?

Amendments Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

to IAS 1 and

IFRS Practice

Statement 2

Amendments to  Definition of Accounting Estimates'

IAS 8
Amendments to  Deferred Tax related to Assets and
IAS 12 Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024

None of the amendments have had a material effect
on how the Group's results and financial position for
the current or prior periods have been prepared or
presented. The Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.
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BERERZIETER  FsTER K2
B2 BELE

EEVBREATNEHH BREHENEZES
BEMETESIA HeTER RERE IS
IR -] Z REEBNEZE20225124
BTHLEFERAREN BERRMBRERDIE
FRW - HPEEUTAEAREERRRE -

BIRMHREER 17 RESORBBIETT A

EIRM RS ERE KREFEEBEATN
105 R E s 2R SEREEZBENEEDR
282 EFT & EFEE?

[ PR B 755 4k S 2E R ERMALMFHNEERR

B ZEFT &
ERE st EAIEIRE ARSERABIER
ZIERT R BB BERERRL
TRRAIE ST A K My A 3258
IEREAE
BIFRE st RSB 19  EETBERAIKE'
BIfRM B RS 2R E
BIREH2HZ
(EEIES
EIFRE st 2ERISE8E  EEHESTHER
ZIERT R
EIRE st #ERIE125 BRE-XZELENEE
ZAERT R K B EAERIRVIEIE
IR

! 1202351 A1 B2 B8 2 FEMEER
2 R FEEZ HRRZ BRGBNFEERABEN

3 202451 B1HS 2 BB 2 FEBRBERS

LEEITMENAEELAPHRNBEHRBE
MENEZINEERMBRABRERE
B-AERUTERASHHBERBEAERE
M BYHTER SR RE o
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